# المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS) http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo

**Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences** (JJBS) (ISSN: 1995–6673 (Print); 2307-7166 (Online)): An International Peer- Reviewed Open Access Research Journal financed by the Scientific Research Support Fund, Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Jordan and published quarterly by the Deanship of Research and Graduate Studies, The Hashemite University, Jordan.

### **Editor-in-Chief**

**Professor Elkarmi, Ali Z.** Bioengineering, The Hashemite University

### Assistant Editor

**Dr. Tahtamouni Lubna H.** Developmental Biology, The Hashemite University

### **Editorial Board (Arranged alphabetically)**

Professor Abdalla, Shtaywy S Human Physiology, Tafila Technical University
Professor Al-Hadidi, Hakam F. Toxicology and Clinical Pharmacology Jordan University of Science and Technology
Professor Bashir, Nabil A. Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics Jordan University of Science and Technology
Professor Khaymi-Horani, Hala. Microbial Biotechnology, Professor Lahham, Jamil N. Plant Taxonomy, Yarmouk University Professor Sallal, Abdul-Karim J. Applied Microbiology Jordan University of Science and Technology Professor Tarawneh, Khaled A. Molecular Microbiology, Mutah University

### **Associate Editorial Board**

Professor Al-Hindi, Adnan I. The Islamic University of Gaza, Palestine Professor Al-Homida, Abdullah S. King Saud University, Saudi Arabia Professor Kachani, Malika Western University of Health Sciences, USA

The University of Jordan

**Dr. Fass, Uwe W.** Oman Medical College,Sulatante of Oman **Dr. Gammoh, Noor** The University of Edinburgh, UK

### **International Advisory Board**

Prof. Abdul-Haque, Allah Hafiz
National Institute for Biotechnology and
Genetic Engineering, Pakistan
Prof. El Makawy, Aida, I
National Research Center, Giza, Egypt

### Prof. Ghannoum, Mahmoud A

University Hospital of Cleveland and Case Western Reserve University, U.S.A.

### Prof. Hassanali, Ahmed

Kenyatta University, Nairobi, Kenya Prof. Matar, Ghassan M

American University of Beirut, Lebanon

Prof. Nasher, Abdul Karim

Sanna' University, Yemen

**Prof. Waitzbauer, Wolfgang** University of Vienna, Austria

### Submission Address

Professor Elkarmi, Ali Z. The Hashemite University P.O. Box 330127, Zarqa, 13115, Jordan Phone: +962-5-3903333 ext. 5157 E-Mail: jjbs@hu.edu.jo **Prof. Bamburg, James** Colorado State University, U.S.A,

**Prof. Garrick, Michael D** State University of New York at Buffalo, U.S.A.

**Prof. Gurib-Fakim, Ameenah F** Center for Phytotherapy and Research Ebene, Mauritius.

Locile, Maultilus

Prof. Kaviraj, Anilava

University of Kalyani,India **Prof. Martens, Jochen** 

Institute Fur Zoologie, Germany Prof. Stanway, Glyn

University of Essex, England

Prof. Wan Yusoff, Wan Mohtar

University Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia

### **Editorial Board Support Team**

Language Editor Dr. Qusai Al-Debyan Publishing Layout Mohannad Oqdeh



Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan



# Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

An International Peer-Reviewed Scientific Journal Financed by the Scientific Research Support Fund

### **Instructions to Authors**

### Scope

Study areas include cell biology, genomics, microbiology, immunology, molecular biology, biochemistry, embryology, immunogenetics, cell and tissue culture, molecular ecology, genetic engineering and biological engineering, bioremediation and biodegradation, bioinformatics, biotechnology regulations, gene therapy, organismal biology, microbial and environmental biotechnology, marine sciences. The JJBS welcomes the submission of manuscript that meets the general criteria of significance and academic excellence. All articles published in JJBS are peer-reviewed. Papers will be published approximately one to two months after acceptance.

### **Type of Papers**

The journal publishes high-quality original scientific papers, short communications, correspondence and case studies. Review articles are usually by invitation only. However, Review articles of current interest and high standard will be considered.

### **Submission of Manuscript**

Manuscript, or the essence of their content, must be previously unpublished and should not be under simultaneous consideration by another journal. The authors should also declare if any similar work has been submitted to or published by another journal. They should also declare that it has not been submitted/ published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, without the written consent of the Publisher. The authors should also declare that the paper is the original work of the author(s) and not copied (in whole or in part) from any other work. All papers will be automatically checked for duplicate publication and plagiarism. If detected, appropriate action will be taken in accordance with International Ethical Guideline. By virtue of the submitted manuscript, the corresponding author acknowledges that all the co-authors have seen and approved the final version of the manuscript. The corresponding author should provide all co-authors with information regarding the manuscript, and obtain their approval before submitting any revisions. Electronic submission of manuscripts is strongly recommended, provided that the text, tables and figures are included in a single Microsoft Word file. Submit manuscript as e-mail attachment to the Editorial Office at: JJBS@hu.edu.jo. After submission, a manuscript number will be communicated to the corresponding author within 48 hours.

### **Peer-review Process**

It is requested to submit, with the manuscript, the names, addresses and e-mail addresses of at least 4 potential reviewers. It is the sole right of the editor to decide whether or not the suggested reviewers to be used. The reviewers' comments will be sent to authors within 6-8 weeks after submission. Manuscripts and figures for review will not be returned to authors whether the editorial decision is to accept, revise, or reject. All Case Reports and Short Communication must include at least one table and/ or one figure.

### **Preparation of Manuscript**

The manuscript should be written in English with simple lay out. The text should be prepared in single column format. Bold face, italics, subscripts, superscripts etc. can be used. Pages should be numbered consecutively, beginning with the title page and continuing through the last page of typewritten material.

The text can be divided into numbered sections with brief headings. Starting from introduction with section 1. Subsections should be numbered (for example 2.1 (then 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.2, etc.), up to three levels. Manuscripts in general should be organized in the following manner:

### **Title Page**

The title page should contain a brief title, correct first name, middle initial and family name of each author and name and address of the department(s) and institution(s) from where the research was carried out for each author. The title should be without any abbreviations and it should enlighten the contents of the paper. All affiliations should be provided with a lower-case superscript number just after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address.

The name of the corresponding author should be indicated along with telephone and fax numbers (with country and area code) along with full postal address and e-mail address.

### Abstract

The abstract should be concise and informative. It should not exceed **350 words** in length for full manuscript and Review article and **150 words** in case of Case Report and/ or Short Communication. It should briefly describe the purpose of the work, techniques and methods used, major findings with important data and conclusions. No references should be cited in this part. Generally non-standard abbreviations should not be used, if necessary they should be clearly defined in the abstract, at first use.

### Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, **about 4-8 keywords** should be given. Use of abbreviations should be avoided, only standard abbreviations, well known in the established area may be used, if appropriate. These keywords will be used for indexing.

### Abbreviations

Non-standard abbreviations should be listed and full form of each abbreviation should be given in parentheses at first use in the text.

### Introduction

Provide a factual background, clearly defined problem, proposed solution, a brief literature survey and the scope and justification of the work done.

### **Materials and Methods**

Give adequate information to allow the experiment to be reproduced. Already published methods should be mentioned with references. Significant modifications of published methods and new methods should be described in detail. Capitalize trade names and include the manufacturer's name and address. Subheading should be used.

### Results

Results should be clearly described in a concise manner. Results for different parameters should be described under subheadings or in separate paragraph. Results should be explained, but largely without referring to the literature. Table or figure numbers should be mentioned in parentheses for better understanding.

### Discussion

The discussion should not repeat the results, but provide detailed interpretation of data. This should interpret the significance of the findings of the work. Citations should be given in support of the findings. The results and discussion part can also be described as separate, if appropriate. The Results and Discussion sections can include subheadings, and when appropriate, both sections can be combined

### Conclusions

This should briefly state the major findings of the study.

### Acknowledgment

A brief acknowledgment section may be given after the conclusion section just before the references. The acknowledgment of people who provided assistance in manuscript preparation, funding for research, etc. should be listed in this section.

### **Tables and Figures**

Tables and figures should be presented as per their appearance in the text. It is suggested that the discussion about the tables and figures should appear in the text before the appearance of the respective tables and figures. No tables or figures should be given without discussion or reference inside the text.

Tables should be explanatory enough to be understandable without any text reference. Double spacing should be maintained throughout the table, including table headings and footnotes. Table headings should be placed above the table. Footnotes should be placed below the table with superscript lowercase letters. Each table should be on a separate page, numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals. Each figure should have a caption. The caption should be concise and typed separately, not on the figure area. Figures should be self-explanatory. Information presented in the figure should not be repeated in the table. All symbols and abbreviations used in the illustrations should be defined clearly. Figure legends should be given below the figures.

### References

References should be listed alphabetically at the end of the manuscript. Every reference referred in the text must be also present in the reference list and vice versa. In the text, a reference identified by means of an author's name should be followed by the year of publication in parentheses (e.g. (Brown, 2009)). For two authors, both authors' names followed by the year of publication (e.g.( Nelson and Brown, 2007)). When there are more than two authors, only the first author's name followed by "et al." and the year of publication (e.g. (Abu-Elteen et al., 2010)). When two or more works of an author has been published during the same year, the reference should be identified by the letters "a", "b", "c", etc., placed after the year of publication. This should be followed both in the text and reference list. e.g., Hilly, (2002a, 2002b); Hilly, and Nelson, (2004). Articles in preparation or submitted for publication, unpublished observations, personal communications, etc. should not be included in the reference list but should only be mentioned in the article text ( e.g., Shtyawy, A., University of Jordan, personal communication). Journal titles should be abbreviated according to the system adopted in Biological Abstract and Index Medicus, if not included in Biological Abstract or Index Medicus journal title should be given in full. The author is responsible for the sccuracy and completeness of the references and for their correct textual citation. Failure to do so may result in the paper being withdraw from the evaluation process. Example of correct reference form is given as follows:-

### Reference to a journal publication:

Ogunseitan OA. 1998. Protein method for investigating mercuric reductase gene expression in aquatic environments. *Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **64 (2)**: 695-702.

Govindaraj S and Ranjithakumari B D. 2013. Composition and larvicidal activity of *Artemisia vulgaris* L. stem essential oil against *Aedes aegypti. Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **6(1):** 11-16.

Hilly MO, Adams MN and Nelson SC. 2009. Potential fly-ash utilization in agriculture. *Progress in Natural Sci.*, **19**: 1173-1186.

### Reference to a book:

Brown WY and White SR.1985. The Elements of Style, third ed. MacMillan, New York.

### Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

Mettam GR and Adams LB. 2010. How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In: Jones BS and Smith RZ (Eds.), **Introduction to the Electronic Age**. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, pp. 281–304.

### **Conferences and Meetings:**

Embabi NS. 1990. Environmental aspects of distribution of mangrove in the United Arab Emirates. Proceedings of the First ASWAS Conference. University of the United Arab Emirates. Al-Ain, United Arab Emirates.

### Theses and Dissertations:

El-Labadi SN. 2002. Intestinal digenetic trematodes of some marine fishes from the Gulf of Aqaba. MSc dissertation, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan.

### Nomenclature and Units

Internationally accepted rules and the international system of units (SI) should be used. If other units are mentioned, please give their equivalent in SI.

For biological nomenclature, the conventions of the *International Code of Botanical Nomenclature, the International Code of Nomenclature of Bacteria,* and the *International Code of Zoological Nomenclature* should be followed.

Scientific names of all biological creatures (crops, plants, insects, birds, mammals, etc.) should be mentioned in parentheses at first use of their English term.

Chemical nomenclature, as laid down in the *International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry* and the official recommendations of the *IUPAC-IUB Combined Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature* should be followed. All biocides and other organic compounds must be identified by their Geneva names when first used in the text. Active ingredients of all formulations should be likewise identified.

### Math formulae

All equations referred to in the text should be numbered serially at the right-hand side in parentheses. Meaning of all symbols should be given immediately after the equation at first use. Instead of root signs fractional powers should be used. Subscripts and superscripts should be presented clearly. Variables should be presented in italics. Greek letters and non-Roman symbols should be described in the margin at their first use.

To avoid any misunderstanding zero (0) and the letter O, and one (1) and the letter l should be clearly differentiated. For simple fractions use of the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line is recommended. Levels of statistical significance such as:  ${}^*P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{**}P < 0.01$  and  ${}^{***}P < 0.001$  do not require any further explanation.

### Copyright

Submission of a manuscript clearly indicates that: the study has not been published before or is not under consideration for publication elsewhere (except as an abstract or as part of a published lecture or academic thesis); its publication is permitted by all authors and after accepted for publication it will not be submitted for publication anywhere else, in English or in any other language, without the written approval of the copyright-holder. The journal may consider manuscripts that are translations of articles originally published in another language. In this case, the consent of the journal in which the article was originally published must be obtained and the fact that the article has already been published must be made clear on submission and stated in the abstract. It is compulsory for the authors to ensure that no material submitted as part of a manuscript infringes existing copyrights, or the rights of a third party.

### **Ethical Consent**

All manuscripts reporting the results of experimental investigation involving human subjects should include a statement confirming that each subject or subject's guardian obtains an informed consent, after the approval of the experimental protocol by a local human ethics committee or IRB. When reporting experiments on animals, authors should indicate whether the institutional and national guide for the care and use of laboratory animals was followed.

### Plagiarism

The JJBS hold no responsibility for plagiarism. If a published paper is found later to be extensively plagiarized and is found to be a duplicate or redundant publication, a note of retraction will be published, and copies of the correspondence will be sent to the authors' head of institute.

### **Galley Proofs**

The Editorial Office will send proofs of the manuscript to the corresponding author as an e-mail attachment for final proof reading and it will be the responsibility of the corresponding author to return the galley proof materials appropriately corrected within the stipulated time. Authors will be asked to check any typographical or minor clerical errors in the manuscript at this stage. No other major alteration in the manuscript is allowed. After publication authors can freely access the full text of the article as well as can download and print the PDF file.

### **Publication Charges**

There are no page charges for publication in Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences, except for color illustrations.

### Reprints

Twenty (20) reprints are provided to corresponding author free of charge within two weeks after the printed journal date. For orders of more reprints, a reprint order form and prices will be sent with article proofs, which should be returned directly to the Editor for processing.

### Disclaimer

Articles, communication, or editorials published by JJBS represent the sole opinions of the authors. The publisher shoulders no responsibility or liability what so ever for the use or misuse of the information published by JJBS.

### Indexing

JJBS is indexed and abstracted by:

DOAJ ( Directory of Open Access Journals Geogle Scholar Journal Seek HINARI Index Copernicus NDL Japanese Periodicals Index SCIRUS OAJSE ISC (Islamic World Science Citation Center) Directory of Research Journal Indexing (DRJI)

### CABI

EBSCO CAS ( Chemical Abstract Service) ETH- Citations Open J-Gat SCImago Zoological Records Scopus AGORA (United Nation's FAO database) SHERPA/RoMEO (UK) International Institute of Organized Research (I2OR) Database المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS)

http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo

### The Hashemite University Deanship of Scientific Research and Graduate Studies TRANSFER OF COPYRIGHT AGREEMENT

Journal publishers and authors share a common interest in the protection of copyright: authors principally because they want their creative works to be protected from plagiarism and other unlawful uses, publishers because they need to protect their work and investment in the production, marketing and distribution of the published version of the article. In order to do so effectively, publishers request a formal written transfer of copyright from the author(s) for each article published. Publishers and authors are also concerned that the integrity of the official record of publication of an article (once refereed and published) be maintained, and in order to protect that reference value and validation process, we ask that authors recognize that distribution (including through the Internet/WWW or other on-line means) of the authoritative version of the article as published is best administered by the Publisher.

To avoid any delay in the publication of your article, please read the terms of this agreement, sign in the space provided and return the complete form to us at the address below as quickly as possible.

Article entitled:-----

Corresponding author: -----

To be published in the journal: Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS)

I hereby assign to the Hashemite University the copyright in the manuscript identified above and any supplemental tables, illustrations or other information submitted therewith (the "article") in all forms and media (whether now known or hereafter developed), throughout the world, in all languages, for the full term of copyright and all extensions and renewals thereof, effective when and if the article is accepted for publication. This transfer includes the right to adapt the presentation of the article for use in conjunction with computer systems and programs, including reproduction or publication in machine-readable form and incorporation in electronic retrieval systems.

Authors retain or are hereby granted (without the need to obtain further permission) rights to use the article for traditional scholarship communications, for teaching, and for distribution within their institution.

☐ I am the sole author of the manuscript

I am signing on behalf of all co-authors of the manuscript

The article is a 'work made for hire' and I am signing as an authorized representative of the employing company/institution

Please mark one or more of the above boxes (as appropriate) and then sign and date the document in black ink.

Signed:	Name printed:
Title and Company (if employer representative) :	-
Date:	

Data Protection: By submitting this form you are consenting that the personal information provided herein may be used by the Hashemite University and its affiliated institutions worldwide to contact you concerning the publishing of your article.

Please return the completed and signed original of this form by mail or fax, or a scanned copy of the signed original by email, retaining a copy for your files, to:

Hashemite University Zarqa 13115 Jordan Fax: +962 5 3903338 Email: jjbs@hu.edu.jo

### EDITORIAL PREFACE

It is my pleasure to present the eighth volume of the *Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences* (JJBS) to the audience. JJBS is a refereed, peer reviewed quarterly international journal issued by the Jordanian Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research Support Fund in cooperation with The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan. This journal publishes papers in Biological Sciences encompassing all the branches at molecular, cellular and organismal levels.

A group of distinguished scholars have agreed to serve on the Editorial Board. Without the service and dedication of these eminent scholars, JJBS would have never existed. Now, the Editorial Board is encouraged by the continuous growth of the journal and its formation into a true multidisciplinary publication. I am also honored to have the privilege of working with all members of the international advisory board served by a team of highly reputable researchers from different countries across the globe. I am also delighted with our team of national and international reviewers who are actively involved in research in different biological sciences and who provide authors with high quality reviews and helpful comments to improve their manuscripts.

JJBS has been indexed by SCOPUS, CABI's Full-Text Repository, EBSCO, Zoological Records and National Library of Medicine's MEDLINE\ Pub Med system and others. I would like to reaffirm that the success of the journal depends on the quality of reviewing and, equally, the quality of the research papers published.

In addition to being a hard-copy journal, JJBS is an open access journal which means that all contents are freely available the users and their institutions free of charge. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking for prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of open access.

At the end of this preface, I would like to thank our readers and authors for their continuing interest in JJBS, and each member of our editorial and review boards for their continued hard work, support and dedication, which made it possible to bring another new issue of JJBS to the multidisciplinary international audience. My thanks are also extended to the Hashemite University and Jordanian Scientific Research Support Fund for their continuous support to Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. I very much appreciate your support as we strive to make JJBS one of the most leading and authoritative journals in the field of Biological Sciences.

December, 2015

Prof. Ali Z. Elkarmi Editor-in-Chief The Hashemite University, Zarga, Jordan

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

## CONTENTS

### **Original Articles**

247 - 256	Cryopreservation and Genetic Stability Assessment of Threatened Medicinal Plant (Ziziphora tenuior L.) Grown Wild in Jordan Hasan Al- Baba, Rida A. Shibli, Muhanad Akash, Tamara S. Al-Qudah, Reham W. Tahtamouni and
257 - 262	Hamdan Al- Ruwaiei Production and Characterization of a Recombinant Camel Full Heavy Chain Antibody against Human IgE Sana' H. Yousef, Abdelrahman M. Rawashdeh, Raida W. Khalil2, Sami K. Abdel-Hafez1,3and Khaled M. Al-Qaoud
263 - 268	EntomoToxicity of Xylopia aethiopica and Aframomum melegueta in Suppressing Oviposition and Adult Emergence of Callasobruchus maculatus (Fabricus) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Infesting Stored Cowpea Seeds Jacobs M. Adesina, Adeolu R. Jose, Yallapa Rajashaker and Lawrence A. Afolabi
269 - 272	A New Record of Two Species of Hydra in Iraq: An Ecological and A Histological Study Luay A. Ali, Yahya A. Shekha, Sherwan T. Ahmad and Falah M. Aziz
273 - 279	A Comparative Study of <i>in vitro</i> Antioxidant Activity and Phytochemical Constituents of Methanol Extract of Aframomum melegueta and Costus afer Leaves Tinu Okugbo and Kelly Oriakhi
281 - 286	Effect of Faba Bean (Vicia faba L.) Varieties on Yield Attributes at Sinana and Agarfa Districts of Bale Zone, Southeastern Ethiopia
	Ashenafi Mitiku and Mekuria Wolde
289 - 299	The Phytochemical and Antimicrobial Properties of the Extracts Obtained from Trametes elegans Collected from Osengere in Ibadan, Nigeria
	Samuel I. Awala and Victor O. Oyetayo
301 - 306	The Potential Allelopathic Effects of Varthemia iphionoides and the Identification of Phenolic Allelochemicals
	Saeid M. Abu-Romman , Moawiya A. Haddad and Khaldoun J. Al-Hadid
307 - 313	Identifying Selection Signatures Related to Domestication Process in Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) Landraces of Jordan Using Microsatellite Markers
507 - 515	Nidal A. Odat, Maen K. Hasan, Maher S. Obeidat, Mohamad A. Shatnawi1, Saeid M. Abu-Romman, Issam M. Qrunfleh, and Muhannad I. Massadeh
315 - 318	Phlomis brachydon Essential Oil Against Bacterial Biofilm
	Sameeh Al- Sarayreh , Arwa Rawashdeh, Ibrahim Al-Tarawneh, and Mahmoud Al-Qudah
319 - 323	A Statistical Design Approach for Xylanase Production by Aspergillus niger Using Soybean Hulls: Optimization and Determining the Synergistic Effects of Medium Components on the Enzyme Production
	Aliyu Salihu, Shuaibu M. Bala and Abbas Olagunju

### **Short Communication**

325 - 326A Note on the Karyotype of the Amphibian Pelophylax bedriagae from Jordan<br/>Enas S. Al Satari, Nisreen A. Al Quraan, Rami Q. Alkhatib and Zuhair S. Amr

# Cryopreservation and Genetic Stability Assessment of Threatened Medicinal Plant (*Ziziphora tenuior* L.) Grown Wild in Jordan

Hasan Al- Baba<sup>1</sup>, Rida A. Shibli<sup>2,\*</sup>, Muhanad Akash<sup>2</sup>, Tamara S. Al-Qudah<sup>3</sup>, Reham W. Tahtamouni<sup>4</sup> and Hamdan Al- Ruwaiei<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Horticulture, Faculty of Agriculture, Omar Al- Mokhtar University, Al- Baida, Libya.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Horticulture and Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan.

<sup>3</sup> Hamdi Mango Center for Scientific Research (HMCSR), University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan.

<sup>4</sup> Princess Alia University College, Al- Balqa Applied University, Amman, Jordan.

<sup>5</sup> Public Authority for Agriculture Affairs and Fish Resources, Kuwait.

Received: April 6, 2015 Revised: July 12, 2015 Accepted: July 17, 2015

### Abstract

*Ziziphora tenuior* L. is one of the important medicinal plants that belong to the *Lamiaceae* family. It is a rare species with a promising medicinal potential and grows wild in the southern part of Jordan. Unfortunately, this plant might be totally extinct from the wild due to over-exploitation. Two cryopreservation techniques (encapsulation-dehydration and encapsulation- vitrification) were applied for *in vitro* conservation of this valuable medicinal plant, and after that the explants were tested for their genetic stability using Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP) technique. In the encapsulation-dehydration experiment, the results revealed that 40% of the cryopreserved shoot tips survived when they were dehydrated chemically on 0.75 M sucrose in MS supplemented media for one day and exposed to air dehydration for 6 hrs. Moreover, the best recovery rate (20%) was obtained when either 0.5 M or 0.75 M sucrose MS supplemented media were used as preculture media for the shoot tips for one day, followed by air dehydration for 4 or 6 hrs. Meanwhile, in the encapsulation -vitrification experiment, the highest survival (37.5%) and recovery (10%) percentages of the cryopreserved shoot tips were obtained when the encapsulated shoot tips were pretreated for 60 min. with the loading solution before being exposed to PVS2 vitrification solution and LN. AFLP technique had clearly showed that, there were no genetic variations between the shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* L., before and after cryopreservation.

Keywords: Cryopreservation, Encapsulation-dehydration, Encapsulation- vitrification, Ziziphora tenuior L.

### 1. Introduction

Ziziphora tenuior L. is one of the important species that belong to the family Lamiaceae. It is widely spread in many countries around the world, such as China, Iran, Afghanistan and Iraq (Zargari, 1995). Ziziphora tenuior L. is also distributed in Jordan in Steppes, Al-Nagab desert, lower Jordan valley, Araba valley, Amman, Madaba and Edom (Zohary and Feinbrun, 1978). Also, according to Al-Rawashdeh, (2011), Ziziphora tenuior L. is spread particularly in the southern part of Jordan mainly at Alshoubak region (Al-Rawashdeh, 2011). This plant is distinguished for its valuable medicinal potential as it has been used in folk medicine in many treatments (Ozturk et al., 1995). For example, it was used for the treatment of dysentery, fever, diarrhea, coughing, bladder stone, painful menstruation, stomach tonic and abortifacient

(Naghibi et al., 2005). Furthermore, it is used in making herbal tea due to its odors (Al-Rawashdeh , 2011). In Jordan, few studies had researched Ziziphora tenuior. For example, Ziziphora tenuior was undergone molecular taxonomy using RAPD technique, and the result of this study confirmed that there is a variation between this plant and Mentha sp. (Al-Rawashdeh, 2011). The other study that highlighted Ziziphora tenuior was conducted by Oran (2013) who searched for the flowering plants that grow wild in Tafila Province, and reported that this genetic resource is under threats of extinction. This was due to several reasons including illegal collection, agricultural expansion and urbanization, deforestation, overgrazing, soil erosion, and depletion of water resources (Oran, 2013). So, there is a great need for protecting and conserving this important genetic resource to insure its availability for scientific research and phytoindustry.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: r.shibli@ju.edu.jo.

Biotechnology is an integral part of international plant conservation programs and plays a role in preserving plant genetic resources. Cryopreservation is a part of biotechnology (Bajaj, 1995; Benson, 1999) and during the last 25 years, cryopreservation was proved to be the most precious method for biological materials long-term conservation. Cryopreservation is simple and applicable to a wide range of genotypes (Engelmann, 2004). Cryopreservation is considered safe, cost-effective and strategy for long-term preservation of biological materials (Reed, 2008; Shibli et al., 1999b). Among the advantages of cryopreservation are that it has low maintenance cost, allows small storage space requirement and there is no need for many replicates to conserve a plant (Shibli and Al-Juboory, 2000). Moreover, cryopreservation has been used for storing many dissimilar types of plant material, such as embryonic axes isolated from seeds, seeds, and vegetative propagated plant material, including pollen, apical or auxiliary buds, embryogenic tissues and somatic embryos (Salaj et al., 2011; Teresa et al., 2010). Hypothetically, using cryopreservation storage plant materials could be preserved without changes for unlimited periods (Wen and Wang, 2010).

Regeneration and genetic stability potential of cryopreserved plant materials are maintained for an indefinite period (Al-Ababneh et al., 2003). Problems such as genetic instability and risk of loss biological materials due to contamination or human error during subculture can be overcome (Kaviani, 2011). Due to the possibility of presence of epigenetic alterations after cryopreservation, there was a need to validate plant genetic uniformity of the cryopreserved plant material after exposure to LN (Harding, 2004; Micula et al., 2011). To detect any possible genetic variation in plants material, several molecular techniques have been applied (Harding, 2004). DNA (RAPD) and amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLP) were the most popular markers used in this domain (Micula, et al., 2011).

Amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLP) technique is widely used as a DNA fingerprinting system for detecting genetic variation among living organisms (Micula, et al., 2011). This technique is distinguished for its high reproducibility and high levels of polymorphism (Hao et al. 2001; Nighat et al., 2010). In addition to the ability of AFLP to permit the simultaneous analysis of many loci spread over the entire genome without need for a prior knowledge of the organisms under study, AFLP proved to be a very sensitive, reliable fingerprinting technique that can be applied to resolve differences between isolates of the same species in a broad range of taxa in most living organisms (Mu<sup>-</sup> ller et al., 2007).

There is no reported literature on the in vitro conservation or genetic assessment of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. which grows wild in Jordan. Therefore, this research was conducted to study the possibility of long-term conservation (cryopreservation) of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. using encapsulation-dehydration and encapsulation-vitrification methods and to test genetic stability of cryopreserved plant material using AFLP technique.

### 2. Materials and Methods

### 2.1. Establishing Mother Stock

Ziziphora tenuior L. seeds were originally collected from Al-Hisha, Al-Shoubak region (30° 31' 53" N, 35° 33' 39" E) southern Jordan. Surface-sterilization of seeds was done by dipping them in 70% ethanol solution for 30s, before soaking in a 20% aqueous solution of 5.4% sodium hypochlorite for 20 min with gentle shaking, followed by three washes with sterilized distilled water under laminar air-flow cabinet. After that, the sterilized seeds were inoculated into test tubes containing Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) without growth regulators. Cultures were left in the growth room conditions in dark at 25±1°C until full germination of seeds. Germinated seedlings were transferred to normal conditions of growth room and maintained under daily light regime of 16-h (photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) = 40-45  $\mu$ mol. m-2 sec-1) light, 8-h dark at  $24 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Cultures were sub-cultured periodically every (4-5weeks) to MS hormone free (HF) medium for mother stock establishment.

### 2.2. Encapsulation-Dehydration

For shoot tip encapsulation, two different liquid media were prepared from stock solutions, the first medium contained 3% sodium alginate and calcium free-MS. The second medium was prepared by using Murashige and Skoog media that includes (100 mM) of calcium (CaCl2) with of final concentration. Next, Ziziphora tenuior L. shoot-tips were dissected in vitro and precultured 3 days on solid MS-HF (hormone free) medium provided with 0.3 M sucrose in dark at growth room conditions. Shoot tips were taken individually by using 1ml sterile micropipette with some alginate solution, and then were soaked into liquid MS-HF medium provided with 100 mM CaCl2 and 0.3 M sucrose to produce beads that had a diameter of about 5 mm. Some produced beads had to be without shoot tips for moisture content determination and all the beads had to be polymerized for 30 min with stirring.

Produced beads were then transferred to MS-HF liquid medium containing 0.5 and 0.75M sucrose and lightly rotated on a shaker for 1 to 3 days, after that the media containing 0.5M or 0.75M sucrose was removed and beads dehydrated under laminar air-flow cabinet on a sterilized filter paper for 0, 2, 4, and 6 hrs, then half of the beads were transferred to 2 ml sterile cryovials and dipped into liquid nitrogen for at least 1 hr at (-196°C). Next, the cryovials were thawed in a water bath at 38-40°C for 2-3 min, while the other half of beads was not exposed to liquid nitrogen. Both halves were transferred to a recovery MS media provided with 0.1 M sucrose and preserved for 7 days in dark for growth, and next transferred to normal growth conditions for 7 days. After that, shoot tips were studied for 4 weeks for survival and recovery signs. Survival percentage of cryopreserved or noncryopreserved shoot tips was determined by using TTC (2, 3, 5-triphenyl tetrazolium chloride) for each treatment, where 50 Ziziphora tenuior L. shoot tips from each treatment were placed in 5 cryovials (10 shoot tips/cryovial) and 1 ml of Tetrazolium (TTC) salt solution 0.5% (w/v) was added to each cryovial and kept in a complete darkness for 16 hours. Survival percentage= (number of red shoots /total number of shoots)  $\times$  100%

The presence of color with pink or red in the survived shoot tip is a result of reducing Tetrazolium (TTC) salt solution to formazen using hydrogen ions released from viable plant cells as a result of respiration.

For the determination of beads moisture content, after each dehydration period, a fresh weight of beads was measured; the beads were dried at 80 °C in an oven for 16 hrs and then reweighed. Moisture Content (MC) was determined by the formula:

MC % = [(Beads fresh weight - Beads dry weight) / Beads fresh weight] x100.

### 2.3. Encapsulation-Vitrification

Encapsulation of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. shoot-tips in beads was done as mentioned in the encapsulation method previously. The beads were placed in sterilized cryovials for different periods (10, 20, 40, 60 and 80 min) with the loading solution (0.4 M sucrose and 2 M glycerol in HF-liquid MS medium). Next, the loading solution was replaced with full strength plant vitrification solution 2 (PVS2) consisted of 15% ethylene glycol, 30% glycerol and 15% DMSO (w/v) in a hormone free liquid medium provided with 0.4 M sucrose for 20 min at room temperature.

Half of the cryovials was not exposed to (LN) and the other half of the cryovials was soaked in (LN) and stored for at least 1 hr. then they were thawed at 38-40 °C for 2-3 min. after that the PVS2 solution in both halves (with and without LN) was replaced by unloading solution and washed three times for 30 min. Other testing procedures were done as in the experiment described above.

# 2.4. Genetic Stability Assessment of Ziziphora tenuior L. using Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism AFLP technique

Five seeds of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. were collected randomly before the seeds were cultured separately on MS-FH media for full germination in the growth room chamber conditions (as mentioned in mother stock establishment section). After that aseptically germinated seedlings were propagated separately for each seed. Next each seed had its mother stock shoots alone. The encapsulation-dehydration technique was applied for cryopreservation of each seed mother stock shoot tips individually. After that, a sample of each seed mother stock was taken before and after they were cryopreserved to test their genetic stability using AFLP technique as described by (Vos et al., 1995).

### 2.4.1. DNA Extraction

Two grams of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. plant samples were grinded in liquid nitrogen in 1.5 ml tube. Then about 40 mg of tissues powder were placed in 1.5 ml and 600  $\mu$ l of Nuclei Lysis solution was added. The solution was then vortexed and then incubated at 65 °C for 15 min. RNase solution 3  $\mu$ L was added to the cell lysate, and the samples were mixed by inverting the tube two to five times and incubated for 15 min at 37 °C.

Samples were left at room temperature for cooling. Then protein precipitation solution (200µl) was added and vortexed vigorously at high speed for twenty seconds. After that the solution was centrifuged for three min at 13,000-16,000 rpm until the precipitated proteins formed a tight pellet. The layer, which was containing the DNA, was removed and transferred to 1.5 ml tube containing 600µl isopropanol. Next, the solution was mixed by inversion until thread-like strands of DNA form a visible mass and it was centrifuged at 13,000-16,000 rpm for one min. before the supernatant was transferred to another tube and DNA was washed by adding 600 µl 70% ethanol. The tube containing the mixture was inverted for several times then centrifuged at 13,000-16,000 rpm for one min. Then, the ethanol was aspirated by using either a drawn pasteur pipette or a sequencing pipette tip and the tube was overturned on top of clean absorbent paper and the pellet was air-dried for 15 min. Then, about 100µl of DNA rehydration solution and rehydrate were added to tube and incubated at 65°C for one hour. The solution was mixed periodically by quietly tapping the tube. The extracted DNA was stored in a refrigerator at 2-8°C.

### 2.4.2. Quantification of DNA

Agarose gel electrophoresis (0.7 %) was used to determine the quality and quantity of the DNA extracted from the *Ziziphora tenuior* L. tissues. The size and the intensity of each sample were detected with DNA mass ladder (Promega) 1 kp to determine genomic DNA concentration.

# 2.4.3. Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP) Analysis

AFLP profiles were obtained according to (Vos et al., 1995). Six selective primers were used for DNA amplification with two labeled EcoRI (AAC IRDye 700 and ACT IRDye800) and five MseI unlabeled primers (CAC, M-pr-CTT, CGT, CAT and CTC). DNA samples were digested with EcoRI and MseI restriction enzymes and proper oligonucleotide adapters were ligated with DNA ligase through incubation at 37°C for 150 min. Double-stranded adapters were prepared by mixing individual synthetic oligonucleotides: EcoRI-adapter was prepared by mixing 7.0 µL of the top strand oligonucleotide  $(2\mu g/\mu L)$  with 7.5  $\mu L$  of the bottom strand oligonucleotide  $(2\mu g/\mu L)$  in 486.1  $\mu L$  of TE buffer. MseI adapter was also prepared by mixing 63.5 µL of the top strand oligonucleotide  $(2\mu g/\mu L)$  with 54.5  $\mu L$  of the bottom strand oligonucleotide  $(2\mu g/\mu L)$  in 382  $\mu L$  of TE buffer.

A pre-amplification step was performed using primers (E-pr-A and M-pr-C) designed to amplify the DNA fragment between the adapter sequence and one additional nucleotide. For quality assessment 10  $\mu$ L of the reaction was used to run on 1.5% agarose gel and the rest (10  $\mu$ L) was diluted with 40  $\mu$ L of TE (10 mM Tris and 1mM EDTA, (pH 8), which was enough for about 30 AFLP-reactions. The diluted reaction was stored at -20°C. Products of pre-amplified DNA were selectively amplified by using combinations of six primers EcoRI+MseI (E-ACC 700 with M-CTC, M-CTA, and M-CAG) and (E-AAG 800 with, M-CTC, M-CTA, and M-CAG).

A touchdown program was used for performed of PCR: thirty cycles of subsequently lowering the annealing temperature (65 °C) by 0.7 °C per cycle while keeping denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds and extension at 72 °C for 60 seconds. This was followed by 23 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 56 °C for 30 seconds and extension at 72 °C for 60 seconds. After PCR, four  $\mu$ L of blue stop solution were added directly before storage at -20 °C.

### 2.4.4. Polyacrylamide Gels

Products of AFLP reaction were analyzed by using automated sequencer (LI-COR, Inc. Lincolen, Nebraska, USA). For gel electrophoresis of AFLP, 6% polyacrylamide gel was used, 200 ml polyacrylamide were prepared with 84g urea, 30 ml acrylamide / bisacrylamide 40% solution (SIGMA), 20 ml of 10X Trisborate-EDTA (TBE) buffer. Gels were cast at least 60 minutes before use and were focused by pre-run for 25 minutes before loading. As recommended by LI-COR, the pre-running and running electrophoretic conditions were performed at 1500V, 40W, 40 mA, 45 °C, and 4 scan speed. TBE buffer (1X, 89 mM Tris, 89 mM borate, and 2.2 mM EDTA pH 8.3) was used as the running buffer. The purpose of pre-running was to "warm up" the gel to about 45 °C, this temperature was maintained throughout electrophoresis, resulting in even heat distribution and good quality fingerprints. Samples of DNA were denatured by heating the resulting mixtures for 5 min at 95 °C and cooled rapidly on ice before loading the gel. To remove urea precipitate or pieces of gel, gel wells were completely rinsed prior to loading by flushing them with buffer using a 20 cc syringe, then one µL of each denatured sample was loaded in the designated lanes, IRDye 700 and IRDye 800 sizing standard were used to determine band size.

### 2.5. Experimental Design

In cryopreservation experimental part, all treatments in each experiment were arranged in a Complete Randomized Design (CRD) and 40 shoot tips were used in each treatment. The collected data from the experiments described above were statistically analyzed using SAS 9.2 (Statistical Analysis System, Cary, NC) and the standard error of means were calculated for each treatment in each cryopreservation experiment.

### 3. Results and Discussion

### 3.1. Encapsulation-Dehydration

A complete survival of the encapsulated noncryopreserved Ziziphora tenuior L. shoot tips was recorded when shoot tips pretreated with 0.5 M sucrose after dehydration periods of (0, 2 hrs) under laminar air, moisture content of beads MC % ranged from (85%) and (68 %), respectively, for each period of dehydration (Table 1). The recovery percentages in the noncryopreserved shoot tips showed the greatest values (100, 95%) after (0, 2 hrs) dehydration periods, while the minimum value was recorded after (6 hour) dehydration when the MC% reached to (21%) (Table 1). Similar findings were obtained by Younes (2012) who obtained the full survival percentage (100%) of encapsulated nonecryopreserved *Achillea fragrantissima* shoot tips in pretreated media provided by 0.5 M sucrose with or without (3 hrs) dehydration when incubated for three days.

Meanwhile, the results of the present study revealed that, after cryopreservation, the highest survival percentage (35%) in shoot tips pretreated with 0.5 M sucrose supplemented media for one day was obtained after (6 hrs) dehydration period before LN exposure, while the maximum recovery percentage (20%) was obtained after (4 hrs) dehydration period with MC% of (25.5%). Also, it was found that, beads with MC % of (85%) and (68%) did not recover after (0, 2 hrs) dehydration (Table 1). Obtaining the best recovery at MC level of (25%) is expected due to the fact that, most of plant species explants recovered after cryogenic treatment when their MC was between 17-37% (Englemann, 2004).

Also, the results of the present study recorded (40 %) survival rate in the cryopreserved Ziziphora tenuior L. shoot tips recorded when pretreated with on 0.75 M sucrose provided media for one day and air dehydrated for 6 hrs. Also, the best recovery rate (20%) in the cryopreserved explants was obtained on shoot tips pretreated with either 0.5 or 0.75 M sucrose supplemented media for one day fallowed by 4 or 6 hrs air dehydration as shown in Fig. (1) and Table (2). However, our results agree with Younes (2012) who reported that the encapsulated shoot tips of Achillea fragrantissima obtained the greatest survival and recovery percentages (40, 20%) when pretreated in media provided by 0.5 M sucrose with (6 hrs) dehydration, but it disagrees with her regarding the best recovery which was obtained in her study after incubation for three days, which is not the case in our study. Meanwhile, Moges, et al. (2004) reported that a complete survival of encapsulated cryopreserved violet (Saintpaulia ionantha) shoot tips was obtained when pretreated with 0.3 M sucrose and incubated for two days with (2 hrs) of dehydration. Wang et al. (2002) reported that the greatest recovery of encapsulated shoot tips of Troyer citrange was obtained when shoot tips precultured in media provided by different concentrations of sucrose ranged from (0.15 M to 0.29 M). In addition, poor growth was obtained when sucrose concentrations in pretreated media lower than (0.15 M or higher than 0.29 M). Maria et al. (2012) reported that promoting recovery of encapsulation cryopreserved white mulberry (Morus alba) shoot tips with pretreated media contains 0.75 M sucrose was more effective than 0.5 M sucrose for either one or three days . Also, Shibli et al. (2009) reported that pretreated Crocus hyemalis and Crocus moabiticus calli gave the greatest survival and recovery percentages, respectively, when encapsulated with 0.5 M sucrose for two days after (2 hrs) of dehydration and cryopreserved. However, the decline in the survival and recovery rates of Ziziphora tenuior might be attributed to the formation of extra-cellular and intra cellular- ice crystals as a result of high moisture content of the cryopreserved tissues (Baghdadi et al., 2010; Plessis et al., 1993).

The moisture content of the encapsulated *Ziziphora tenuior* beads declined with increasing exposure duration to air drying (0, 2, 4, 6 hrs), as shown in (Tables 1-4), and

shoot tips with high moisture content were not able to recover after cryogenic exposure (Tables 1-4). High moisture content was found to cause death of the encapsulated African violet (Saintpaulia ionantha) shoot tips that pretreated with 0.1 M sucrose for 2 days before (8 hrs) of dehydration (Moges et al., 2004). Also, Tahtamouni and Shibli (1999) showed that moisture content of wild pear beads pretreated with 0.75 M sucrose declined more than those pretreated with 0.3 M sucrose when exposed to the same dehydration period. Survival and recovery were higher of encapsulated cryopreserved bitter almond (Amygdalus communis) shoot tips when dehydrated for 6 hrs than 4 hrs (Al-Ababneh et al., 2003). Moreover, (Halmagyi and Deliu, 2011) found that in redwood (Sequoia sempervirens Endl.) shoot tips moisture content was reduced to (27%) when pretreated for (24 hrs) in media supplemented with 0.5 M sucrose followed by (3 hrs) air dehydration which resulted in (67%) recovery percentage. Also, greatest recovery after (1.5 or 2 hrs) of dehydration with (33% or 28%) moisture contents of olive shoot tips obtained, respectively (Martinez et al., 1999). However, the reduction in the obtained survival and recovery percentage in the current study (Tables 1-4) might be attributed to partial damage of the shoot tips due to osmotic shock after rehydration and ice crystallization of some cells in the calli (Al-Ababneh et al., 2003), or might be due to unfavorable growth condition (Al-Ababneh, 2002; Moges et al., 2004). This leads to a conclusion that each plant species has its own needs for optimum dehydration to obtain best recovery after cryopreservation, and these needs must be optimized for osmotic dehydration pretreatment in terms of concentration and duration in addition to air dehydration duration.

There were other related studies in Jordan in which the cryopreservation was applied successfully on some medicinal and wild plants. For example, Sharaf et al. (2012) reported a complete survival and (27%) recovery were obtained when encapsulated non-cryopreserved Artemisia herba-alba shoot tips were pretreated in 0.5 M sucrose for three days. Also, Shibli et al. (2009) showed that the greatest survival (83.3; 88.9%) and recovery (77.6; 83.3%) percentages were obtained when encapsulated non-cryopreserved calluses of Crocus hyemalis and Crocus moabiticus precultured with 0.1 M sucrose for two days without dehydration, respectively. A similar result was reported by Moges, et al. (2004) who found that the full survival and the greatest recovery (75%) percentage were obtained when encapsulated noncryopreserved African violet Saintpaulia ionantha shoot tips were pretreated with 0.3 M sucrose for two days with (2 hrs) air dehydration. Also, Al-Ababneh et al. (2003) reported the best survival and recovery rates in encapsulated cryopreserved bitter almond Amygdalus communis shoot tips air dehydrated for 6 hrs.

**Table 1:** Survival and recovery percentage of encapsulated shoot

 tips of Ziziphora tenuior L. as affected by air dehydration

 duration after pretreatment with 0.5 M sucrose concentration for

 one day

Sucrose	Dehydration	Survival %	Recovery %	MC %
Conc. (M)	Duration (hr)*			
Non- cryop	reserved shoots	tips (-LN)		
	0	$100^{*} \pm 0.0$	$100^{*} \pm 0.0$	85
0.5 M	2	$100 \pm 0.0$	95 ±3.49	68
sucrose	4	$90\pm4.80$	$75\pm 6.93$	25.5
	6	$80\pm6.40$	$70\pm7.33$	21
Cryopreser	ved shoots tips (	+LN)		
	0	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	85
0.5 M	2	$15 \pm 5.71$	$0.0\pm0.0$	68
sucrose	4	$30\pm7.33$	$20\pm 6.40$	25.5
	6	$35\pm7.63$	$15\pm5.71$	21

\*Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean.

**Table 2:** Survival and recovery percentage of encapsulated shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. as affected by dehydration duration after pretreatment with 0.75 M sucrose concentration for one day

Sucrose	Dehydration	Survival %	Recovery %	MC %	
Conc. (M)	Duration (hr)*	:			
Non- cryopreserved shoots tips (-LN)					
	0	$100 * \pm 0.0$	$100^*\pm0.0$	80.20	
0.75M	2	$95\pm3.49$	$90\pm4.80$	51.10	
sucrose	4	$80\pm6.40$	$65 \pm 7.63$	23.00	
	6	$75\pm 6.93$	$60\pm7.84$	19.00	
Cryopreserved shoots tips (+LN)					
	0	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	80.20	
0.75M	2	$15\pm5.71$	$0.0\pm0.0$	51.10	
sucrose	4	$30\pm7.33$	$10\pm4.80$	23.00	
	6	$40.0\pm7.84$	$20 \pm 6.40$	19.00	

\*Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean.

**Table 3:** Survival and recovery percentage of encapsulated shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. as affected by dehydration duration after pretreatment with 0.5M sucrose concentration for three days

Sucrose Conc. (M)	Dehydration Duration (hr)*	Survival %	Recovery %	MC %	
Non- cryop	reserved shoots	tips (-LN)			
	0	$100 * \pm 0.00$	$100^*\pm 0.00$	75.8	
0.5 M sucrose	2	$100\pm0.00$	$100\pm0.00$	61.5	
sucrose	4	$90 \pm 4.80$	$85\pm5.71$	26.8	
	6	$80\pm6.40$	$70\pm7.33$	20	
Cryopreserved shoots tips (+LN)					
	0	$0.0\pm0.00$	$0.0\pm0.00$	75.8	
0.5 M	2	$20 \pm 6.40$	$0.0\pm0.00$	61.5	
sucrose	4	$30\pm7.33$	$0\pm0.00$	26.8	
	6	$35\pm7.63$	$10\pm4.80$	20	

\*Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean.

**Table: 4:** Survival and recovery percentage of encapsulated shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. as affected by dehydration duration after pretreatment with 0.75M sucrose concentration for three days

Sucrose Conc. (M)	Duration	n Survival %	Recovery %	MC %
(hrs) Non- cryopreserved shoots tips (-LN)				
0.75M sucrose	0	$100 * \pm 0.00$	$100^*\pm0.00$	70.30
	2	$95\pm3.49$	90 ±4.80	55.90
	4	$75\pm 6.93$	$50\pm\!8.00$	18.10
	6	$70\pm7.33$	$42.5\pm7.91$	17.80
Cryopreserved shoots tips (+LN)				
	0	$0.0\pm0.00$	$0.0\pm0.00$	70.30
0.75M sucrose	2	$0.0\pm0.00$	$0.0\pm0.00$	55.90
	4	$20\pm6.40$	$0.0\pm0.00$	18.10
	6	$10\pm4.80$	$0.0 \pm 0.00$	17.80

\*Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean.



**Figure 1:** Survival and recovery of the cryopreserved encapsulated shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* pretreated with 0.75 M sucrose MS supplemented media for one day followed by 6 hrs. air dehydration under the laminar air-flow cabinet. A: Survival, B: Recovery

### 3.2. Encapsulation-vitrification technique

Recovery percentages varied the encapsulated-vitrified shoot tips either with or without (LN). The greatest recovery rates (82.5%, 75%) were recorded in none cryopreserved shoot exposed to the loading solution for either (40 or 60 min) compared to (30%) recovery obtained in unloaded shoot tips (0 min) as shown in the (Figure 2). Younes (2012) reported that the shoot tips of non-cryopreserved *Achillea fragrantissima* gave the greatest survival and recovery percentages when encapsulated shoot tips were pretreated with the loading solution for 80 min. Dumet *et al.* (1993) reported that the increase in survival and recovery percentages of the non-cryopreserved shoot tips in oil palm was due to reduced osmotic shock as shoot tips were subjected to loading solution for longer duration before exposure to PVS2.

Moreover, after the cryopreservation of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. shoot tips, the greatest survival rate (37.5%) was obtained in (60 min) loading duration treatment, while shoot tips in (0, 10 min) duration treatments were not able to record survival (Figures 2- 3). Also, after cryopreservation applied to shoot tips of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. the cryopreserved shoots failed to recover in most treatments except in (40, 60 min) as (2.5, 10%) recovery rates were recorded, respectively (Figures 2- 3). However, the results obtained for recovery were very low as the highest recovery recorded was only (10%) (Figure 3) which could be attributed to intracellular ice crystals formation during freezing and or which is considered highly harmful on explants (Vandenbussche and Proft, 1996).



Figure 2: Survival percentages of non-cryopreserved (-LN) and cryopreserved (+LN) of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. shoot tips as influenced by loading duration with the loading solution using Encapsulation-Vitrification technique. Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean



Figure 3: Recovery percentages of non-cryopreserved (-LN) and cryopreserved (+LN) of *Ziziphora tenuior* L. shoot tips as influenced by loading duration with the loading solution using Encapsulation-Vitrification technique. Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error of mean

### 3.3. Genetic Stability

For genetic stability study on Ziziphora tenuior L., tissues cryopreserved and non-cryopreserved tissues (Figures 4-5) showed no clear differences when studied by AFLP. This was expected due to the fact that organized tissues (shoot tips) were used in the current study, and only undifferentiated tissues like callus and cell suspension cultures were reported to show some epigenetic variation after exposure to LN (Harding and Benson, 2001). Our results agreed with the previous studies, for example. Castillo *et al.* (2010) found no morphological differences between cryopreserved greenhouse-grown *Rubus grabowskii* when compared with the control mother plants. Lurswijidjarus and Thammasiri (2004) reported that orchid plantlets cryopreserved showed normal growth characteristics after regrowth. Also, no variations were obtained in the morphology or growth profiles between cryopreserved and non-cryopreserved cell cultures of tobacco (Kobayashi et al., 2006). Studies of Harding (1991) and Harding and Benson (2001) on cryopreserved shoot tips of (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) confirmed that the stability of the ribosomal RNA genes and the nuclear-chloroplast DNA and the plants exhibited normal developmental patterns after re growth.



**Figure 4:** Amplified DNA patterns using AFLP primers for *Ziziphora tenuior* L., Pre-amplified DNA products were selectively amplified using three *Eco*RI+*MseI* primer combinations (E-ACC 700 with M-CTC (group A), M-CTA (group B), and M-CAG (group C). (+) stands for cryopreserved samples. Numbers from 1-5 represent cryopreserved samples of plants, respectively.



Figure 5. Amplified DNA patterns using AFLP primers for *Ziziphora tenuior* L., Pre-amplified DNA products were selectively amplified using three *Eco*RI+ *MseI* primer combinations (E-ACC 800 with M-CTC (group A), M-CTA (group B), and M-CAG (group C). (+) stands for cryopreserved samples. Numbers from 1-5 represent cryopreserved samples of plants, respectively

### 4. Conclusions

Encapsulation-dehydration in addition to encapsulation-vitrification methods were used for cryopreservation of Ziziphora tenuior L. shoot tips. In the encapsulation-dehydration experiment, the best recovery rate (20%) was obtained when either 0.5 M or 0.75 M sucrose MS supplemented media were used as preculture media for the shoot tips for one day, followed by air dehydration for 4 or 6 hrs. Meanwhile, when encapsulation-vitrification experiment was applied, the highest recovery (10%) percentage was obtained when the encapsulated shoot tips were pretreated for 60 min. with the loading solution before exposed to PVS2 vitrification solution and LN. Also, as it was expected, no genetic differences were found in the cryopreserved explants before and after exposure to LN. However, further studies on the in vitro conservation should be initiated to improve recovery rates after cryopreservation.

### Acknowledgement

Authors would like to thank all members of Hamdi Mango Center for Scientific Research (HMCSR)/ Faculty of Agriculture, Deanship of Scientific Research and Pharmacy College-University of Jordan (Amman- Jordan) for their help and support.

### References

Al-Ababneh S. Karam N and Shibli R. 2002. Cryopreservation of sour orange (*Citrus aurantium* L.) shoot tips. *In Vitro Cell and Dev Biol--Plant*, **38**: 602-607.

Al-Ababneh S. Shibli RA. Karam N S and Shatnawi M A. 2003. Cryopreservation of bitter almond (*Amygdalus communis* L.) shoot tips by encapsulation-dehydration and vitrification. *Adv Hort Sci*, **17**: 15-20.

Al-Rawashdeh I. 2011. Molecular Taxonomy among *Mentha spicata*, *Mentha Longifolia* and *Ziziphora tenuior* Populations using the RAPD Technique. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **4**: 63-70.

Baghdadi SH. Shibli RA. Syouf MQ. Shatanawi MA. Arabiat A and Makhadmeh IM. 2010. Cryopreservation by encapsulationvitrification of embryogenic callus of wild Crocus (Crocus hyemalis and Crocus moabiticus) (Research Note). Jordan Jordan J Biol Sci, 6: 436-443.

Bajaj Y. 1995. Cryopreservation of plant cell, tissue and organ culture for the conservation of germplasm and biodiversity. In: Bajaj YPS (Eds.), **Biotechnology in agriculture and forestry cryopreservation of plant germplasm** I, New York, Springer-Verlage, pp. 3-18.

Benson EE. 1999. Cryopreservation. In: Benson, E. (Eds.), **Plant conservation biotechnology**, Taylor and Francis, London, pp. 83-95.

Castillo FV, Bassil V, Wad S and Reed M. 2010. Genetic stability of cryopreserved shoot tips of Rubus germplasm. *InVitro Cell and Dev Biol--Plant*, **46**: 246-256.

Craker LE. 2007. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants- Future Opportunities. *Issues in new crops and new uses*, 1-10.

Dumet D, Engelmann F, Chabrillange N, Duval Y and Dereuddre J. 1993. Importance of sucrose for the acquisition of tolerance to

desiccation and cryopreservation of oil palm somatic embryos. *CryoLetters*, **14**: 243-250.

Engelmann F. 2004. Plant cryopreservation: Progress and prospects. *InVitro Cell and Dev Biol-Plant*, **40**: 427-433.

Halmagyi A and Deliu C. 2011. Cryopreservation of redwood (*Sequoia sempervirens* (d. don.) endl.) shoots apices by encapsulation-dehydration. *Contrib Bot*, **46**: 117.

Hao YJ. Liu QL and Deng XX. 2001. Effect of cryopreservation on apple genetic resources at morphological, chromosomal and molecular levels. *Cryobiology*, **43**: 46–53.

Harding K. 1991. Molecular stability of the ribosomal RNA genes in *Solanum tuberosum* plants recovered from slow growth and cryopreservation. *Euphytica*, **55**: 141-146.

Harding K and Benson EE. 2001. The use of microsatellite analysis in *Solanum tuberosum* L. *in vitro* plantlets derived from cryopreserved germplasm. *CryoLetters*, **22**: 199-208.

Kaviani B. 2011. Conservation of plant genetic resources by cryopreservation. AJCS, **5**: 778-800.

Kobayashi T. Niino T and Kobayashi M. 2006. Cryopreservation of tobacco BY-2 suspension cell cultures by vitrification with encapsulation. *Plant Biotech J*, **23**: 333-337.

Maria D. Andrea F. Sgueglia A. Condello E and Damiano C. 2012. Cryopreservation of white mulberry (*Morus alba* L.) by encapsulation-dehydration and vitrification. PCTOC, **108**: 167-172.

Martinez D. Arroyo-Garcia R and Revilla MA. 1999. Cryopreservation of *in vitro* grown shoot tips of (*Olea europaea* L.). *CryoLetters*, **20**: 29-36.

Mikuła A. Tomiczak K and Rybczyn'ski JJ. 2011. Cryopreservation enhances embryogenic capacity of Gentianacruciata (L.) suspension culture and maintains (epi) geneticuniformity of regenerants. *Plant Cell Rep*, **30**: 565-574.

Moges A. Shibli R and Karam N. 2004. Cryopreservation of African violet (*Saintpaulia ionantha* Wendl.) shoots tips. *InVitro Cell and Dev Biol-Plant*, **40**: 389-395.

Mu<sup>•</sup> Iler J. Day J. Harding K. Hepperle D. Lorenz P and Friedl T. 2007. Assessing genetic stability of a range of terrestrial microalgae after cryopreservation using Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism (AFLP). *Am J Bot*, **94**: 799–808.

Murashige T and Skoog F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol Plant*, **15**: 473-497.

Naghibi F. Mosaddegh M. Motamed SM and Ghorbani A. 2005. Labiatae family in folk medicine in Iran: from ethnobotany to pharmacology. IJPR, **2:** 63-79.

Nighat N. Pearce SR. Khan MA. Mahmood T. Ghazalah Y and Muhammad H. 2010. AFLP mediated genetic diversity of *Malvaceae* species. JMPR, **4**: 148-154.

Oran S. 2014. A list of flowering wild plants in Tafila Province, Jordan. IJBC, **16**: 28-40

Ozturk Y. Aydin S. Tecik B and Baser K. 1995. Effects of essential oils from *Ziziphora* species on swimming performance in mice. *Phytother Res*, **9**: 225-227

Pimda W and Bunnag S. 2010. Cryopreservation of *Dendrobium heterocarpum* Lindl. via encapsulation-dehydration method. ELBA BIOFLUX, **2**: 7-14.

Plessis P. Leddet C. Collas A and Dereuddre J. 1993. Cryopreservation of (*Vitis vinifera* L.) cv chardonnay shoot tips by encapsulation-dehydration effects of pretreatment, cooling and post culture conditions. *Cryoletters*, **14**: 309-320. Reed B. 2008. **Plant Cryopreservation: A Practical Guide**, USDA-ARS National Clonal Germplasm Repository, Corvallis, U.S.A.

Salaj T. Matušíková I. Fráterová L. Piršelová B and Salaj J. 2011. Regrowth of embryogenic tissue of (*Pinus nigra*) following cryopreservation. PCTOC, **106**: 55-61.

Sharaf SA. Shibli RA. Kasrawi MA and Baghdadi SH. 2012. Cryopreservation of wild shih (*Artemisia herba-alba*) Asso. shoot-tips by encapsulation-dehydration and encapsulationvitrification. PCTOC, **108**: 437-444.

Shibli R and Al-Juboory K. 2000. Cryopreservation of 'Nabali' olive (*Olea europea* L.) somatic embryos by encapsulation-dehydration and encapsulation-vitrification. *CryoLetters*, **21**: 357-366.

Shibli R. Baghdadi S. Syouf M. Shatnawai M. Arabiat A. Makhadmeh I. 2009. Cryopreservation by encapsulationdehydration of embryogenic callus of wild crocus (*Crocus hyemalis and Crocus moabiticus*). ActaHortic, **829**: 197-203.

Shibli R. Smith M and Shatnawi M. 1999b. Pigment recovery from encapsulation-dehydrated *Vaccinium pahalae* (ohelo) cryopreserved cells. PCTOC, **55**: 119-123

Tahtamouni R and Shibli R. 1999. Preservation at low temperature and cryopreservation in wild pear (*Pyrus syriaca* Bioss.). Adv Hortic Sci, **13**: 156-160

Teresa H. Pawel C. Marcin M and Rystyna B. 2010. Cryopreservation of embryogenic tissues of (*Picea omorika*) Serbian spruce. PCTOC, **102**: 35-44.

Vandenbussche B and Proft M. 1996. Cryopreservation of *in vitro* sugar beet shoottips using the encapsulation-dehydration technique: Development of a basic protocol. *CryoLetters*, **17**: 137-140.

Vos P. Hogers R. Bleeker M. Reijans M. Van de Lee T. Hornes M Frijters A. Pot J. Peleman J. Kuiper M and Zabeau M. 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Re*, **23**: 4407-4414.

Wang Q. Batuman O P. Bar-Joseph M and Gafny R. 2002. A simple and efficient cryopreservation of *in vitro*-grown shoot tips of `Troyer' citrange (*Poncirus trifoliata* (L.) Raf. *Citrus sinensis* (L.) Osbeck.) by encapsulation-vitrification. *Euphytica*, **128**: 135-142.

Wen B and Wang RL. 2010. Pretretment incubation for culture and cryopreservation of *Sabal* embryos. PCTOC, **102**: 237-243.

Younes L. 2012. *In vitro* multiplication and conservation of *Achillea fragrantissima* Forssk Sch. Bip. Ph. D. Dissertation. Faculty of Agriculture, The University of Jordan, Amman. Jordan.

Zargari A. 1995. Iranian Medicinal Plants, Tehran University Press, Tehran.

Zohary M and Feinbrun N. 1978. Flora Palaestina, The Academy of Sciences and Humanities Jerusalem.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# Production and Characterization of a Recombinant Camel Full Heavy Chain Antibody against Human IgE

Sana' H. Yousef<sup>1,4,\*</sup>, Abdelrahman M. Rawashdeh<sup>1</sup>, Raida W. Khalil<sup>2</sup>, Sami K. Abdel-Hafez<sup>1,3</sup>and Khaled M. Al-Qaoud<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biological Sciences-Yarmouk University;

<sup>2</sup> Philadelphia University-Amman;

<sup>3</sup> World Islamic Science and Education University (WISE);

<sup>4</sup> Jordan Company for Monoclonal Antibody Production (MONOJO)- P.O Box 675 AL-Jubiha 11941 Amman, Jordan

Received: June 17, 2015 Revised: July 14, 2015 Accepted: July 17, 2015

### Abstract

Camel heavy chain antibodies (HCAbs) have novel properties that render them useful in diagnosis and immunotherapy of various diseases. The purpose of this study was to produce recombinant camel HCAbs directed against a synthetic loop polypeptide that mimics the FccRI binding site on human IgE. A recombinant camel HCAb was purified and characterized after being cloned using One Shot TOP10 *Escherichia coli*, expressed in BL21 Star (DE3) *E. coli*. Out of nineteen successful clones only one named IgG211 was found to contain the IgG2 HCAb coding sequence in the correct orientation with 85% homology to camel IgG2. A 62kDa fusion protein was expressed in an insoluble form under Isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1-Thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) induction. Probond purified fusion protein was localized by immunoblot using mouse anti camel antibody. The reactivity of recombinant camel IgG211to its corresponding antigen using ELISA was 72.9% of the camel polyclonal IgG2. Thus, a successful production of a recombinant camel HCAb of the IgG2 isotype was achieved. Such achievement may contribute towards the application of the unique properties of camel HCAbs in the field of antibody-based therapy for the treatment of asthma and allergy.

Keywords: Camels, Antibodies, Immunoglobulin E, Escherichia coli, DNA, Recombinant protein, Antibody-based therapy.

### 1. Introduction

Among mammals, the Arabian camel (Camelus dromedarius) and other Camelidae produce special kinds of antibodies in their sera, known as heavy chain antibodies (HCAbs) (Hamers-Casterman et al., 1993, Arbabi Ghahroudi et al., 1997). The HCAb molecule lacks both light chains and consists of only two heavy chains that lack the CH1 domain. The small size, high affinity, solubility, close homology of the variable domain to that of human IgG, and stability at high temperature or in the presence of denaturing agents are remarkable characteristic features for the HCAbs variable heavy chain domains (VHH). Such novel properties of HCAbs has led to intensive research towards the production of HCAbs and VHH nanobodies against various viral, bacterial, protozoal and helminthic parasites, toxins and tumors as well as other immunologic and functional protein targets. In this regard, recombinant HCAbs and VHH were successfully prepared in bacteria and yeast through cloning, expression and selections of antigen-specific

HCAbs and VHHs (Van de Laar et al., 2007; Muyldermans et al., 2009; Franco et al., 2010).

IgE antibodies are reaginic antibodies involved in atopic diseases such as allergic asthmas (Beeh et al., 2000; MacLean and Eidelman, 2001; Novak and Bieber, 2003). IgE binds to its specific FccR1 receptor mast cells as well as blood basophils. Such interaction triggers a series of cascade reactions in these cells that results in various symptoms characterizing asthma and other IgE mediated allergic diseases (Gould and Sutton, 2008).

Allergic asthma is one of the most common and highly variable chronic disorders of respiratory airways with many symptoms and complications. Prevalence of allergic asthma with severe manifestations is increasing worldwide, particularly in industrial countries (Beasley et al., 2000). The currently available treatment strategies are inadequate to control the symptoms of severe asthma (Bukstein et al., 2005). Alternative drugs, based on the production of anti-human IgE monoclonal antibodies (anti huIgE MCA), have been attempted. Such anti huIgE MCA efficiently bind IgE and do not induce histamine release in vitro (Davis et al., 1993, Presta et al., 1994, Rabe et al., 1998). Also, camel polyclonal HCAbs that

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: sana.yousef@monojo.com.jo

<sup>\*</sup> List of non-standard abbreviations: huIgE: human IgE, MCAs: monoclonal antibodies, SLP: synthetic loop peptide, IB: Immunoblot.

efficiently block IgE binding to its FccRI on human basophils in vitro and resulted in histamine release inhibition were efficiently developed (Al-Qaoud et al., 2015). Moreover, a novel strategy based on the generation of humanized MCAs against huIgE-FccRI binding site have been engineered and approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the USA as early as 2003 to prevent subsequent allergic symptoms (Doding et al., 2005).

As a further approach towards the search for therapeutic strategies in asthmatic patients, an attempt to develop and purify recombinant camel HCAbs against a synthetic polypeptide that mimic FceRI binding site on huIgE was made in the present investigation.

### 2. Materials and Methods

# 2.1. Immunogen Preparation, Peptide Synthesis and Camel Immunization

Immunogen used in camel immunization was modified Synthetic Loop Peptide (SLP) with the basic sequence CGETYQSRVTHPHLPRALMRSTTKC (Wang et al., 2003). The SLP was prepared according to multiple antigenic peptides system (MAPS) (Tam 1988) forming SLP-MAPS immunogen (Alpha Diagnostic International Co., San Antonio, USA). A Local male camel (Camelusdromedarius) was immunized with an initial 0.5 mg of SLP-MAPS mixed with Stimune adjuvant (Prionics, Schlieren-Zurich, Switzerland) at a 1:1 ratio. The camel was immunized 5 times at 2 week intervals as in our earlier work (Al-Qaoud et al., 2015). At the end of the immunization protocol, anticoagulated blood was collected for lymphocytes isolation.

# 2.2. Lymphocytes Isolation, RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis

Lymphocytes were obtained from heparinized peripheral blood samples of SLP-MAPS immunized camel using Ficoll-Paque (PAA laboratories, Linz, Austria). The cell number was adjusted to  $(5\times106)$  for RNA isolation. RNA was isolated using a Nucleospin RNA II Total RNA isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. Fiveµgof RNA was converted to cDNA by Reverse Transcriptase kit (Promega, Wisconsin, USA). The cDNA was used as a template to amplify the coding sequence for camel HCAbs.

### 2.3. Design of PCR Primers and pET102/D-TOPO Expression Vector Cloning Site

Two separate PCRs were done to clone the HCAb coding sequence in the pET102/D-TOPO expression vector using a shared reverse primer (Cam2) and one of two different forward primers. The forward primers that were used in the first and second PCRs were called CamV1 and CamV-Topo, respectively. The sequences of the primers were as follows:

CamV1: (5' ACACACCATGGAGCTGGGGC 3'), CamV-Topo:(5' CACCGATGTGCAGCTGCAGGAGTC 3'), and Cam2:(5'CTAGTGGGTCAGAAGCCCATTT3') (Saerens et al., 2004). The pET102/D-TOPO expression vector was designed to directionally clone the gene between N-terminal HPthioredoxin and C-terminal V5 epitope and 6xHis tags and allows the inducible expression of proteins in *E. coli* strains under the control of T7 promoter (Figure 1).



**Figure 1**: The pET102/D-TOPO expression vector cloning site and characteristics. The vector contains T7 promoter, lac operator (lacO), Ribosome binding site (RBS), ATG initiation codon, Hispatch (HP) thioredoxin open reading frame (ORF), TrxFus forward priming site, EK recognition site, directional TOPO Cloning site, V5 epitope, Polyhistidine (6xHis), T7 reverse priming site, T7 transcription termination region, Ampicillin resistance gene, and pBR322 origin of replication.

### 2.4. Production of Blunt-End PCR Products

The HCAbcoding sequence was amplified by nested PCR using Phusion HF DNA polymerase(New England BioLabs, Massachusetts, USA) and ESCO Swift Max Pro Cycler (Esco Technologies, Thermal Changi. Singapore). The first PCR was done to separate HCAbs from the conventional IgG1. The PCR was done with 35 cycles at 60C annealing temperature. Separation of PCR product was done using 1% agarose gel electrophoresis after staining with ethidium bromide. The two bands near 1200 and 1300 base pairs, representing the two HCAbs isotypes coding sequences, were used as templates for the secondary PCR. The HCAbs were amplified in the second PCR reaction and the bands representing IgG2 and IgG3 coding sequences from the two second PCR reactions were extracted using Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-up system kit (Promega, Wisconsin, USA).

### 2.5. Assembly of the HCAb Expression Construct and Transformation of One Shot TOP10 E. coli Competent Cells

The Champion pET Directional TOPO Expression Kit (Invitrogen, California, USA) was used for cloning. The purified IgG3 and IgG2 PCR products were cloned into pET102/D-TOPO vector as per manufacturer instructions. The ligation mixture was transformed into One Shot TOP10 *E. coli* using the heat shock method.

# 2.6. Analysis of Positive Transformants by Colony PCR and DNA Sequencing

All the colonies that appeared on the LB-Amp  $(100\mu g/ml)$  plates were prepared for analysis by colony PCR using the TrxFus forward and T7 reverse sequencing primers supplied with the Topo cloning kit. The positive construct was sequenced to check the identity and orientation of the HCAb coding sequence using the

TrxFus forward sequencing primer (5'-TTCCTCGACGCTAACCTG-3') with the aid of Eaton Corporation (Ohio, USA).The pET102/D-TOPO-HCAb construct was extracted using GenElute plasmid miniprep kit (Sigma, Missouri, USA) following specific manufacturer instructions.

### 2.7. Expression of the Recombinant HCAb Fusion Protein

Seven ng of the pET102/D-TOPO containing the anti-SLP-MAPS HCAb sequence expected was transformed into BL21 Star (DE3) E. coli using heat shock method following themanufacturer instructions. The culture containing the transformation reaction was grown overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm and induced with 1mM Isopropyl β-D-1thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) (Promega, Wisconsin, USA). The cells were harvested and resuspended in lysis buffer (50 mM potassium phosphate, 400 mM NaCl, 100 mM KCl, 10% glycerol, 0.5% Triton X-100, 10 mM imidazole, pH 7.8). The cells were lysed by freezing/thawing cycles (five times) using liquid nitrogen and 42°C water bath. After centrifugation, the supernatants containing the soluble fraction and pellets which contained the insoluble fraction were both used for analysis on 12% SDS-PAGE.

### 2.8. Purification of the Recombinant HCAb Fusion Protein and Analysis by SDS-PAGE

A fifty ml-sample of IPTG induced culture was used for the purification of the recombinant camel HCAb fusion protein using ProBond Purification System (Invitrogen, California, USA). Probond column was washed seven times and the unbound fractions were removed as per manufacturer instructions. Fractions were collected and analyzed by 12% SDS-PAGE.

# 2.9. Assessment of Recombinant Fusion HCAb by ELISA and Immunoblot (IB)

ELISA was used for the detection of the binding activity of the recombinant HCAb fusion protein with the SLP-MAPS synthetic peptide. Captured camel anti SLP-MAPS HCAbs were detected by HRP-labeled mouse anti camel antibodies prepared according to MonoJo's Standard Operating Procedures (SOP). Furthermore, the purified recombinant HCAb fusion protein, the induced bacterial lysate and uninduced bacterial culture were electrophoresed by SDS-PAGE and blotted on a nitrocellulose membrane using semidry immunoblotter purchased from Wealtec (Taipei, Taiwan). The presence of camel HCAbs was detected by the incubation with mouse anti camel-HRP as tracer. A relative reactivity index for recombinant IgG211 to anti-huIgE polyclonal IgG2 was calculated as per the formula: the reactivity of recombinant IgG211 divided by the reactivity of polyclonal IgG2 multiplied by 100.

### 3. Results

# 3.1. Camel HCAb Gene Amplification and Transformation

Nested PCR was performed to amplify the HCAbs coding sequence from lymphocytes of SLP-MAPS

immunized camel (Figure 2). The resulting PCR products from the first reaction were three bands near 1500, 1300, and 1200bp. These bands represent camel IgG1, IgG2 and IgG3 coding sequences, respectively (Figure 2a). The second PCR re-amplified the gel purified IgG2 and IgG3 coding sequences (Figure 2b). The constructs containing the gel purified IgG2 and IgG3 coding sequences were transformed into TOP10 *E. coli* competent cells. The ligation efficiency was very low where only 15 and 4 bacterial colonies that resultedfrom the transformation of constructs contained IgG2 and IgG3 coding sequence, respectively.



**Figure 2**: Nested PCR amplification products using 1% agarose gel. CamV-1 and Cam2 primers were used on camel lymphocyte cDNA.In A, IgG1 appears as a discrete band of ~ 1500bp while the two bands near 1018bp represent the HCAbs IgG2 and IgG3 complete coding sequence (Lane1). In B,CamVTopo and Cam2 primers were used on the gel purified IgG2 coding sequence (Lane 2), and on the gel purified IgG3 coding sequence (Lane 3), M: 1Kb DNA ladder.

# 3.2. Colony PCR and DNA Sequencing of Positive Transformants

All the 4 and 15 colonies were analyzed by colony PCR using the TrxFus forward and T7 reverse primers that annealed on the pET102 vector around the cloning site. Accordingly, the expected size of the clone containing the plasmid with an insert was around 1500bp. None of the 4 colonies yielded positive result, whereas only colony number 11 from the 15 colonies that resulted from transforming construct containing IgG2 coding sequence yielded positive result (Figure 3). This clone was named IgG211. Alignment of the sequence result of IgG211 on the NCBI database revealed homology with *Camelus dromedarius* heavy chain region with 84% identity. The sequence alignment showed a plus/plus result which indicates that the gene is in correct orientation.



Figure 3: Colony PCR analysis of bacterial transformants harboring the pET102/D-TOPO-IgG2 construct using the TrxFus Forward and T7 Reverse primers. (Lanes 1-11) are bacterial colonies. Only colony number 11 contained the construct with the IgG2 coding sequence that was named  $IgG_211$ . M: 1Kb DNA marker.

# 3.3. Expression, Analysis and Purification of Recombinant Fusion IgG211

Both the IPTG induced and uninducedIgG211 in BL21 (DE3) *E. coli* were both analyzed using SDS-PAGE to test for the expression of IgG2. Evidently, an overexpressed band near 65 kDawas revealed in the induced but not in the un-induced culture (Figure 4). Meanwhile, the expected band size was approximately 62 kDa including the expression of the N-terminal HP-thioredoxin and C-terminal V5 and 6His epitopes. The IPTG induced bacterial culture was analyzed for soluble/insoluble protein. A fusion form of IgG211 protein of approximately 65 kDa was completely found in the insoluble fraction (Fig 4). The recombinant IgG211 fusion protein was eluted and most of it was eluted in the first two fractions that yielded approximately 70% of the protein (Figure5).



**Figure 4**: SDS-PAGE of IPTG induced and un-induced BL21 (DE3) *E coli* cell lysate harboring the  $IgG_211$  construct (A). Lane 1 for induced and lane 2 for un-induced. In B induced lysate was analyzed for insoluble (lane 3) and soluble protein (Lane 4). IgG211 appeared completely in the insoluble fraction (B lane 3). M: prestained molecular weight marker.



**Figure 5**. Purification of IgG211 from a 50 mL of induced BL21 bacterial culture using ProBond column. A 12% SDS-PAGE was done on washing (A) and elution (B) fractions. (Lane 1): induced BL21 bacterial cell lysate with abundant IgG211 fusion protein; (Lanes 2-8): wash fractions, (Lanes 9-19) IgG211 elution fractions with native elution buffer pH 7.8.

### 3.4. Activity Assessment of Purified Recombinant IgG211 Fusion Protein

The purified recombinant IgG211 fusion protein was analyzed by IB using mouse anti camel-HRP to confirm its identity. Purified IgG211 was captured by the mouse anti camel-HRP and appeared as discrete faint band. In addition, many nonspecific bands appeared in the uninduced bacterial lysate (Figure 6). Furthermore, the specificity of the purified recombinant IgG211 fusion protein was analyzed by ELISA. Low binding specificity was observed using SLP-MAPS as coating antigen. However, the relative reactivity index of recombinant IgG211 compared to polyclonal IgG2 was65.9% (Figure 7).



**Figure 6**. SDS-PAGE (A) and IB with mouse anti camel-HRP as a tracer (B) of the purified  $IgG_211$ . (Lanes 1 and 5): induced BL21 bacterial lysate; (Lanes 2 and 6): purified  $IgG_211$ ; (Lanes 3 and 7): un-induced BL21 bacterial lysate; (Lanes 4 and 8): a mix of purified camel IgG1 and IgG3 as positive control, respectively.



Reactivity index of IgG211 = 65.9 %

**Figure 7.** ELISA results of purified recombinant  $IgG_211$  to SLP-MAPS. Both preimmunized and postimmunized camel sera were used as negative and positive controls, respectively.

### 4. Discussion

As research on the dissection of camel immune response and antibody production is still in early stages, the lack of fusion myeloma partner for antibody production hindered the production of camel monoclonal antibodies (MCAbs). Nevertheless, recombinant HCAbs and VHH were successfully prepared through cloning, expression and selections of antigen-specific HCAbs and VHHs in bacteria and yeast (Arbabi Ghahroudi et al., 1997; Van der Vaart et al., 2006; Muyldermans et al., 2009; Franco et al., 2010). In this study, we produced a recombinant full camel HCAb against human IgE in *E coli* for the first time. IgG2 HCAb with coding sequence in the correct orientation was confirmed upon the cloning and transformation in one *E. coli* colony named IgG211.

The IPTG-inducible expression of the recombinant IgG211 fusion protein in BL21 (DE3)  $E \ coli$  revealed that the IgG211 fusion protein was completely found in the insoluble fraction. This was opposite to what was expected, due to the presence of HP-thioredoxin at the N-terminal end which enhances solubility. However, the possible formation of insoluble recombinant proteins in form of inclusion bodies using  $E \ coli$  as n expression host was previously described (Ventura and Villaverde, 2006). Those workers indicated that aggregation of protein in the inclusion bodies renders it as unfolded or improperly folded protein.

The 46kDa size IgG211 was eluted as part of the 62kDa fusion protein which contained a 16 kDa HPthioredoxin at the N-terminal end and a 6His-tag and V5 epitope at the C-terminal end. Due to the presence of the 6His-tag at the C-terminal of the IgG211 fusion protein, it was easily purified using ProBond nickel-chelating resin. Over 70% IgG211 was recovered in the first two elution fractions with relatively high purity. This high purity can be related to its presence in the inclusion bodies aggregates that is common to occur in *E coli* expression host (Ventura and Villaverde, 2006).

The other observation pertaining to this purified recombinant IgG211 fusion protein was its low reactivity against SLP-MAPS immunogen using the ELISA (Fig. 7). In our earlier work, (Al-Qaoud et al., 2015), we showed that the reactivity polyclonal IgG2 against SLP-MAPS was low using the ELISA, but was highly reactive using the flow cytometry technique. Thus, further analysis of the IgG211 recombinant protein by flow cytometry is warranted.

The production and use of orally administered anti huIgE HCAbs as immunotherapeutic agents is of great importance. This is due to several reasons which prefers the use of the aforementioned HCAbs compared to conventional antibodies. The high stability, solubility, affinity and most importantly low immunogenicity of HCAbs has been repeatedly documented. In addition, no cytotoxicity or anti-nanobody antibodies were detected in serum of mice injected with nanobodies for therapeutic purposes (Dumoulin et al., 2002; Cortez-Retamozo et al., 2004; Revets et al., 2005; Coppieters et al., 2006) that favors camel nanobodiesto be used in the treatment of various diseases. Moreover, high sequence homology between camel VH and human VH was confirmed by amino acid sequence analysis that revealed a difference of only 14 amino acid which in turns potentiate humanization process and rendering the humanized camel HCAb less immunogenic than humanized conventional antibody (Vincke et al., 2009; Deschacht et al., 2010). Furthermore, one key advantage that favor the use of camel HCAbs as blocking non-anaphylactogenic anti huIgE antibodies is their monovalent nature in contrast to the bivalent nature of mouse conventional IgG allowing HCAbs capable of targeting free IgE but not crosslinking bound IgE (Harmsen and De Haard, 2007). With these novel properties it is expected that the use of camel HCAbs as anti huIgE blocking antibodies will overcome the side effect that accompanied the use of the commercially available humanized mouse anti huIgE known as Omalizumab (Davydov, 2005; Doding et al., 2005; Slavin et al., 2009).

### 5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the superiority of camel HCAb (IgG2 and IgG3) against huIgE Cɛ3 over conventional camel IgG1 as revealed in earlier work (Al-Qaoud et al., 2015) paved the way toward successful production of recombinant camel HCAbs against SLP-MAPS. IgG211 was produced and expressed in E. coliand initial experiments to characterize it were done here. Evidently, the selection of higher affinity HCAb may be achieved by other techniques such as phage display technology which offers larger repertoire of antigen specific antibodies (Carmen and Jermutus, 2002; Arbabi-Ghahroudi et al., 2009). Presently, we are trying to produce camel nanobodies to be used as orally administered therapeutic drug against huIgE using the recombinant phage display technology.

### Acknowledgement

This study was funded by the Scientific Research Support Fund (Grant No. 2/22/2008), Jordan.

### References

Al-Qaoud K. Yousef S. Rawashdeh A. Khalil R and Abdel-Hafez S. 2015. Blocking of histamine release and IgE binding to FccRI on human basophils by antibodies produced in camels. *Allergy Asthma Immunol Res*, **7**: 583-589.

Arbabi-Ghahroudi M. Tanha J and MacKenzie R 2009. Isolation of monoclonal antibody fragments from phage display libraries. Bacteriophages. Springer, 502: 341-364.

Arbabi-Ghahroudi M. Desmyter A. Wyns L. Hamers R and Muyldermans S. 1997. Selection and identification of single domain antibody fragments from camel heavy-chain antibodies. *FEBS Lett*, **414**: 521-526.

Beasley R. Crane J. Lai CK and Pearce N. 2000. Prevalence and etiology of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, **105**: S466-S472.

Beeh K. Ksoll M and Buhl R. 2000. Elevation of total serum immunoglobulin E is associated with asthma in nonallergic individuals. *Eur Respir J*, **16**: 609-614.

Bukstein DA. Jones CA. Ledford DK. Smith P. Wechsler ME and Urbano FL. 2005. Discussing the COSTS of asthma: controlling outcomes, symptoms, and treatment strategies. *Am J Manag Care*, **11**: S318-S336.

Carmen S and Jermutus L. 2002. Concepts in antibody phage display. *Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic*, **1**: 189-203.

Coppieters K. Dreier T. Silence K. Haard HD. Lauwereys M. Casteels P. Beirnaert E. Jonckheere H. Wiele CV and Staelens L. 2006. Formatted anti-tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  VHH proteins derived from camelids show superior potency and targeting to inflamed joints in a murine model of collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, **54**: 1856-1866.

Cortez-Retamozo V. Backmann N. Senter PD. Wernery U. De Baetselier P. Muyldermans S and Revets H. 2004. Efficient cancer therapy with a nanobody-based conjugate. *Cancer Res*, **64**: 2853-2857.

Davis F. Gossett L. Pinkston K. Liou R. Sun L. Kim Y. Chang N. Chang T. Wagner K and Bews J 1993. Can anti-IgE be used to treat allergy?. Springer semin immunopathol, **15**: 51-73

Davydov L. 2005. Omalizumab (Xolair) for treatment of asthma. *Am Fam Physician*,**71**: 341-342.

Deschacht N. De Groeve K. Vincke C. Raes G. De Baetselier P and Muyldermans S. 2010. A novel promiscuous class of camelid single-domain antibody contributes to the antigen-binding repertoire. *J Immunol*, **184**: 5696-5704.

Doding S. Richter D. Cepelak I and Benko B. 2005. Anti-IgE therapy with omalizumab in asthma and allergic rhinitis. *Acta Pharm*, **55**: 123-138.

Dumoulin M. Conrath K. Van Meirhaeghe A. Meersman F. Heremans K. Frenken LG. Muyldermans S. Wyns L and Matagne A. 2002. Single-domain antibody fragments with high conformational stability. *Protein Sci*, **11**: 500-515.

Franco EJ. Sonneson GJ. DeLegge TJ. Hofstetter H. Horn JR and Hofstetter O. 2010. Production and characterization of a genetically engineered anti-caffeine camelid antibody and its use in immunoaffinity chromatography. *J Chromatogr B*, **878**: 177-186.

Gould HJ and Sutton BJ. 2008. IgE in allergy and asthma today. *Nat Rev Immunol*, **8**: 205-217.

Hamers-Casterman C. Atarhouch T. Muyldermans S. Robinson G. Hammers C. Songa EB. Bendahman N and Hammers R. 1993. Naturally occurring antibodies devoid of light chains. *Nature*, **363**: 446-448.

Harmsen M and De Haard H. 2007. Properties, production, and applications of camelid single-domain antibody fragments. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **77**: 13-22.

MacLean JA and Eidelman FJ. 2001. The genetics of atopy and atopic eczema. *Arch Dermatol*, **137**: 1474-1476.

Muyldermans S. Baral T. Retamozzo VC. De Baetselier P. De Genst E. Kinne J. Leonhardt H. Magez S. Nguyen V and Revets H. 2009. Camelid immunoglobulins and nanobody technology. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, **128**: 178-183.

Novak N and Bieber T. 2003. Allergic and nonallergic forms of atopic diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, **112**: 252-262.

Presta L. Shields R. O'Connell L. Lahr S. Porter J. Gorman C and Jardieu P. 1994. The binding site on human immunoglobulin E for its high affinity receptor. *J Biol Chem*, **269**: 26368-26373.

Rabe KF. Watson N. DENT G. Morton BE. Wagner K. Magnussen H and Heusser CH. 1998. Inhibition of human airway sensitization by a novel monoclonal anti-IgE antibody, 17-9. *Am. J. Respir Crit Care Med*, **157**: 1429-1435.

Revets H. De Baetselier P and Muyldermans S. 2005. Nanobodies as novel agents for cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, **5**: 111-124.

Saerens D. Kinne J. Bosmans E. Wernery U. Muyldermans S and Conrath K. 2004. Single domain antibodies derived from dromedary lymph node and peripheral blood lymphocytes sensing conformational variants of prostate-specific antigen. *J Biol Chem*, **279**: 51965-51972.

Slavin RG. Ferioli C. Tannenbaum SJ. Martin C. Blogg M and Lowe PJ. 2009. Asthma symptom re-emergence after omalizumab withdrawal correlates well with increasing IgE and decreasing pharmacokinetic concentrations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, **123**: 107-113.

Tam JP. 1988. Synthetic peptide vaccine design: synthesis and properties of a high-density multiple antigenic peptide system. *Proc Natl Acad*, **85**: 5409-5413.

Van de Laar T. Visser C. Holster M. Lopez CG. Kreuning D. Sierkstra L. Lindner N and Verrips T. 2007. Increased heterologous protein production by Saccharomyces cerevisiae growing on ethanol as sole carbon source. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, **96**: 483-494.

Van der Vaart J. Pant N. Wolvers D. Bezemer S. Hermans P. Bellamy K. Sarker S. van der Logt C. Svensson L and Verrips C. 2006. Reduction in morbidity of rotavirus induced diarrhoea in mice by yeast produced monovalent llama-derived antibody fragments. *Vaccine*, **24**: 4130-4137.

Ventura S and Villaverde A. 2006. Protein quality in bacterial inclusion bodies. *Trends Biotechnol*, **24**: 179-185.

Vincke C. Loris R. Saerens D. Martinez-Rodriguez S. Muyldermans S and Conrath K. 2009. General strategy to humanize a camelid single-domain antibody and identification of a universal humanized nanobody scaffold. *J Biol Chem*, **284**: 3273-3284.

Wang CY. Walfield AM. Fang X. Hammerberg B. Ye J. Li ML. Shen F. Shen M. Alexander V and MacGlashan DW. 2003. Synthetic IgE peptide vaccine for immunotherapy of allergy. *Vaccine*, **21**: 1580-1590. Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# EntomoToxicity of *Xylopia aethiopica* and *Aframomum melegueta* in Suppressing Oviposition and Adult Emergence of *Callasobruchus maculatus* (Fabricus) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Infesting Stored Cowpea Seeds

Jacobs M. Adesina<sup>1,3,\*</sup>, Adeolu R. Jose<sup>2</sup>, Yallapa Rajashaker<sup>3</sup> and Lawrence A. Afolabi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Crop, Soil and Pest Management Technology, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, P. M. B. 1019, Owo, Ondo State. Nigeria;

<sup>2</sup>Department of Science Laboratory Technology, Environmental Biology Unit, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, P. M. B. 1019, Owo, Ondo State. Nigeria;

<sup>3</sup> Insect Bioresource Laboratory, Institute of Bioresources and Sustainable Development, Department of Biotechnology, Government of India, Takyelpat, Imphal, 795001, Manipur, India.

Received: June 13, 2015 Revised: July 3, 2015 Accepted: July 19, 2015

### Abstract

The cowpea beetle, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Fabricus) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae), is a major pest of stored cowpea militating against food security in developing nations. The comparative study of *Xylopia aethiopica* and *Aframomum melegueta* powder in respect to their phytochemical and insecticidal properties against *C. maculatus* was carried out using a Complete Randomized Design (CRD) with five treatments (0, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 and 2.5g/20g cowpea seeds corresponding to 0.0, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1 and 0.13% v/w) replicated thrice under ambient laboratory condition  $(28\pm2^{\circ}C$  temperature and  $75\pm5\%$  relative humidity). The phytochemical screening showed the presence of flavonoids, saponins, tannins, cardiac glycoside in both plants, while alkaloids was present in *A. melegueta* and absent in *X. aethiopica*. The mortality of *C. maculatus* increased gradually with exposure time and dosage of the plant powders. *X. aethiopica* caused 75.15% adult mortality and *A. melegueta* (51.32%). Conclusively, both plants showed highly useful bioactivity against *C. maculatus* in suppressing oviposition and adult emergence and, therefore, can be used in formulating ecofriendly herbal insecticides.

Keywords: Adult emergence, bioactivity, herbal insecticides, insecticidal properties, oviposition deterrent, phytochemical.

### 1. Introduction

Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.) is an important food crop that accounts for about 60% of human dietary protein intake and can provide a comparatively cheaper alternative to animal proteins in Nigeria. The high protein, amino acid and lysine contents of the seeds make them a natural supplement to staple diet cereals, roots, tubers and fruits (Somta *et al.*, 2008). Stored cowpea grains are heavily infested by the cowpea beetle, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Fabricus) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) and caused over 90% of the insect damage to cowpea seeds. This is the cause of the main reduction in cowpea production (Radha and Susheela, 2014). Damaged cowpea seeds are unsuitable for human consumption and cannot be effectively used for agricultural and commercial purposes as result of the substantial reduction in both quantity and quality.

Management of *C. maculatus* on stored cowpea in Nigeria and developing nations has been primarily through the use of synthetic fumigants over the years. While these synthetic fumigants control are popular and effective, their improper application has resulted in environmental, human health problems and insect resistance. These serious limitation posed by the use of synthetic fumigants as preservatives during storage called for the search for new alternative methods of controlling the stored product insect pests, such as the use of promoting plant products (Ileke *et al.*, 2014). Certain

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: moboladesina@yahoo.com.

plants possess secondary metabolites which act as antifeedants, oviposition deterrents, larvicidal and insect growth regulators (Pugazhvendan *et al.*, 2009). They hold a promise as alternatives to chemical insecticides to reduce pesticide load in the environment and food chain.

Xylopia aethiopica (Dunal) A. Rich. (Family: Annonaceae), popularly known as African pepper, Ethiopian pepper or spice (Ndukwu and Ben-Nwadibia, 2005), is an important, deciduous evergreen, aromatic/medicinal plant, growing up to 20 m high and widely distributed in low land rain forest and moist fringe forests in the Savanna zones and coastal regions of Africa (Kieta et al., 2003). Concoctions prepared from its morphological parts are used in traditional medicine for the treatment of skin infection, candidiasis, cough, fever, dysentery and stomach ache (Okigbo et al., 2005). Extracts from X. aethiopica have been reported to exhibit mosquito repellent (Adewoyin et al., 2006) and termite antifeedant (Lajide et al., 1995) activities. The fruit powder and its essential oil were found effective to control maize weevil (Sitophillus zeamais Motsch) (Kouninkil et al., 2005).

*Aframomum melegueta* K. Schum., known as Alligator pepper or Grains of Paradise (Family *Zingberaceae*), is a herbaceous tropical perennial West Africa spice plant with a short stem growing up to 5m tall, highly branched with lanceolate leaves and adventitious roots (Okujagu, 2008). *A. melegueta* is a very popular spice which imparts a pungent peppery flavor with hints of citrus and used mainly as food, in brewing, and in both veterinary and traditional medicine (Igwe *et al.*, 1999). It is believed to have purgative and hemostatic properties and also to be very effective against schistomiasis (Alaje *et al.*, 2014). Various researchers reported the potential of *A. melegueta* for the management of stored products' insect pests (Ofuya, 1990; Adedire and Lajide, 1999; Onekutu *et al.*, 2015).

However, the ovipositional deterrents activity of the plants documentation is scare and in light of the foregoing, the present study assesses the oviposition deterrent and progeny suppression potential of *X*. *aethiopica* and *A. melegueta* on *C. maculatus* infesting stored cowpea.

### 2. Materials and Methods

The experiment was conducted at the Entomology Laboratory, Department of Crop, Soil and Pest Management Technology, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria (7° 11' N and 5° 35' E) under ambient temperature of  $28\pm2^{\circ}$ C,  $75\pm5^{\circ}$  relative humidity and 12hrs photoperiod. The initial *C. maculatus* culture was obtained from an infested stock of cowpea bought from Ulede Market, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria and sub-cultured on Sokoto white (a susceptible cultivar) in a 2 l kilner jar, covered with muslin cloth to allow for proper ventilation. The jar was kept for the insect to breed and multiply in order to supply insects for the study.

Fruits of *X. aethiopica* and *A. melegueta* were obtained from traditional herbal trader at Ulede Market, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria and were authenticated at the Forestry and Wood Technology Department, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria. The fruits were rinsed in clean water and air dried. The seeds were made into powder using mortar and pestle. The powder was further sieved and packed into plastic containers with tight lids and stored in a laboratory cupboard until use.

Cowpea (cv. Oloyin), used for the experiment, was bought from the food grain stall at Ulede market, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria. Damaged seeds were sorted out by handpicking leaving healthy seeds; these were nevertheless kept in a deep freezer at -15°C for 48 hrs to eliminate any stages of the insect. Powder of X. aethiopica and A. melegueta were evaluated at different concentrations of 0, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 and 2.5g corresponding to 0.0, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1 and 0.13% v/w mixed thoroughly and separately with 20g of uninfested cowpea seeds in 125 ml plastic container. Ten (2-3 days old) unsexed C. maculatus adults were introduced into each plastic containers; these were covered to prevent entry and exist of insects. There was also a control treatment that did not involve the addition of any plant powder onto the seeds. Adult mortality was monitored at 24-h-interval (24, 48, 72, 96 and 120 hrs) post infestation. Insects were considered dead when they did not respond to gentle pressure using a fingertip. To avoid the possibility of death mimicry, the insects were watched for 2 min and again subjected to gentle pressure. Adult mortality was corrected using abbot's formula (Abbot, 1925).

The oviposition deterrent activity was assessed by admixing 0, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0 and 2.5g corresponding to 0.0, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1 and 0.13% v/w of *X. aethiopica* and *A. melegueta* powder with 20g of uninfested cowpea seeds in 125 ml plastic containers. Ten (2-3 days old) unsexed *C. maculatus* adults were introduced into each plastic container covered with lid. The insects were allowed to remain in the container for 7 days to allow the insect oviposit. The number of eggs laid on treated and control containers were counted using a hand lens and the percentage of oviposition deterrent activity was calculated using the formula adopted by Arivoli and Tennyson (2013).

### % oviposition deterrent activity =

 $\frac{\text{no of eggs laid in control dish} - \text{no of eggs laid in treated dish}}{\text{no of eggs laid in control dish} + \text{no of eggs laid in treated dish}} \times \frac{100}{1}$ 

To determine the F1 progeny deterrent efficacy of the plant powder, 20g of cowpea seeds were placed in 125 ml plastic container and admixed with different dosage rates of *X. aethiopica* and *A. melegueta* powder as stated above. After the egg count, the experimental set up was kept undisturbed until the emergence of F1 adults. The number of F1 adults that emerged from each replicate in the control and treated seeds were counted with the aid of aspirator and recorded at 30 days post infestation and was used to calculate percentage reduction in adult emergence. % reduction in adult emergence =

# $\frac{\text{no of emerged adult from control dish-no of emerged adult from treated dish}{\text{no of emerged adult from control dish}} \times \frac{100}{1}$

The phytochemical screening of the plant powders for tannins, saponins, alkaloids and cardiac glycosides were carried out by the methods described by Harborne (1973), Sofowora (1993) and Trease and Evans (1998). For tannin, 5 g of each portion of plant powder was stirred with 10 ml of distilled water and filtered as described by

Trease and Evans (1998). Blue black, green, or blue-green precipitate formed following the addition of few drops of 5% ferric chloride confirmed the presence of tannins.

Salkowski's test, as described by Sofowora (1993), was used to test cardiac glycosides. Plant powder (0.5 g) was dissolved in 2 ml of chloroform prior to the careful addition of 1% (v/v)  $H_2SO_4$  to form a lower layer. A reddish-brown colour at the interface confirmed that cardiac glycoside was present.

In Alkaloids determination, 0.5g of each powder was stirred with 5ml of 5% aqueous HCl on water bath and filtered; 1ml of the filtrate was treated with a few drops of Dragendorff's reagent. Precipitation or turbidity was taken as preliminary evidence for the presence of alkaloids in the plant being evaluated (Harborne, 1973).

The method described by Ekpo *et al.* (2012) was used to determine Saponins. About 0.5g of each plant extract was shaken with 10ml of distilled water in a test tube. Frothing which persists on warming was taken as preliminary evidence for the presence of saponins.

For flavonoids, about 0.5g of each extract was stirred with few drops of Mg strips and conc. HCl was then added. A reddish coloration indicates a positive test for flavonoids (Sofowora, 1993).

Prior to analysis, egg count and adult emergence were subjected to square root transformation and percentages were arc sine transformed to normalize data. All data collected were subjected to Analysis Of Variance (ANOVA) using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for windows version (SPSS, 1999). Treatment means were separated using Least Significant Difference (LSD) at 5% probability level (Gomez and Gomez, 1984). The graph was designed using MS Excel 2010 version.

### 3. Results and Discussion

The contact toxicity on the survival of adult beetles after treatment with the plant powders is presented in Figure 1. The mean percent mortality of C. maculatus was observed to be directly proportional to the exposure period and concentration. Although none of the tested plant powder was able to exert 100% adult mortality, A. melegueta 0.13% v/w (2.5g/20g cowpea) caused 81.14% adult mortality and X. aethiopica exerted 70% adult mortality at 120 hrs post infestation. The striking effects of plant powders could be attributed to the presence of their toxic components and irritating smell which prevented physical contact of adult weevils with grains and caused suffocation or starvation of the pest (Sarwar et al., 2012) or to the induction of some unknown physiological changes (Mathur et al., 1985), which significantly (P<0.05) reduced the number of the tested insect. This shows that both powders contained toxic ingredients for C. maculatus. The insect mortality may equally be due to blocking of spiracles of the insect by dust particles and death caused by asphyxia (Adedire et al., 2011; Fernando and Karunaratne, 2012). Further, it was revealed that the plant powder may cause abrasion of insect cuticle, which led to water loss. The water loss in the insect ultimately results in its death (Sousa et al., 2005). The significantly high mortality rate indicates the probable presence of insecticidal properties in the plants. This confirms the findings of Ajayi and Wintoba (2006) and Onekutu *et al.* (2015) that reported the insecticidal bioactivity of the tested plant against *C. maculatus* infesting stored cowpea.



**Figure 1.** Corrected Mean Percentage Adult Mortality of *C. maculatus* treated with powder of *Xylopia aethiopica* and *Aframomum meleguta*. Means with the same letter for each plant powder are not significantly different using LSD at 95 % confidence level.

The data shown in Figure 2 revealed the effect of the evaluated plant powders on oviposition deterrent of C. maculatus. The result shows that the reduction in oviposition increases with the dosage increase. The higher dosage shows that the insects treated with 2.5g/20g cowpea seeds were found to be effective in suppressing egg laying as compared to lower dosage rate; although no concentration of the plant powders could completely prevent the females from oviposition. Maximum oviposition deterrent activity was observed with A. melegueta. This corroborates with the findings of Olaifa and Erhun (1998) and Adesina and Ofuya (2015) who found out that higher concentration of plant powder of Piper guineense and Secamone afzelii extracts, respectively, significantly reduced C. maculatus oviposition. It is noteworthy that all these plant powders showed more than 50% deterrent activity and significantly suppressed oviposition, even at lower concentration compared to unprotected cowpea seeds. Though, Ofuya (1990) reported that both seed powder and extract of A. melegueta did not significantly affect oviposition and egg hatchability of C. maculatus but, from the present study, it appears that these plant powders might possess oviposition deterrent principles; the survival and egg laying of C. maculatus was significantly affected by the treatment suggesting the presence of insecticidal and ovipositional active compound in the plants which delayed and completely inhibited the oviposition of the insects. This is in agreement with the findings of Abdullah and Muhammad (2004) who reported that the powder of Piper guineense adversely affected survival and egg laying capacity, higher ovicidal effects, reduced oviposition rates. The deterrent activity of the insect might be attributed to the change in the behavior and physiology of the insect after the treatment with the plant powders due to the chemical nature of the powder which adversely affects the egg laving capacity (Shifa Vanmathi, 2010). Besides, the plant powder can reduce insect movement, sexual communication and disrupts mating activities and as well as deterring females from laying

eggs (Ileke *et al.*, 2012). The present study is in agreement with the findings of Dolui *et al.* (2010) and Dolui *et al.* (2012) who reported a considerable reduction in the number of eggs laid per female *Helopeltis theivora* after treatment with *X. aethiopica*. In a related development, Gehlot and Singhvi (2006) and Ravinder (2011) reported that oviposition of *C. maculatus* was also significantly reduced by the treatment of Eucalyptus leaf extract, turmeric powder, black pepper powder and garlic clove powder.

It is pertinent to note that shortened adult life-span by the treatments must have also been responsible for reduced oviposition. More so, since female beetles deposit most of their eggs in the first 3 days of adult life (Wasserman, 1985), any reduction in adult lifespan, as a result of the plant powder would be expected to have, contributed to the reduced oviposition



**Figure 2**. Mean percentage oviposition deterrent of *C. maculatus* on treated cowpea seeds. Means with the same letter for each plant powder are not significantly different using LSD at 95 % confidence level.

A significant reduction in adult emergence was recorded among the various treatments (Figure 3). In the present study, adult emergence decreased significantly (P<0.05) as the concentration of the powders increased. The result indicated that the adult emergence reduction is dosage rate dependent. The reduction in adult emergence could either be due to egg mortality or larval mortality or even reduction in the egg hatching. It has been reported that the larvae hatching from the eggs of Callosobruchus species must penetrate the seeds to survive (FAO, 1999). The plant powders might have inhibited the larval penetration into the seed and thus showed maximum adult emergence reduction (Khalequzzman and Goni, 2009). Jayakumar et al. (2003) reported that plant products have obvious effects on postembryonic survival of insects and resulting to reduction in adult emergence in all the concentrations of different plants. Annie Bright (2001) and Raja et al. (2001) reported that botanicals inhibit adult emergence of C. maculatus in cowpea. They further stated that when the eggs were laid on treated seeds, the toxic substance present in the plant products may enter into the egg through chorion and suppressed their embryonic development, thus, reduced adult emergence. The ability of the evaluated plants to significantly (P<0.05) suppress adult emergence suggested that the plants might possess ovicidal and larvicidal properties and this confirms the findings of Ofuya (1990).



**Figure 3**. Mean percentage adult emergence reduction of *C. maculatus* protected with *Xylopia aethiopica* and *A*framomum *melegueta*. Means with the same letter for each plant powder are not significantly different using LSD at 95 % confidence level.

The results of the phytochemical constituents of both plant powders, as shown in Table 1, revealed the presence of tannins, cardiac glycosides and saponins in both plants, while alkaloids is absent in *X. aethiopica* and present in *A. melegueta*. Secondary metabolites such as phenolic compounds, saponins alkaloids, flavonoids and terpenoids have been identified to exhibit strong activities against several pathogens and insect pests (De Geyter *et al.*, 2007).

 Table 1. Phtyochemical constituents of Xylopia aethiopica and Aframonum melegueta

Phtyochemical	X. aethiopica	A. melegueta
Alkaloids	-ve	+ve
Flavonoids	+ve	+ve
Cardiac glycosides	+ve	+ve
Tannins	+ve	+ve
Saponins	+ve	+ve

Karamanoli et al. (2011) reported that tannins exert their action by combination of mechanism that includes iron chelation and enzyme inhibition. Though the exact mechanism behind the observed action of both plant powders is not yet known. Chaieb (2010) extensively reviewed insecticidal effects of saponins, linking their insecticidal activity with cholesterol which results in impaired ecdysteroid synthesis. Some of the reported observed effects of saponins are increased mortality, lowered food intake, weight reduction, retardation in development and decreased reproduction (Chaieb, 2010). Dolui et al. (2012), on the other hand, reported that tannin combined with protein to inhibit enzyme activity and reduce the availability of protein in haeolymph in insects. The ability of the plant powders to reduce the egg laying capability by the female beetles may be attributed to the presence of flavonoids in the plant. Righi-Assia et al. (2010) stated that flavonoids significantly reduced the egg laying and fertility in C. Chinensis. The insecticidal activity exhibited by the evaluated plants in this study correlates with the findings of Dolui et al. (2012) and Kannahi and Vinotha (2013) who previously reported the pesticidal potentials of the plants. In fact, complex mixtures of secondary compounds in plant extracts were

reported to contribute to a great deal for synergism, which enhances the joint action of active compounds against insect and reduces the rate of resistance development (Feng and Isman, 1995).

Adedire and Lajide (1999) and Sugita *et al.* (2013) reported 6-paradol, 6-gingerol and 6-shagaol (an alkyl phenol aromatic ketones) as the major insecticidal constituent of *A. melegueta* which is responsible for sharp and peppery taste of the seeds. While Olonisakin *et al.* (2007) reported the presence of  $\beta$ -pinene,  $\beta$ -phellandrene,  $\gamma$ -terpinene, eucalyptol and  $\alpha$ -pinene as the predominant bioactive compounds responsible for the insecticidal activity of *X. aethiopica*, *A. melegueta* was reported to contain the following bioactive molecules:  $\alpha$ -caryophyllene,  $\beta$ -caryophyllene, E-nerolidol, linalool, gingerdione, paradol, shagaol and humulene (Owokotomo *et al.*, 2014)

Findings from the present study confirm the plant bioactivity in suppressing oviposition and adult emergence of *C. maculatus* and thus are efficacious in protecting cowpea seeds from the insect infestation and damage at limited resource farmers' level and low volume seed storage. Since adult *C. maculatus* do not feed on stored cowpea seeds but only deposit their eggs, admixing the plant powders is recommended as ecofriendly and non-toxic methods in the management of *C. maculatus* for short duration storage. A more extensive study is necessary to determine the relative amounts of these materials quantitatively required for pest control strategy.

### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to Mr. Afolabi, L.A. Pioneer Dean, Faculty of Agricultural Technology, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, Owo, Ondo State, Nigeria for his technical advice and proof reading of the draft manuscript. Also, the authors acknowledge Mr. Olaoye Azeez, Department of Science Laboratory, Rufus Giwa Polytechnic, Owo, Ondo state, Nigeria for collecting all the data needed for this study.

### References

Abbott WS. 1925. A method of computing the electiveness of an insecticide. *J Econ Entomol*, **18**: 265-267.

Abdullahi YM and Muhammad S. 2004. Assessment of the toxic potentials of some plant powders on survival and development of *Callosobrochus maculatus*. *Afr J Biotech*, **3:** 50-62.

Adedire CO and Lajide L. 1999. Toxicity and oviposition deterrence of some plants extracts on cowpea storage bruchid, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Fabricius). *J Plant Dis Protect*, **106**: 647-653.

Adedire CO. Obembe OO. Akinkurolere RO and Oduleye O. 2011. Response of *Callosobrochus maculatus* (Fab.) (Coleoptera: Chyrysomelidae) to extracts of cashew kernels. *J Dis Plant Protect*, **118:** 75-79.

Adesina JM and Ofuya TI. 2015. Oviposition deterrent and egg hatchability suppression of *Secamone afzelii* (Schult) K. Schum leaf extract on *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Fabricius) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **8**: 95-100.

Adewoyin FB. Odaibo AB and Adewunmi CO. 2006. Mosquito repellent activity of *Piper guineense* and *Xylopia aethiopica* 

fruits oils on Aedes aegypti. Afri J Tradit Complement Altern Med, 3: 79-83.

Ajayi FA. and Wintoba HU. 2006. Suppression of cowpea bruchd (*Callosobruchus maculatus* (F.) infesting stored cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.) Walp.) seeds with some edible plant powders. *Pak J Biol Sci*, **9**: 1454-1459.

Alaje DO. Owolabi KT. Olakunle TP. Oluoti OJ and Adetuberu IA. 2014. Nutritional, minerals and phytochemicals composition of *Garcinia cola* (Bitter cola) and *Aframonum melegueta* (Alligator pepper). *IOSR J Environ Sci Toxicol Food Tech*, **8**: 86-91.

Annie Bright A. Babu A. Ignacimuthu S and Dorn S. 2001. Efficacy of *Andrographis peniculata Nzes*. on *Callosobruchus chinensis* L. during post-harvest storage of cowpea. *Indian J Exp Biol*, **39**: 715-718.

Arivoli S and Tennyson S. 2013. Screening of plant extracts for oviposition activity against *Spodoptera litura* (Fab). (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Intl J Fauna and Biol Stud*, **1**: 20-24.

Chaieb I. 2010. Saponins as insecticides, A Review. *Tunisia J Plant Protect*, 5: 39-50.

De Geyter E. Lambert E. Geelen D and Smagghe G. 2007. Novel advances with plant saponins as natural insecticides to control pest insects. *Pest Tech*, **9:** 96-105.

Dolui AK. Debnath M and De B. 2010. Phytochemical and insecticidal screening of the leaf extracts of *Heliotropium indicum* L. *Asian J Chem*, **22**: 5331-5334.

Dolui AK. Debnath M. De B and Kumar A. 2012. Reproductive activities of *Heliotropium indicum* isolate against *Helopeltis theivora* and toxicity evaluation in mice. *J Environ Biol*, **33**: 603-607.

Ekpo IA. Agbor RB. Osuagwu AN. Ekanem BE. Okpako EC and Urua IS. 2012. Phytochemical and comparative studies of the stem bark and root of Xylopia aethiopica (Dunal.) A. Rich. World J Biol Res, **5**: 41-44.

FAO 1999. Botanical oils as grain protectants In: The use of spices and medicinals as bioactive protectants for grains. FAO Agricultural Services Bulletin No. 137. FAO, Vialle delle Terme di Caracalla, Rome, Italy.

Feng R and Isman MB. 1995. Selection for resistance to Azadirachtin in green peach aphid. *Experientia*, **51**: 831-833.

Fernando HS and Karunaratne MM. 2012. Ethnobotanicals for storage insect pest management: Effect of powdered leaves of *Olax zeylanica* in suppressing infestations of rice weevil *Sitophilus oryzae* (L.) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). *J Trop For Environ*, **2**: 20-25.

Gehlot L and Singhvi PM. 2006. Effect of plant extracts against *Callosobruchus maculatus* and seed germination of moth bean (*Vigna aconitifolia*). *J Applied Zoo Res*, **18**: 165-168.

Gomez KA and Gomez AA. 1984. Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. John Wiley and Sons Inc, New York, USA.

Harborne JB. 1973. **Phytochemical methods**: A guide to modern technique of plant analysis. Charpman and Hall, London.

Igwe EA Emeruwa LC and Modie JA. 1999. Ocular toxicity of *Afrornomium melegueta* (alligator pepper) on healthy Igbo of Nigeria. *J Ethnophamacol*, **65**: 203-206.

Ileke KD. Odeyemi OO and Ashamo MO. 2012. Insecticidal activity of *Alstonia boonei* De Wild powder against cowpea bruchid *Callosobrochus maculatus* (Fab.) (Coleoptera: Chyrysomelidae) in stored cowpea seeds. *Intl J Biol*, **4**: 125-131.

Ileke KD Odeyemi OO and Ashamo MO. 2014. Entomotoxic effect of cheese wood, *Alstonia boonei* De Wild against cowpea bruchid, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Fab.) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae), attacking cowpea seeds in storage. *Mol Entomol*, **5:** 10-17.

Jayakumar M. Raja N and Ignacimuthu S. 2003. Efficacy of crude extracts of *Hyptis suaveolens* and *Melochia corchorifolia* on pulse beetle *Callosobruchus maculatus*. In: Ignacimuthu S. and Jeyaraj S. (eds.), **Biological control of Insect Pests.** Phoenix Publishing House, New Delhi, pp. 218-221.

Kannahi M and Vinotha V. 2011. Antimicrobial activity of *Lawsonia inermis* leaf extracts against some human pathogens. *Intl J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci*, **2**: 342-349.

Karamanoli K. Bouligaraki P. Constantinidou HI and Lindow SE. 2011. Polyphenolic compounds on leaves limit iron availability and affect growth of epiphytic bacteria. *Ann Appl Biol*, **159**: 99-108.

Keita B. Sidibe L. Figueredo G and Chalchat J. 2003. Chemical composition of the essential oil of *Xylopia aethiopica* (Dunal) A. Rich. from Mali. *J Essent oil Res*, **15**: 267-269.

Khalequzzman M and Goni SH. 2009. Toxic potentials of some plant powders on survival and development of *Callosobrochus maculatus* (F.) and *Callosobrochus chinensis* L. J Life Earth Sci, **3:** 1-6.

Kouninkil H. Haubruge E. Noudjou FE. Lognay G. Malaisse F. Ngassoum MB. Goudoum A. Mapongmetsem PM. Ngamo LS and Hance T. 2005. Potential use of essential oils from Cameroon applied as fumigant or contact insecticides against *Sitophilus zeamais* Motsch. *Comm Agric Appl Biol Sci*, **70**: 787-792.

Lajide L. Escoubas P and Mitzutani J. 1995. Termite antifeedant activity in *Xylopia aethiopica*. *Phytochem*, **40**: 1105-1112.

Mathur YK. Kirpa S and Salik R. 1985. Evaluation of some grain protectants against *Callosobruchus chinensis* (L.) on black gram. *Bull Grain Technol*, **23**: 253-259.

Ndukwu BC and Ben-Nwadibia NB. 2005. Ethnomedicinal aspects of plants used as spices and condiments in the Niger Delta Area of Nigeria. *Ethnobot leaflets:* Vol. 2005: Iss. 1, Article 10. Available at:

http://opensiuc.lib.siu.edu/ebl/vol2005/iss1/10.

Ofuya TI. 1990. Oviposition deterrence and ovicidal properties of some plant powders against *Callosobruchus maculatus* in stored cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) seed during storage. *Agric Sci Camb*, **115**: 343-345.

Okigbo RN. Mbajiuka CS and Njoku CO. 2005. Antimicrobial potentials of (UDA) *Xylopia aethiopica* and *Ocimum gratissimum* L. on some pathogens of man. *Intl J Mol Med Adv Sci*, **1**: 392-397.

Okujagu TF. 2008. **Medicinal plants of Nigeria, South East Zone.** Vol. 1 Nigerian National Medicinal Development Agency, Federal Ministry of Science and Technology Lagos, Nigeria, p. 180.

Olaifa JI and Erhun WO. 1998. Laboratory evaluation of Piper guineense for the protection of cowpea against Callosobruchus maculatus. Insect Sci Appl, **9:** 55-59.

Olonisakin AM. Oladimeji O and Lajide L. 2007. Composition and antibacterial activity of steam distilled oils of *Xylopia aethiopica* and *Syzigium aromaticum*. J Eng Appl Sci, **2:** 236-240.

Onekutu A. Nwosu LC and Nnolim NC. 2015. Effect of seed powder of three pepper species on the bionomics of cowpea

bruchid, Callosobruchus maculatus Fabricius. Intl J Sic Res Publ, 5: 1-5.

Oparaeke AM. Dike MC and Amatobi CI. 2005. Field Evaluation of Extracts of Five Nigerian Spices for Control of Post-Flowering Insect Pests of Cowpea, *Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp. *Plant Protect. Sci*, **41:** 14-20.

Owokotomo IA. Ekundayo O and Oguntuase BJ. 2014. Chemical constituents of the leaf, stem, root and seed essential oils of *Aframomum melegueta* (K. Schum) from South West Nigeria. *Intl Res J Pure Appl Chem*, **4:** 395-401.

Pugazhvendan SR. Elumalai K. Ronald Ross P and Soundararajan M. 2009. Repellent activity of chosen plant species against *Tribolium castaneum*. *World J Zool*, **4**: 188-190.

Radha R and Susheela P. 2014. Efficacy of plant extracts on the toxicity, ovipositional deterrence and damage assessment of the cowpea weevil, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae). *J Entomol Zool Stud*, **2:** 16-20.

Raja N. Babu A. Dorn S and Ignacimuthu S. 2001. Potential of plants for protecting stored pulses from *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) infestation. *Biol Agric Hort*, **19**: 19- 27.

Ravinder S. 2011. Bioecological studied and control of pulse beetle *Callasobruchus chinensis* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) on cowpea seeds. *Adv Appl Sci Res*, **2:** 295-302.

Righi-Assia AF. Khelil MA. Medjdoub-Bensaad F and Righi K. 2010. Efficacy of oils and powders of some medicinal plants in biological control of the pea weevil (*Callosobruchus chinensis* L.). *Afr J Agric Res*, **5:** 1474-1481.

Sarwar M. Ahmad N. Bux M and Tofique M. 2012. Potential of plant materials for the management of cowpea bruchid *Callosobruchus analis* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) in gram *Cicer arietinum* during storage. *The Nucleus*,**49**: 61-64.

Shifa Vanmathi J. Padmalatha C. Ranjit Singh AJ and Suthakar Isaac J. 2010. Efficacy of selected plant extracts on oviposition deterrent and adult emergence activity of *Callosobruchus Maculatus* F. (Bruchidae: Coeleoptera). *Global J Sci Frontier Res*, **10**: 2-7.

Sofowora A. 1993. Screening plants for bioactive agents, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Sunshine House, Ibadan, Nigeria.

Somta C. Somta P. Tomooka N. Ooi PA. Vaughan DA and Srinivies P. 2008. Characterization of new sources of mungbean (*Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek) resistance to bruchids, *Callosobruchus* spp. (Coleoptera: Brunchidae). *J Stored Prod Res*, **44**: 316-321.

Sousa AH. Maracaja PB. Silva RM. Moura MN and Andrade WG 2005. Bioactivity of vegetal powders against *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) in Caupi bean and seed physiological analysis. *Revista de Biolo E Ciencias Da Terr*, **5**: 19-23.

SPSS. 1999. SPSS 10.0.1 for Windows. SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois.

Sugita J. Yoneshiro T. Hatano T. Aita S. Ikemoto T. Uchiwa H. Iwanaga T. Kameya T. Kawai Y. Trease GE and Evans WC. 1998. **Pharmacognosy**. Macmillan publishers, Brailliar Tiridel, Canada

Wasserman SS. 1981. Host induced oviposition markers in the cowpea weevil *Callosobrochus maculatus*. *Ann Entomolo Soc Ame*, **74**: 242-245.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# A New Record of Two Species of Hydra in Iraq: An Ecological and Histological Study

Luay A. Ali<sup>1,\*</sup>, Yahya A. Shekha<sup>2</sup>, Sherwan T. Ahmad<sup>3</sup> and Falah M. Aziz<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biology, College of Education;

<sup>2</sup> Environmental Sciences Department., College of Science;

<sup>3</sup> Department of Biology, College of Science, University of Salahaddin, Erbil, Iraq.

Received: May 19, 2015 Revised: July 9, 2015 Accepted: July 23, 2015

### Abstract

Hydras are freshwater cnidarians. They are found on all the continents except Antarctica, and they are also found on Continental Island but are apparently absent from oceanic island. The two species of brown hydra, Hydra vulgaris (Pallas, 1766) and Hydra oligactis (Pallas, 1766) were recorded for the first time in Iraq from samples collected from two ponds in Erbil province Northern part of Iraq during May 2013. Some physical and chemical properties of water were studied among them; water temperature reached to 22.5 °C, with neutral pH value most of other studied parameters indicated that water is clean, cool and not polluted.

Keywords: Cnidarian, Brown Hydra, fresh water, Iraq.

### 1. Introduction

Cnidarians are mostly marine animals; but they can be found in nearly all types of freshwater (i.e., streams, rivers, ponds and lakes), and occur mainly in mesotrophic to eutrophic habitats (Jankowski et al., 2008). Hydra, a freshwater polyp belonging to phylum Cnidaria and class Hydrozoa, is globally distributed except in the Antarctic region and Oceanic islands (Campbell, 1987).

Many previous studies were carried out on the hydra in different parts of the world. The first record of Hydra cauliculata was published by Hyman (1938) in which he reported the distributional notes of many other species especially Hydra littoralis in North America. Campbell (1999) recorded for the first time three species of hydra in Madagascar, which were Hydra viridissima, H. madagascarensis and Hydra sp. On the other hand, the first record of brown hydra, Hydra oligactis in Turkey was carried out by Şaşi and Balik (2002) in Topçam reservoir. Their study included a study of some ecological factors of reservoir water as temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH, transparency and conductivity. Reddy et al. (2011) conducted a study on the description and phylogenetic characterization of common hydra from India. While the presence of Hydra vulgaris for the first time in Los Padres Lagoon reservoir in Argentina was reported by Deserti and Zamponi (2011). Also, Deserti et al. (2011) published an investigation on Hydra genus in Argentina; the study included the main taxonomic characters of the four groups of hydra.

In Iraq, during the two last decades, many studies have been published on the different groups of invertebrates. However, there are no published information and no zoogeographic studies on cnidaria in Iraq. It is noteworthy that the present study records two species of Hydra for the first time in Iraqi inland water and gives their morphological description and key characteristics.

### 2. Materials and Methods

The study was made at two sites the one of small pond at Greater Zab River near Geaitly village and the other in a pond near Piran village, Erbil Governorate. At the study sites, the water depth varied from 15 cm near the banks to more than 2 m near the center, depending on local rainfall and water feeding from the river. The bottom was muddy and often filled with litter from overhanging trees (Fig. 1). Samples were taken on May (2013) in which Ceratophyllum demersum (Ceratophyllaceae) and attached submerged parts of Typha angustifolia L. macrophytes were taken out of from the bottom of the pond. The samples were stored in a package that contained water from the site and were transported to the laboratory. In the laboratory, the samples were placed in a glass aquarium that was 20 cm in diameter, with an aerator.

At the same time the samples were made, the main limnological parameters: water temperature, pH and electrical conductivity were taken in the field. In addition, the following analyses were done in the laboratory: dissolved oxygen, biochemical oxygen demand, chemical

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: luay\_a\_a@yahoo.com.
oxygen demand, orthophosphate, nitrate, nitrite and ammonium as described in (APHA 1998) (Table 1). Brown hydra was separated from the plant parts and was readily collected with a Pasteur pipette. Twice per week water was added from the pond. During this week, and under these conditions, measurements of the extended hydras were made using a micrometer under a microscope. The samples were identified according to Thorp and Covich (2001) and Schuchert (2010).



Figure 1. Map of Northern part of Iraq shows studied sites

# 3. Results and Discussion

#### 3.1. Ecological factors

Brown hydra was observed in two locations, Geaitly village (about 30 km west of Erbil city) in a pond where our samples were collected and in Piran village (about 80 km north of Erbil city); both sites are characterized by clean water type. Water properties of the studied sites are found in (Table 1), water temperature reached to 22.5 °C, with neutral pH value most of other studied parameters indicated that water is clean, cool and not polluted, and cleaner than others. Deserti and Zamponi (2011) and Campbell (1999) stated that the most consistent type of water in which hydra could be found is, for one reason or another, excluded from most human activities.

 Table 1. Some physico- chemical water quality parameters of studied sites.

Ponds	Water Temp.	pН	EC (µS.cm <sup>-1</sup> )	DO ppm	BOD₅ppm	COD ppm	$PO_4 \mu g. l^{-1}$	NO <sub>2</sub> µg NO <sub>2</sub> -N.I <sup>-1</sup>	NO <sub>3</sub> mg NO <sub>3</sub> -N.I <sup>-1</sup>	$ m NH_4$ $ m \mu g  NH_4$ -N.I <sup>-1</sup>
1	22.5	7.45	440	5.9	3.4	27	0.85	0.68	0.76	9.36
2	18.5	7.71	450	6.5	2.3	18	0.35	0.34	2.53	5.20

#### 3.2. Description of Hydra Vulgaris Pallas, 1766

Polyps were brown in color, without a distinct stalk, the length of the column ranged from 1.97 to 9.88 mm and the width from 0.3 to 0.8 mm. The number of tentacles per polyp is 5-7, it was transparent and moniliform. Tentacles are shorter than body column reached up to 3/4 of the column. Hypostome was brown color and conical shape (Fig. 2).

# 3.2.1. Asexual Reproduction

Only one specimen displayed two buds at different development stages, they are located underneath the half of the column and they were brown in color. Tentacles emerged asynchronously (discontinuous) on buds, two tentacles emerged first, opposite each other, followed by two more perpendicular to the first pair, whereas the fifth on appeared randomly (Fig. 3). Buds has 5-7 tentacles.

# 3.2.2. Sexual Reproduction

They were not found.

#### 3.3. Description of Hydra oligactis Pallas, 1766

Polyps were pale translucent brown in color, the length the column ranged from 15 to 25 mm with the base distinctly narrowed to form a stalk or foot, the number of tentacles per polyp is 6-9, it was transparent and moniliform. Tentacles are very long, which may extend to 5 cm or more when relaxed (Fig. 4). Hydra oligactis is dioecious, with males and females occurring as separate individuals.

#### 3.3.1. Asexual Reproduction

Only one specimen displayed three buds at different development stages, they are located underneath the half of the column and they were translucent brown. Two lateral tentacles arising before the others on buds. Buds has 5-6 tentacles.

#### 4. Nematocysts

The four characteristic nematocyst types were observed in both recorded species (Fig. 5).

Stenoteles are pear-shaped (pyriform), they were found in tentacles and in column. Its length  $9.7 \pm 1.35 \ \mu m$  and width  $7.72 \pm 1.12 \ \mu m$ .

The atrichous isorhiza were less abundant, and were present only in the tentacles. They are cylindrical in shape,  $8 \pm 0.7 \,\mu\text{m}$  length and  $3.53 \pm 0.3 \,\mu\text{m}$  width.

The holotrichous isorhiza were the least abundant nematocyst. They are paramecium-like and some cylindrical, 10  $\pm$  0.45  $\mu m$  length and 4.19  $\pm$  0.29  $\mu m$  width.

Desmonemes were the most abundant nematocysts. They were present in the tentacles only, and were pyriform in shape. Its length 6.26  $\pm$  0.47  $\mu$ m and width 4.43  $\pm$  0.35  $\mu$ m.

This group of hydra (brown hydra) was studied previously by different researcher in different parts of the world (Schulze, 1917; Campbell, 1989; Deserti and Zamponi, 2011; among others). However, in Iraq, there are no previous studies on this group; the present study is regarded the first one to record the two species of hydra in Iraq, particularly in Erbil province Northern part of Iraq. The description and measurements of the present specimens are nearly close to those reported by Thorp and Covich (2001) and Deserti *et al.* (2011).



**Figure 2**. Photographs of *Hydra vulgaris*, A. *H. vulgaris* with buds. B. Moniliform tentacles. C. Hypostome



Figure 3. The discontinuous growth of tentacles (10X)



Figure 4. Photographs of *Hydra vulgaris*, A. *H. oligactis* with buds. B,C. Moniliform tentacles. D. Stalk (Foot).



Figure 5. Type of Nematocysts: A-D *Hydra vulgaris*; A. Stenoteles, B. Atrichous isorhzas, C. Holotrichous isorhizas, D. Desmonemes. E-H *Hydra oligactis*; E. Stenoteles, F. Atrichous isorhzas, G. Holotrichous isorhizas, H. Desmonemes

#### References

American Public Health Association (A.P.H.A). 1998. **Standard methods for the Examination of water and wastewater**, 20<sup>th</sup> ed. N W Washington, DC.

Campbell RD. 1987. A new species of Hydra (Cnidaria: Hydrozoa) from North America with comments on species clusters within the genus. *Zool J Linn So*, **91**: 253–263.

Campbell RD. 1989. Taxonomy of the European Hydra (Cnidaria; Hydrozoa): a re-examination of its history with emphasis on the species *H. vulgaris* Pallas, *H. attenuata* Pallas and *H. circumcincta* Schulze. Zool J Linn Soc, **95**: 219-244.

Campbell RD. 1999. The Hydra of Madagascar (Canidaria: Hydrozoa). *Annls Limnol*, **35**: 95-104.

Deserti MI and Zamponi MO. 2011. *Hydra vulgaris* Pallas, 1766, (=Hydra attenuata) (Cnidaria; Hydrozoa) from the Los Padres Lagoon (Buenos Aires province, Argentina). *R bras Bioci Porto Alegre*, **9**: 482-487.

Deserti MI. Zamponi MO and Escalante A H. 2011. The genus Hydra from Argentina. I. *Hydra vulgaris* pedunculata subsp. nov. (Cnidaria, Hydrozoa). *Rev Rea Acad Gal de Cienc*, **30**: 5-14.

Hyman LH. 1938. Taxonomic studies on the Hydra of North America. V1 Americ Natur Hist, **1003**: 1-9.

Jankowski T. Collins AC and Campbell RD. 2008. Global diversity of inland water cnidarians. *Hydrobiol*, **595**: 35-40.

Reddy PC. Barve A and Ghaskadbi S. 2011. Description and phylogenetic characterization of common hydra from India. *Curr Sci*, **101**: 736-738.

Şaşi H and Balik S. 2002. The first record of the Brown hydra, *Hydra oligactis* (Cnidaria) in Turkey. *J Zool Med East*, **27**: 120-127.

Schulze P. 1917. Neue beitrage zu einer Monographic der Gattung Hydra. Archiv fur biontologgie, **4**: 29-119.

Schuchert P. 2010. The European athecate hydroids and medusa (Hydrozoa, Cnidaria): Capitata part 2. *Rev Sui Zool*, **117**: 337-555.

Thorp JH and Covich AP. 2001. Ecology and Classification of North American Freshwater Invertebrates, Second ed. Academic press, New York.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# A Comparative Study of *in vitro* Antioxidant Activity and Phytochemical Constituents of Methanol Extract of Aframomum melegueta and Costus afer Leaves

Tinu Okugbo<sup>1</sup> and Kelly Oriakhi<sup>2,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Basic Sciences, Benson Idahosa University;

<sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Biochemistry, School of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Medical Science, University of Benin, Benin City, Nigeria;

Received: April 25, 2015 Revised: July 24, 2015 Accepted: July 29, 2015

# Abstract

Based on local claims on the efficacy of *Aframomum melegueta* (alligator pepper) and *Costus afer* (ginger lily) in the treatment of malaria, the present study compared the antioxidant activity and phytochemical constituents of extracts of *A. melegueta* and *C. afer* leaves. Methanol extracts of the plant leaves were obtained using standard procedures. The antioxidant property of the plants extracts were evaluated using DPPH (1,1-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl) radical, Total Phenol Content (TPC), Total Flavonoid Content (TFC), Proanthocyanidin Content (PC), Ferric acid Reducing Antioxidant Potential (FRAP) and ThioBarbituric Acid Reducing Substances (TBARS) assay. The phytochemical screening test revealed the presence of alkaloids, reducing sugars, flavonoids, tannins, saponins, steroids, cardiac glycosides and terpenoids in both extracts. The antioxidant study showed that the *A. melegueta* extract had higher DPPH radical scavenging ability (IC<sub>50</sub> of 122.25ug/ml), FRAP (35.38µmol Fe(II)/g) and TBARS (% inhibition of 62.08%) than *C. afer* (IC<sub>50</sub> of 156.48ug/ml, 12.25 µmol Fe(II)/g, and 42.5%, respectively). The *C. afer* extract, however, recorded higher levels of TFC, PC and a lower TPC content when compared with the *A. melegueta* counterpart. The results suggest that *C. afer* and *A. melegueta* extracts could serve as free radical scavengers, acting as primary antioxidants. The results support local claims of their therapeutic uses in the treatment of malaria in folklore medicine.

Keywords: Aframomum melegueta, Costus afer, phytochemical, antioxidant, Medicinal plant.

## 1. Introduction

Medicinal plants have been used in folk medicine for generations in most of the cultures throughout the world and are still one of the primary sources of treatment in many areas today. However, among the 250,000 -500,000 species of plants on earth, only a relatively small percentage (1 - 10%) is used for food by humans and animals (Borris, 1996), while a higher percentage may serve medicinal purposes. The medicinal values of plants have been claimed to lie in their phytochemical components including alkaloids, tannins, flavonoids and other phenolic compounds, which produce a definite physiological action on the human body (Anyasor, 2011). Phytochemicals have been reported to protect the cell constituents against destructive oxidative damage, inhibition of hydrolytic and oxidative enzymes including lipid peroxidation, thus limiting the risk of various degenerative diseases associated with oxidative stress (Vinary et al., 2010).

*Costus afer* Ker-Gawl (Costaceae) is among 150 species of stout, perennial and rhizomatous herbs of the genus *Costus* (Edeoga and Okoli, 2000). It is found in the forest belt of Senegal, South Africa, Guinea, Niger, Sierra Leone and Nigeria (Burkill, 1985; Edeoga and Okoli, 2000). *C. afer* is commonly called bush cane, *irekeomode* (Yoruba) and *opete* (Igbo). It bears white and yellow flowers (Stentoft, 1988). The stem, seeds and rhizomes are harvested from the wild and contain several bioactive metabolites. *C. afer* is highly valued for its anti-diabetic, anti-inflammatory and anti-arthritic properties in South-East and South-West Nigeria (Soladoye and Oyesika, 2008). It is also widely used in Nigeria for the treatment of cough, malaria, venereal diseases, skin eruption and inflammation (Okoko, 2009).

Aframomum meleguetais a West African plant, with common (local) names such as "alligator pepper," "guinea pepper" and "grain of paradise." It is a member of the family Zingiberaceae and is locally called 'atare' (Yoruba). It is widely spread across tropical rain forest regions of Africa including Nigeria, Liberia, Sierra Leone, Ghana, Cameroon, Cote D' Ivoire and Togo. The plant

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: kelly.oriakhi@uniben.edu.

possesses both medicinal and nutritive values. The phytochemicals obtained from the seed has been used for years in the treatment of infectious diseases. The fruit pulp is chewed as a refreshing stimulant and the seeds and leaves are used for seasoning foods and in local medicine. It is also used as a remedy for a variety of ailments such as snakebite, diarrhea, smallpox, chickenpox, wounds, cough, anaemia, rheumatism, measles, malaria, toothache, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes and fertility control (Olowokudejo, 2008).

A number of studies have been conducted on the phytochemistry and pharmacology of the individual plant extract, but to the best of our knowledge there have been no comparative studies on the methanol extracts of both plants. Thus, the present study comparatively evaluates the phytochemical constituents and *in vitro* antioxidant activities of methanol extracts of *Costus afer* and *Aframomum melegueta* leaves..

# 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Plant Materials

The leaves of Costus afer and Aframomum melegueta were collected from a farm in Edo State, Nigeria. The leaves were identified and authenticated by a Botanist in the Department of Plant Biology and Biotechnology, University of Benin.

#### 2.2. Preparation of Crude Extract

The leaves of both plants were rinsed thoroughly with distilled water and allowed to dry under shade. The dried samples were then pulverized and stored in an air tight container. Two hundred grams (200 g) of each sample were extracted in 1000 mL of absolute methanol at room temperature for 72 hours. After that, each of the sample were filtered using Whatman No 50 filter paper and the filtrate evaporated to dryness using a rotary evaporator to give a percentage yield of 11.43 % (Costus afer extract) and 20.10 % (Aframomum melegueta extract). The resultant yields were stored in air-tight bottles and kept in the refrigerator maintained at 4oC until subsequent use.

#### 2.3. Phytochemical Screening

Alkaloids, tannins, saponins, carbohydrates, anthraquinones, flavonoids and other phenolic compounds were screened qualitatively using the procedures previously described by Stahl (1973), Sofowora (1982) and Evans (2002).

#### 2.4. Determination of Total Phenol Content (TPC)

The Total Phenolic Content (TPC) was determined according to the Folin and Ciocalteau's method using gallic acid as standard (Folin and Ciocalteau, 1927). Concentrations of 0.01- 1mg/ml of gallic acid were prepared in methanol. Concentrations of 1mg/ml extracts of Costus afer and Aframomum melegueta were also prepared in distilled water. About 0.5 mL of the sample was mixed with 2.5 mL of a ten-fold diluted Folin-Ciocalteau reagent and 2 mL of 7.5% sodium carbonate. The mixture was left undisturbed for 30 minutes at room temperature before the absorbance was read at 760 nm. All the determinations were performed in triplicates. The total phenolic content in the methanol extract was expressed in Gallic Acid Equivalents (GAE).

# 2.5. Determination of Total Flavonoids Content

The method of Miliauskas et al. (2004) was employed. To 2 mL of the sample was added 2 mL of 2 %  $AlCl_3$  in methanol. The absorbance was read at 420 nm after incubation for 1 hour at room temperature. The concentration of 1 mg/ml of the extract in methanol was used, while quercetin concentrations ranging from 0.01 - 0.15 mg/ml were used to obtain the calibration curve. The total flavonoid content of the extract was expressed in Quercetin Equivalents (QE).

## 2.6. Estimation of Proanthocyanidin Content

The determination of proanthocyanidin was based on the procedure described by Sun et al. (1998). A volume of 0.5 mL of 1.0mg/ml of the extract preparation was mixed with 1 mL of 4 % vanillin-methanol solution and 0.75 mL concentrated hydrochloric acid. The mixture was left undisturbed for 15 minutes after which the absorbance was read at 500nm. The extract was evaluated at a final concentration of 1 mg/ml. The absorbance of ascorbic acid was read under the same conditions. Standard solution was prepared from 0.05g ascorbic acid. Total proanthocyanidin contents (mg/g) were expressed as ascorbic Acid Equivalents (AE).

## 2.7. Determination of DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity

The radical scavenging activity of the extract against 1, 1-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl radical (DPPH) was determined by a slightly modified method of Brand-Williams et al. (1995). The following concentrations of each extract were prepared in methanol at concentration ranging from 0.002 to 1mg/ml. Ascorbic acid was served as standard, and the same concentrations were prepared as the test solution. To 2 mL each of the prepared concentrations in a test tube was added 0.5 mL of 1mM DPPH solution in methanol. The experiments were carried out in triplicates. The test tubes were incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature, and the absorbance read at 517 nm. Ascorbic acid was used as a reference. The ability to scavenge DPPH radical was calculated by the following equation:

DPPH radical scavenging activity (%) =  $[(A0-A1)/(A0)] \times 100$ 

where A0 was the absorbance of DPPH radical + methanol; A1 was the absorbance of DPPH radical + sample extract /standard.

# 2.8. Estimation of Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances (TBARS)

A modified ThioBarbituric Acid Reactive Species (TBARS) assay was used to measure the lipid peroxide formed, using egg yolk homogenates as lipid rich media. Malondialdehyde (MDA), a secondary end product of the oxidation of poly unsaturated fatty acids, reacts with a pinkish red chromogen with an absorbance maximum at 532nm (Ruberto et al., 2000). Briefly 0.5 mL of Egg homogenate (10 %v/v) and 0.1 mL of extract were added to a test tube and made up to 1 mL with distilled water.Precisely 0.05 mL of FeSO4 (0.07M) was added to induce lipid peroxidation and incubated for 30minutes. Then 1.5 mL of 20% acetic acid(pH adjusted to 3.5 with

NaOH) and 1.5ml of 0.8%(w/v) TBA in 1.1% sodium dodecyl sulphate and 0.05 mL 20% TCA were added and the resulting mixture was vortexed, and, then, heated at 950C for 60 minutes. The generated color was measured at 523nm.

Inhibitions of lipid peroxidation (%) by concentrates were calculated with the formula:

(C-E) / C x 100 %

where C is the absorbance value of the fully oxidized control and E is (Abs523+Abs523-TBA).

## 2.9. Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay

The method employed was that of Benzie and Strain (1996) with a slight modification. Different concentrations (0.01, 0.025, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1, 0.15mg/ml) of the extracts and the standard were serially diluted with distilled water. Then, 1ml of FRAP reagent (200ml of 300mM sodium acetate buffer at pH 3.6, 20ml of 10.0mM TPTZ solution, 20ml of 20.0Mm FeCl3.6H2O solution and 24ml of distilled water) was added to each test tube. The resulting mixture was vigorously shaken and then incubated at 370C for 4mins and the increase in absorbance at 593nm was measured and compared with the standard ascorbic acid.

#### 2.10. Statistical Analysis

All values were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed to assess the difference in mean between the groups. Turkey's multiple range post-hoc test was used to check the level of significance at p values less than 0.05

#### 3. Results and Discussion

The therapeutic effects, derived from several medicinal plants, have been attributed to the presence of phenolic compounds such as flavonoids, phenolic acid, proanthocyandins and tannins (Pourmorad et al., 2006). Phenolics exhibit antioxidant activity by inactivating lipid free radicals or by preventing the decomposition of hydroperoxides into free radicals (Jimoh et al., 2008). These potential mechanisms make the diverse group of phenolic compounds an interesting target in the search for health beneficial phytochemicals (Akinpelu et al., 2010).In this study the phytochemical constituents and free radical scavenging activity of medicinal plants, were evaluated.

The result of phytochemical screening test of methanol extracts of Aframomum melegueta and Costus afer revealed the presence of medically active compounds including terpenoids, reducing sugars, flavonoids, saponins, alkaloids and cardiac glycosides in both leaves extracts. However, steroids and tannins were below the detectable levels in Aframomum melegueta and Costus afer, respectively (Table 1). Steroids have been reported with antibacterial properties and tannins have been found to have healing effects. Flavonoids are the most common group of polyphenolic compounds in the human diet and are found ubiquitously in plants where they exhibit antioxidant activities. Alkaloids are organic compounds that contain nitrogen, and are physiologically active with sedative and analgesic properties for relieving pains, anxiety and depression (Jisika et al., 1992). Therefore, the

presence of these substances in the methanol extracts of *Costus afer* and *Aframomum melegueta* may be responsible for their therapeutic claims.

Figure 1 shows the total phenolic, flavonoid and proanthocyanidin contents of methanol extracts of C. afer and A. melegueta. Total phenolic content was expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent/g of extract by reference to a standard curve (y = 0.001x + 0.033; R2 = 0.975). The total flavonoid and proanthocyanidin content were expressed as mg quercetin equivalent/g of extract by reference to a standard curve (y = 0.006x + 0.025; R2 = 0.996) and mg ascorbic acid equivalent/g of extract by reference to standard curve (y = 0.002x + 0.09; R2 = 0.915), respectively. The results showed that A. melegueta extract had significantly higher (p < 0.05) concentration of total phenolic compounds than the C. afer extract, while the amounts of flavonoid and proanthocyanidin in C. afer were considerably high compared to A. melegueta. The different levels of antioxidant activities in these extracts may be due not only to differences in their phenolic contents, but also to their phenolic acid components (Horax et al., 2005). The presence of hydroxyl groups in the phenolic compounds may directly contribute to the antioxidant activity and is a key determinant of their radical scavenging and metal chelating activity (Amarowicz, 2004; Elmastas, 2007). Phenolic compounds could be a major determinant of antioxidant potentials of foods (Parr and Bolwell, 2000), and could therefore be a natural source of antioxidants (Aberoumand and Deokule, 2008). This finding is in agreement with Ukpabi et al. (2012) who state that extracts of A. melegueta and C. afer have considerably high amounts of polyphenols.

A number of methods are available for the determination of antioxidant capacity but the assay involving the stable 1, 1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl radical (DPPH) has received the maximum attention due to its ease of use and its convenience (Sanchez-Moreno et al., 1998). The DPPH radical scavenging ability of the extract of A. melegueta showed maximum activity (p < 0.05) with IC<sub>50</sub> of 122.25  $\mu$ g/ml when compared with the C. afer counterpart (IC<sub>50</sub> of 156.48 µg/ml). However, the standard reference compound, ascorbic acid gave a better DPPH scavenging ability than the two extracts with a lower IC<sub>50</sub> of 118.55µg/ml. DPPH is a relatively stable free radical (Table 2). From the present result, it may be postulated that A. melegueta reduces the radical when it reacts with hydrogen donors in antioxidant principles. Also, when DPPH radicals react with suitable reducing agents, the electrons become paired off and the solution loses color stochiometrically depending on the number of electrons taken up (Ou, 2005). This is in agreement with Onoja et al. (2014) who state that A. melegueta seed has potent antioxidant activities when compared to standard ascorbic acid.

Our results in the present study showed that the ferric reducing antioxidant potential (FRAP) of methanol extract of *A. melegueta* (35.38µmole Fe (II)/g) was significantly higher (p < 0.05) than that of *C. afer* (12.25µmole Fe (II)/g). However, the FRAP values of both extracts were significantly (p < 0.05) lower than that recorded for standard ascorbic acid (140.5 µmole Fe(II)/g)

(Figure 3). Shiddhuraju et al. (2002) suggested that ferric reducing power of bioactive compounds was associated with antioxidant activity. It is a measure of the reductive ability of antioxidants and it is evaluated by the transformation of  $Fe^{2+}$  to  $Fe^{3+}$  in the presence of sample extracts (Huda-Faujan et al., 2009).

The methanol extracts of *C. afer* and *A. melegueta* leaves showed a varied degree of inhibition of lipid peroxidation induced by ferrous sulfate in egg yolk homogenates (Figure 4). The percentage inhibition of lipid peroxides by the methanol extract of *A. melegueta* (62.08 %) was significantly higher than that of *C. afer* (42.5 %). Lipid peroxidation contains a series of free radical mediated chain reaction processes and is also associated with several types of biological damages (Perry et al., 2000). These findings corroborate with Anyasor et al. (2014) who posited that the aqueous fractions of the leaves and stem bark of *C. afer* exhibited high inhibition of lipid peroxidation.

Our findings suggest that *C. afer* and *A. melegueta* extracts could serve as free radical scavengers, acting possibly as primary antioxidants which could be used in the treatment/management of disease caused as a result of oxidative damaged.

 Table 1. Qualitative Phytochemical Screening of Methanol

 Extracts of Costus afer and Aframomum melegueta leaves

Phytoconstituents	Aframomum melegueta	Costus afer
Cardiac glycosides	+	+++
Steroids	-	+
Terpenoids	++	+++
Reducing sugars	+	+
Flavonoids	+	+
Tannins	+	-
Saponins	+	+
Alkaloids	++	+

Keys: - = Absent;+= positive;++ = moderately positive; +++ = highly positive

Table 2. IC  $_{50}$  values of *Costusafer and Aframomummelegueta* crude methanol extracts

Extract	IC <sub>50</sub> value (µg/ml)
Ascorbic acid	$118.55 \pm 0.06^{a}$
C.afer	$156.48 \pm 0.17^{b}$
A.melegueta	$122.25\pm2.08^{\rm c}$

Data represent mean  $\pm$  Standard Deviation of triplicate analysis. Different lowercase letters within column indicate significant difference at p <0.05.



Figure 1. Polyphenolic contents of *Costus afer* and *Aframomum melegueta* 

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SEM, n = 3/group. Different lowercase letters represent significant difference between means at p > 0.05.



Figure 2. DPPH radical scavenging activity of *Costusafer and Aframonummeleguetac*rude methanol extract compared with standard (ascorbic acid) Data represent mean ± Standard Error of mean of triplicate analysis.



**Figure 3.** Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Potential (FRAP) of *Costusafer and Aframomummelegueta* crude methanol extracts Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SEM, n = 3/group. Different lowercase letters represent significant difference between means at P <0.05.



**Figure 4.** Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) of *Costus afer and Aframonum melegueta* crude methanol extracts Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 3/group Different lowercase letters represent significant difference between means at P <0.05.

#### References

Aberoumand A and Deokule SS. 2008. Comparison of phenolic compounds of some edible plants of Iran and India. Pak J Nutr, 7: 582-585.

Akinpelu DA. Aiyegoro OA and Okoh AI. 2010. The *in vitro* antioxidant property of methanolic extract of *Afzelia Africana* (Smith.). J Med Plants Res, **4**: 2021-2027

Amarowicz R. 2004. Free-radical scavenging capacity and antioxidant activity of selected plant species from the Canadian prairies. Food Chem, **84**:551-562.

Anyasor GN. Aina DA. Olushola M and Aniyikaye AF. 2011. Phytochemical constituent, proximate analysis, antioxidant, antibacterial and wound healing properties of leaf extracts of *Chromolaenaodorata*. Ann Biol Res, **2**:441-451.

Anyasoe GN. Onajobi O. Osilesi O and Adebawo O. 2014. Proximate composition, mineral content and in vitro antioxidant activity of leaf and stem of Costus afer. J of Intercultural Ethnopharmacol, **3**: 128-134.

Benzie IF and Strain JJ. 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of antioxidant power: The FRAP assay. Anal Biochem, **239**: 70–76.

Borris RP. 1996. Natural product research: Perspectives from a major pharmaceutical company. J Ethnopharmacol, **51**:29-38.

Brand-Williams W. Cuvelier ME and Berset C. 1995. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity, LebensmittelWissenschaft and Technologie, **2**: 25-30.

Burkill HM. 1984. The Useful Plants of West Tropical Africa Families E-I, pp. 127–128, Royal Botanical Garden Kew.

Edeoga HO and Okoli BE. 2000. Chromosome numbers of *Costuslucanusianus*(Costaceae) in Nigeria. Folia Geobotanica, **35**: 315-318.

Elmastas M. Isildak O. Turkekul I and Temur N. 2007. Determination of antioxidant activity and antioxidant compounds in wild edible mushrooms. J. Food CompAnal, **20**:337-345.

Evans WC. 2002. Trease and Evans Pharmacognosy, 15<sup>th</sup> ed. Churchill Livingstone Harcourt publishers Limited, London.

Folin O, Ciocalteau V. 1927. On tyrosine and tryptophan determination in proteins. J BiolChem., **27**: 627-650.

Horax R. Hettiarachchy N and Islam S. 2005. Total Phenolic contents and phenolic acid constituents in 4 varieties of bitter melons (*Momordicacharantia*) and antioxidant activities of their extracts. J Food Sci, **70**: 275-280.

Huda-Faujan N. Noriha A. Norrakiah AS and Babji AS. 2009. Antioxidant activity of plants methanolic extracts containing phenolic compounds. Afr. J. Biotechnol, **8**: 484-489.

Jimoh FO. Adedapo AA. Aliero AA and Afolayan AJ. 2008. Polyphenolic contents and biology activities of *Rumexecklonianus*. Pharma. *Biol*, **46**: 333-340.

Jisika M. Ohigashi H. Nogaka H. Tada T and Hirota M. 1992. Bitter steroid glycosides, vernon sides A1, A2, and A3 and related B1 from the possible medicinal plant *Vernoniaamygdalina*used by wild Chimpanzees. Tetrahedron, **48**:625-630.

Miliauskas G. Venskutonis PR and Van Beek TA. 2004. Screening of radical scavenging activity of some medicinal and aromatic plant extracts. Food Chem, **85**: 231-237.

Okoko T. 2009. Stem extracts from the monocot *Costusafer* ameliorates paracetamol induced tissue injury in rats. Int J Pure Appl Sci, **3**: 21-25.

Olowokudejo JD. 2008. A Textbook of Medicinal Plants from Nigeria. pp 628, University of Lagos Press, Nigeria.

Onoja SO. Omeh YN. Ezeja MI and Chukwu MN. 2014. Evaluation of the in vitro and in vivo antioxidant potentials of *Aframomum melegueta* methanolic seed extract. J Trop Med, ID 159343, 6 pages. Ou B. Prior RL and Huang D. 2005. The chemistry behind dietary antioxidant capacity assays. J Agric Food Chem, **53**:1841-1856.

Parr AJ and Bolwell GP. 2000. Phenols in the plant and in man: The potential for possible nutritional enhancement of the diet by modifying the phenols content or profile. *J Sci Food Agric*, **80**:985-1012.

Perry G. Raina AK. Nonomura A. Wataya T. Sayre LM and Smith MA. 2000. How important is oxidative damage? Lesson from Alzheimer's disease. Free Rad Biol Med, **28**: 831-834.

Pourmorad F. Hosseinimehr SJ and Shahabimajd N. 2006. Antioxidant activity, phenols, flavanoid contents of selected Iranian medicinal plants.S Afr J Biotechnol, **5**: 1142-1145.

Ruberto G. Baratta MT. Deans SG and Dorman HJ. 2000. Antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of *Foeniculumvulgare* and *Crithmummaritimum* essential oils. PlantaMedica, **66**: 687-693.

Sanchez-Moreno C. Larrauri JA and Saura-Calixto FA. 1998. Procedure to measure the antiradical efficiency of polyphenols. J Sci Food Agric, **76**:270-276.

Shiddhuraju P. Mohan PS and Becker K. 2002. Studies on antioxidant activity of Indian Laburnum (*Cassia fistula* L.): A preliminary assessment of crude extracts from stem bark leaves, flower and fruit pulp. Food Chem, **79**: 61-7.

Sofowora A. 1982. Screening Plants for Bioactive Agents: In Medicinal Plants and Traditional Medicine in Africa, pp. 128-161, Ibadan, Spectrum Books.

Soladoye MO and Oyesika OO. 2008. Textbook of Medicinal Plants from Nigeria, pp. 628, University of Lagos Press, Nigeria.

Stalh E. 1973. Drug Analysis by Chromatography and Microscopy.A Practical Supplement to Pharmacopoeias, 1<sup>st</sup> ed., pp. 219-224, Michigan, Ann Arbor.

Stentoft PM.1988. Flowering Plants in West Africa, pp. 130-131, Cambridge University Press, London.

Sun B. Ricardo-da-Silva JM and Spranger I. 1998. Critical factors of vanillin assay for catechins and proanthocyanidins. J Agric Food Chem, **46**: 4267-4274.

Ukpabi CF. Agbafor KN. Ndukwe OK. Agwu A and Nwachukwu SN. 2012. Phytochemical Composition of *Costus Afer* Extract and Its Alleviation 122 of Carbon Tetrachloride – induced Hepatic Oxidative Stress and Toxicity. Int J Modern Bot, **2**: 120-126.

Vinary RP. Prakash RP and Sushil SK. 2010. Antioxidant activity of some selected medicinal plants in Western Region of India. AdvBiol Res, **4**: 23-26.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# Effect of Faba Bean (*Vicia faba* L.) Varieties on Yield Attributes at Sinana and Agarfa Districts of Bale Zone, Southeastern Ethiopia

Ashenafi Mitiku<sup>1\*</sup> and Mekuria Wolde<sup>2</sup>

Corresponding Author Email:- asnfmtk.mitiku@gmail.com

<sup>1.2</sup> Madda Walabu University; School of Agriculture; Department of Plant Science P. O. Box 247, Bale Robe, Ethiopia

Received: June 2, 2015 Revised: July 9, 2015 Accepted: July 27, 2015

# Abstract

Field experiments were conducted at Agarfa and Sinana Districts, south eastern part of Ethiopia with the objective of to evaluate high yielding faba bean varieties during the main cropping season of 2014. The following Eight improved faba bean varieties Mosisaa, Moti, Gebelcho, Hachalu, Shallo, Tumsa, Wolki and Degaga were used for evaluating their performance and the following data were recorded: effective tiller per plant, plant height, pods per plant, grain per pod, days to 90% physiological maturity, 100 grain weight, and grain yields were taken from the middle three rows and ten sample plants. The result revealed that there is a variation between the varieties for most yield and yield components. In both locations, maximum pods per plant were recorded from Degaga variety (20.39 and 22.6), whereas lowest number of pods were counted at Hachalu (12.46) and Tumsa (11.67) varieties at Agarfa site from Gebelcho variety (13.46) at Sinana experimental site. The maximum 100 grain weight was recorded from Gebelcho variety (94.33) at Sinana and Hachalu variety (80.33) at Agarfa experimental site. In both locations, the maximum harvesting index and grain yield were recorded at Shallo variety with 44.76%, 43.85% 4886.8 kg/ha and 4701.6 kg/ha at Agarfa and Sinana, respectively, while minimum grain yield was recorded from Hachalu and Moti varieties with 3436.2kg/ha and 3703.7kg/ha yield at Sinana and Agarfa district, respectively. Therefore, from the result we conclude that Shallo variety was performed good yield and recommended to the local farmers.

Keywords: Faba bean varieties, Grain yield, yield attribute.

#### 1. Introduction

Faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) is also referred to as broad bean, horse bean and field bean and it is the fourth most important pulse crop in the world (Sainte, 2011). The crop has a multipurpose use and is consumed as dry seeds, green vegetable, or as processed food. Its products are a rich source of high-quality protein in the human diet, while its dry seeds, green haulm and dry straw are used as animal feeds (Sainte, 2011). Faba bean seeds are used for human nutrition. The grain of faba bean contains a high protein content of 24-33% (Winch, 2006). Faba bean varieties that are used for human nutrition belong to the *V*. *faba* major botanically whereas the V. faba minor and V. *faba* equina are botanical types used for animal feeding (Monti et al., 1991).

Ethiopia is the world's second largest producer of faba bean next to China; its share is only 6.96 % of world production and 40.5 % within Africa (Chopra *et al.*, 1989). In Ethiopia, the average yield of faba bean under small-holder farmers is not more than 1.6 t ha-1 (CSA, 2013), despite the availability of high yielding varieties (> 2 t/ha) (MoA. 2011). Demand is growing, fuelled by rapid population growth, and the gap between supply and demand continues to increase (ICARDA, 2008). In Ethiopia, the faba bean production is primarily a rain-fed system and it is also reducing the poverty by, 3% for adopter households moved up at least one 'wealth class', while all non-adopters remained in the lowest class (ICARDA, 2008).

Faba bean ranks first in pulse crop in the total area coverage and the total production of Ethiopia. It accounts about 36% of the country's pulse production (IFPRI, 2010). Currently, the total area, under cultivation with faba bean in the country, is estimated to be about 0.54 million hectare and the total production is 696 million kilogram (MoARD, 2009). Oromia region is the largest (320 million kilogram quintal) faba bean producer in the country followed by Amhara region 250 million kilogram (CSA, 2011). The two regions together share about 85% of the country's faba bean production. Due to its nitrogen fixing capacity, it is used in crop rotation with important cereal crops like wheat, teff, barley and other crops (IFPRI, 2010). Farmers who adopted the new faba bean technologies, whether the full package or individual components, obtained significantly higher yields. Simply replacing traditional varieties with improved ones led to gains of 18% in Egypt, 8% in Sudan and 42% in Ethiopia (ICARDA, 2008). Levels of soil-borne diseases (like crown rot) and pests like root lesion nematode of wheat are reduced by growing faba bean as a break crop. Growers claim that the soil tilth is improved after faba bean growing (ICARDA, 2008).

The productivity of faba bean in Ethiopia is quite lower 15.2 qt/ha (CSA, 2011) than UK 30qt/ha (Winch, 2006). Most farmers in Ethiopia cultivate local faba bean varieties (Thijssen et al., 2008). Faba bean varieties, combining disease resistance with desirable traits like large seed sizes and high yield, are more preferred by the farmers (Boef and Ogliari, 2008). In Ethiopia, there are about 20 improved faba bean varieties which are adapted to different agro-ecology and have different disease reaction (IFPRI, 2010). Local varieties are low yielding and susceptible to both biotic and abiotic factors. Samuel et al. (2008) reported that most local faba bean landraces are highly susceptible to disease and low yielding. The reasons for the decline the productivity of faba bean is due to susceptibility to biotic (Sillero et al., 2010) and a biotic stresses (Link et al., 2010).

Bale District is one of the production areas of faba bean in Ethiopia for green and dry seed. Evaluation of high yielding variety is very important for farmers to sustain their production. The production of faba bean is affected by the lack of improved varieties and the local varieties are susceptible to certain biotic and abiotic factors. Bale area is a wheat belt of the country. The production of wheat is currently being challenged due to the monocropping practice which causes infestation and build-up of pests and diseases which in turn affect the productivity of wheat. This raises the issue of sustainability in livelihood as a result of which the tendency for food security can be jeopardized. Hence, growing of other alternative crop species like faba bean as a rotation crop is very important. Evaluation of improved faba bean varieties is among the major measures to be considered to resolve the existing problems of faba bean production and to boost the productivity of the crop. Therefore, the experiment was conducted to evaluate faba bean varieties for yield and yield components at Sinana and Agarfa District of Bale Zone.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

The experiments were conducted at Sinana and Agarfa districts of Bale Zone, South-eastern part of Ethiopia during the main cropping season of 2014. The center represents highlands of Bale Zone with high rainfall and characterized by bimodal rainfall types. The main cropping season is locally known as *Ganna* extends, from half of July to September and the other cropping season was locally called *Bona* extends from March to July. In both locations, the dominant soil type is clay soil and slightly acidic with a Ph of 6.5.

 Table 1. Geographical and Climatic condition of districts during cropping season.

District	Attitude	Temperature	Rainfall
Sinana	2361 - 2396	24.2°C to 9.4 °C	823mm
Agarfa	2404 - 2501	24.75°C to14.75°C	880mm

#### 2.1. Treatments and Experimental Design

Eight improved faba bean varieties were collected from different research centers of Ethiopia and evaluated for their performance at Bale. The experiment was conducted by RCBD design with three replications and a plot size of 2.4m x 3.1m. To reduce the inter plot effect, the space between plots and blocks were adjusted at 0.5 and 1m, respectively. There were five rows per plot and 30 bean seeds were sown in a single row. Intra and inter spacing were 10 cm and 40 cm, respectively. The experiment was conducted with the following varieties: Wolki (EH96049-2), Degaga (R878-3), Moti (EH95078-6), Tumsa (EH99051-3), Hachalu (EH00102-4-1), Gebelcho (EH96009-1), Shallo (EH011-22-1) (MoARD, 2009) and Mosisaa (EH-99047-1) (SARC, 2013).

At the time of planting, all plots received a basal application of Diammonium Phosphate (DAP), (18% N, and 20% P) at the rate of 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. The experimental fields and experimental units were managed as per the recommended practices for faba bean.

# 2.2. Data Collection

The following data were collected from the middle three rows and from sampled ten plants in each plot.

- Productive tiller: Numbers of effective tillers were counted at poding stage.
- Plant height (cm): Length of the central axis of the stem, measured from the soil surface up to the tip of the stem.
- Number of pods per plant: was taken from 10 randomly selected plants from the middle rows of each plot at harvest.
- Number of grains per pod: Average numbers of grains per pod were counted at harvest.
- Hundred grain weight (g): sampled from the composited seeds of each plot and weighed after it had been adjusted to 10% moisture level by oven dry method.
- Days to 90% physiological maturity: it was recorded when 90% of the plants in the plot are mature enough.
- Dry Bio mass was harvested at crop maturity from the above ground part of net plot.
- Harvest index (HI) was calculated as the percent
   Grain Vield

$$HI = \frac{HI}{Total biomass yield} * 100$$

proportion of grain yield to total above ground DM yield (Fleischer *et al.* 1989).

• Grain yield (Kg/ha): The grain yield per hectare was determined by harvesting all plants from net plot area and converted on hectare basis.

#### 2.3. Data Analysis

Collected data were subjected to analysis of variance with SAS computer software version 9.1.3 (SAS, 2003). Means were compared with Least Significance Difference (LSD) at 5% probability level. The correlation analysis conducts as the procedure of SAS Proc corr. Procedure

## 3. Results and Discussion

The result from the experiment revealed that there is a variation between the varieties for various growth, yield and yield component parameters. However, there is no significance difference (P < 0.05) between the varieties for parameters like number of effective tillers, days to 50% flowering, days to 50% emergence and number of seeds per pod for both locations.

# 3.1. Number of Pods per Plant

Statistical analysis showed that faba beans varieties were significantly (P<0.05) affected pods per plant at both locations. The maximum pods per plant were recorded from Degaga (20.39 and 22.46, respectively, at Agarfa and Sinana) and it was followed by Shallo, Mosisaa, Moti and Tumsa in both locations Gebelcho at Agarfa experimental site and Hachalu at Sinana (Table 2 and 3). Whereas the smallest pods per plant were recorded at Tumsa and Hachalu varieties at Agarfa experimental site and Gebelcho variety at Sinana (11.67, 12.46 and 18.82)

pods per plant, respectively. The result was in line with the work of Tafere et al. (2012) who reported that Degaga varieties had a higher number of pods per plant, while Gebelcho and Moti varieties had the smallest number of pods per plant. Hassan and Ishaq (1972) found that genotypes varied in their pod number per plant. Pilbeam et al. (1992) also reported that there was a variation between faba bean varieties for pod number per plant. Girma and Haila (2014) found that Degaga variety had the highest number of pods per plant while the result of Shallo variety was contradicting with this result which was lower in the number of pods per plant. The lowest number of pods per plant was recorded from Tumsa (11.67 and 18.82 at Agarfa and Sinana, respectively) and Hachalu varieties (12.46 and 16.46 at Agarfa and Sinana, respectively (Tables 2 and 3).

In this study number of pods per plant had a significant and positive correlation with seed per pod and days to 90% physiological maturity, while a negative correlation with plant height at both locations (Table 4).

Table 2. Effect of varieties on yield and yield component of faba bean at Agarfa site

Varieties	Tiller number	pod per plant	Seed per pod	Plant height	100g weight	Physiological Maturity	Dry matter Biomass (Kg/ha)	Harvesting Index %	grain yield Kg/ ha
Gebelcho	1.50a	15.67ab	3.00a	1.30a	80.33ab	126.6abc	11368.0abc	36.99bc	4362.2ab
Hachalu	1.45a	12.46b	2.92a	1.23a	83.10a	133.3a	9803.0c	40.95abc	4012.3b
Degag	1.50a	20.393a	2.96a	1.35a	56.13d	129.0ab	10190.4bc	39.25abc	3971.2b
Mosisaa	1.70a	16.29ab	3.04a	1.33a	64.12cd	119.67c	10167.9bc	42.9ab	4362.2ab
Moti	1.33a	13.29ab	3.29a	1.25a	79.60ab	119.67c	9935.0bc	37.38bc	3703.7b
Shallo	1.60a	16.75ab	3.04a	1.37a	60.48cd	124.3bc	10918.3bac	44.76a	4886.8a
Tumsa	1.40a	11.67b	3.04a	1.30a	79.80ab	130.67ab	11491.9ba	34.11c	3878.6b
Wolki	1.70a	17.21ab	3.04a	1.33a	69.33bc	133.3a	11865.3a	34.45c	4104.9b
LSD	0.37	5.67	0.45	0.16	11.01	7.04	18.71	10.24	760.25

Means with the same letter at the same column are not significantly different.

Varieties	Tiller number	pod per plant	Grain Per pod	Plant height/m	100g weight	Physiological Maturity	Dry matter Biomass (Kg/ha)	Harvesting Index%	Grain yield (Kg/ ha)
Gebelcho	2.67a	13.46b	3a	1.28c	94.33a	128.3ab	10473.4ab	35.74ab	3703.7ab
Hachalu	2.79a	16.46ab	2.92a	1.33b	86.33ab	134.0a	8901.0b	38.61ab	3436.2b
Degag	2.92a	22.46a	2.96a	1.34b	59.13d	127.67ab	10029.0ab	37.58ab	3765.4ab
Mosisaa	2.96a	21.88a	3.04a	1.33bc	74.93bc	121.3b	10072.5ab	42.47a	4269.6ab
Moti	2.75a	16.54ab	3.29a	1.37ab	76.33bc	128.0ab	10059.7ab	36.4ab	3621.4b
Shallo	2.42a	20ab	3.04a	1.42a	65.77dc	126.67ab	10793.6ab	43.58a	4701.6a
Tumsa	2.75a	18.82ab	3.04a	1.35b	82.6b	128.0ab	11469.9a	30.81b	3497.9b
Wolki	2.33a	19.83ab	3.04a	1.38ab	66.07dc	134.67a	10670.0ab	38.48ab	4074.1ab
LSD	0.65	7.0	0.5	0.054	11.48	11.36	1959.6	15.82	1045.4

Table 3. Effect of varieties on yield and yield component of faba bean at Sinana site

Means with the same letter at the same column are not significantly different.

#### 3.2. Plant Height

Statistical analysis showed that plant height had significantly (P< 0.01) affected at Sinana where as nonsignificant at Agarfa experimental site. At Sinana experimental site, the maximum plant height was recorded from Shallo, Moti and Wolki varieties with a height of 1.42m, 1.37m and 1.38m, respectively. Whereas, the shortest plant heights were recorded at Gebelcho and Mosisaa varieties with 1.28m and 1.33m height, respectively (Table 3). Therefore, these varieties are considered as dwarf varieties. The result was in line with the work of Tafere et al. (2012) who reported that a Gebelcho verity was the shortest variety. Talal and Munqez (2013) reported that plant height was significant affected by faba bean accessions. Della (1988) found that plant height of faba bean genotypes varied significantly under rain fed conditions.

Plant height had a positive and significant correlation with pods per plant (r=0.54 and r=0.58) and a negative and significant correlation with seed per pod (r=-0.33 and -0.39), respectively at Sinana and Agarfa Districts.

# 3.3. Days to 90% Physiological Maturity

A significant difference (P<0.05) was observed among faba bean varieties for days to 90% physiological maturity at both locations. The maximum days to 90% physiological maturity was recorded from Wolki (134.7) and Hachalu (134.0) varieties at Sinana district. The minimum days to 90% physiological maturity was recorded from Mosisaa (121.3) and Shallo (126.7) varieties. On the other hand, the maximum days to 90% maturity at Agarfa district was observed from Wolki (133.3) and Hachalu (133.3) varieties, while the lowest was recorded from Mosisaa (119.7) and Moti (119.7) varieties. Generally, this result indicates that varieties like Hachalu and Wolki are late maturing varieties, while Mosisaa and Moti are early maturing varieties at both locations (Tables 2 and 3). Tafere et al. (2012) reported that Moti is early maturing variety while Gebelcho is late Talal and Munqez (2013) found that a maturing. significant variation was observed among accessions from days to fruit setting. The result disagrees with the work of Girma and Hail (2014) who found that faba bean varieties were non-significant on the physiological maturity in both irrigated and rain fed condition.

#### 3.4. Hundred grain weight of Faba bean varieties

A hundred grain weight of faba bean was significantly (p<0.05) affected in both locations. The maximum 100 grain weight was recorded on Hachalu (83.1), Gebelcho (80.33) Tumsa (79.8) and Moti (79.6) varieties at Agarfa district. While, the lowest average 100 grain weight was recorded on Degaga and Shallo varieties with average 100 grain weight of 56.13 and 60.48, respectively (Table 2). On the other hand, the maximum 100 grain weight at Sinana was recorded from Gebelcho (94.33) and Hachalu (86.33) varieties, while the minimum 100 grain weight was from Degaga, Shallo and Wolki varieties with an average 100 grain weight of 59.13, 65.77 and 66.07, respectively (Table 3). This result revealed that Hachalu and Gabelcho varieties are large seeded, while Degaga and Shallo were small seeded varieties. Seed size is one of the important parameters for the choice of the varieties by the growers. Degaga variety has the largest number of seeds per pod, but it was small seeded; hence its yield was reduced (Tables 2 and 3). The result was in line with the work of Tamane et al. (2015) who reported that Moti, Tumsa and Gebelcho varieties were the higher 1000 grain weight while Degaga variety was the smallest grain weight. Girma and Haila (2014) reported that 1000 weight of Degaga variety was similar to Shallo variety and it was small.

# 3.5. Dry biomass

The statistical analyses showed that dry matter biomass had significant (p<0.05) different on faba bean varieties. The highest mean dry biomass weight (11469.9Kg/ha) recorded from Tumsa variety at Sinana district (Table 3). Similarly, the highest dry biomass weight was recorded from Wolki (11865.3Kg/ha) and Tumsa (11491.9Kg/ha) varieties at Agarfa district (Table 2). On the other hand, the lowest mean dry biomass was recorded from Hachalu variety with a dry biomass of 9935.0 and 8901.0 Kg/ha at Agarfa and Sinana District, respectively (Table 2 and 3). Abdalla *et al.* (2015) © 2015 Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. All rights reserved - Volume 8, Number 4

reported that dry biomass was significantly varies with faba bean varieties. Comparatively, a higher dry biomass was noted from Agarfa District which may be attributed to the favorable conditions. Abdalla *et al.* (2015) and Toker (2004) reported the environments had significant effect on the dry biomass.

# 3.6. Harvest Index

In both locations, harvest index had significantly (p<0.05) affected on faba bean varieties. The maximum harvest index value was recorded from Shallo (43.58 and 44.76%) and Mosisaa (42.47 and 42.9%) varieties at Sinana and Agarfa District, respectively. Harvest index was significantly lower for Tumsa (30.81) variety as compared to Shallo variety at Sinana District, whereas there was no significant difference with the varieties (Tables 2 and 3). Similarly, the lowest harvest index was recorded from Tumsa (34.11%) and Wolki (34.45%) varieties at Agarfa District (Table 2). Gebremeskel et al. (2011) reported that the harvest index was significant for different faba bean varieties. Abdalla et al. (2015) also reported harvest index varies for different faba bean varieties. Contrasting results were reported by Agung and McDonald (1998) who stated that the harvest index differed little between genotypes. In this result, a higher grain yield producing varieties have a higher harvest index, while varieties which have a lower yield have a lower harvest index. A similar result was reported by Gebremeskel et al. (2011).

#### 3.7. Grain Yield

The statistical analysis shows that a significant (P<0.05) difference was observed on grain yield of faba bean in both locations. In both locations, the maximum grain yield was harvested from Shallo variety which is (4886.8 kg/ha and 4701.6 kg/ha) at Agarfa and Sinana district, respectively (Tables 2 and 3). Similarly, the highest grain yield was obtained from Gebelcho (4362.2 kg/ha) and Mosisa (4362.2 kg/ha) varieties at Agarfa district, while the smallest grain yield was recorded at the varieties of Moti and Tumsa varieties with average grain yield of 3703.7 and 878.6 kg/ha (Table 2). Following Shallo variety higher yield was obtained from Mosisaa and Wolki varieties at Sinana district with average grain

yield of 4269.6 and 4074.1 kg/ha, respectively. On the other hand, the minimum grain yield at Sinana district was recorded from Hachalu (3436.2) and Tumsa (3497.9 kg/ha) varieties (Table 3). The result was in line with Tafere et al. (2012) who reported that low grain yield was harvested on Moti varieties, but in the current finding Moti was a low yielding variety. ICARDA (2008) indicates that replacing of traditional varieties with improved ones led to gains of 18% in Egypt, 8% in Sudan and 42% in Ethiopia. Tamane et al. (2015) reported that Degaga variety was the higher grain yield as compared to Moti, Tumsa and Gebelcho varieties. ICARDA (2010) reported that Wolki variety can increase the grain yield up to 70-100% as compared to a local check. In the current finding, there is 24.2 % increment of yield for using Shallo variety (high yielder) as compared to Moti variety (low yielder) at Agarfa district. Similarly, there were 26.91% increments of yield for growing Shallo variety in place of Hachalu variety. The result contradicts the result of Girma and Haila (2014) who found that Degaga variety was a higher grain yield while Shallo variety was a lower grain yield. This variation may be due the environmental variations and the varieties adapting to different ecological conditions. ICARDA (2010) reported that Shallo variety was a high yielder. Fekadu (2013) reported that Roba-1 faba bean variety was reducing faba bean yield by 4.2%, whereas Awash-1 faba bean variety increasing faba bean yield by 24.3% as compared to the local check.

Combined analysis (Table 4) revealed that grain yield had positive and highly significant association with seed per pod (r=0.84 and 0.82) and dry biomass (r=0.65 and 0.61), respectively at Sinana and Agarfa Districts. This indicates that number of seed per pod had significant effect of grain yield of faba bean varieties.

Generally, there were correspondingly similar results for all faba bean varieties at both locations. However, except for the yield parameters there were larger values for most parameters were recorded from Sinana district. These indicate that Sinana site is more suitable for faba bean production.

	Parameter	Ti	Ph	Ро	Se	Phi	Db
	Ti						
	Ph	0.28 <sup>ns</sup>					
	Ро	-0.37*	0.54*				
Agarfa	Se	-0.18 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.33*	0.55*			
	Wt	-0.43*	-0.40 <sup>ns</sup>	- 0.63***	-0.11 <sup>ns</sup>		
	Phi	-0.19 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.11 <sup>ns</sup>	0.51*	-0.27 <sup>ns</sup>		
	Db	-0.51*	0.25 <sup>ns</sup>	0.12 <sup>ns</sup>	0.29 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.17 <sup>ns</sup>	
	Hi	0.28 <sup>ns</sup>	0.32 <sup>ns</sup>	0.27 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.29 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.51	-0.49**
	Gy	0.11 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.15 <sup>ns</sup>	0.15 <sup>ns</sup>	0.84**	-0.15 <sup>ns</sup>	0.65*
	Ti						
	Ph	0.25 <sup>ns</sup>					
Sinana	Ро	-0.41*	0.58*				
	Se	-0.24 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.39*	0.59*			
	Wt	-0.42*	-0.21 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.59**	0.28 <sup>ns</sup>		
	Phi	0.026 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.41 <sup>ns</sup>	0.55*	0.1 <sup>ns</sup>		
	Db	-0.53*	0.28 <sup>ns</sup>	0.21 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.1 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.54*	
	Hi	-0.24 <sup>ns</sup>	0.37 <sup>ns</sup>	0.28 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.48 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.12 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.52*
	Gy	-0.019 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.30 <sup>ns</sup>	0.15 <sup>ns</sup>	0.82**	-0.14 <sup>ns</sup>	0.61*

 Table 4. Correlation analysis among tiller number, pod per plant, seed per pod, Plant Height, 100grain weight physiological maturity, Dry Biomass, harvesting index and grain yield at Agarfa and Sinana District

Key: - Ti= tiller number, Po= pod per plant, Se=seed per pod, Ph= Plant Height, Wt= 100grain weight Phi=physiological maturity, Db= Dry Biomass, Hi= harvesting index and Gy = grain yield  $*P \le 0.05$ ,  $**P \le 0.01$ ,  $**P \le 0.001$ , ns= non-significant

# 4. Conclusion and Recommendations

The lack of improved varieties, which are well adapted to the farmers in the study area, was the main challenge for the farmers in the study area. Eight genetically modified varieties were evaluated for their yield and yield components faba bean at Bale Zone at Sinana and Agarfa districts. There were variations between the varieties for most of

The parameters and some varieties were performing well at both locations. The result indicates that there were slight variations for the varieties between the two locations. In both locations, the higher grain yield was harvested from Shallo variety which was followed by Gebelcho, Mosisaa and Wolki varieties where as Degaga variety was the lowest grain yield as compared to the other variety. Therefore, farmers located at Sinana and Agarfa Districts are recommended to use Shallo varieties to increase faba bean yield.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors thank Madda Walabu University Research and Community Service Directorate for their financial support.

#### References

Abdalla AA. El Naim A M. Ahmed M F and Taha M B., 2015. Biological Yield and Harvest Index of Faba Bean (*Vicia faba* L.) as Affected by Different Agro-ecological Environments. WJAIR, **3:** 78-82. Agung S and McDonald G K. 1998. Effects of seed size and maturity on the growth and yield of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) Aust. J of Agric Rec, **49:** 79-88.

CSA (Central Statistical Agency). 2011. The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia. Agricultural Sample Survey Vol. I Report on Area and Production of Major Crops.

CSA (Central Statistical Agency), 2013. Report on area and production of major crops (private peasant holdings, meher season). Statistical bulletin, **1**:10-14.

Chopra VL. Singh RB and Varma A., 1989. Crop productivity and sustainability-shaping the future. Proceedings of 2nd international crop science congress. Oxford and IBH publishing. New Delhi. p. 1111.

Della A., 1988. Characteristics and variation of Cyprus faba bean germplasm. FABIS Newsletter, **2**: 9-12.

Ermias T. Taffa C. Gurmessa F and Samuel Sahile W., 2013. In vivo Assay for Antagonistic Potential of Fungal Isolates against Faba bean (*Vicia faba L.*) Chocolate Spot (Botrytis fabae Sard.). *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **6**: 183 – 189.

Fleischer JE. Barnes AR and Awubila B., 1989. Grain yield and nutritive value of crop residues from three varieties of maize (*Zea mays* L.) crop. pp. 239-255.

Fekadu G. 2013. The case of Umbullo Watershed in Sidama Zone of the Southern Region of Ethiopia t the Institute of Animal Research. Ethiopian e- JRIF, **5**: 4-13.

Gebremeskel Y. Estifanos A and Melaku S., 2011. Effect of Selected Faba Bean (*Vicia faba* L.) Varietal Difference on Straw DM Yield, Chemical Composition and Nutritional Quality. Journal of the Dry lands **4:** 333-340. Girma F. and Haila D., 2014. Effect of supplemental irrigation on physiological parameters and yield of faba bean (*Vicia faba*. L) Varieties on the high land of Bale, Ethiopia. Journal of Agronomy, DOI, 10.3923/ja.

Hussan M and Ishag S., 1972. Physiology of yield in field beans (Vice faba L.) yield and yield component. Journal of Agricultural science, **97**: 71-78.

ICARDA (International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dryland Areas). 2008. Impact of improved faba bean technologies in Africa No-2.

ICARDA (International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dryland Areas), 2010. Ethiopia and ICARDA. Ties that Bind. No. 29. ICARDA, Aleppo, Syria, iv +. En. pp 20.

IFPRI (International Food Policy Research Institute), 2010. Pulses Value Chain Potential in Ethiopia. Constraints and opportunities for enhancing exports.

Mankon S, Bamenda C., 1987, Africa Research Network for Agriculture By products (ARNAB). Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. From 20-27 October

MoA (Ministry of Agriculture), 2011. Animal and plant health regulation directorate. Crop variety register. Issue No. 14. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. pp. 71-73.

MoARD (Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development), 2009. Animal and Plant Health Regulatory Directorate. Crop Variety Register, No. 12. June, 2009 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Monti LM, Pace C D and Scarascia M., 1991. Faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) cu ltivati on an d research in Italy. In: Cu bero J.I. (ed.), Saxen a M.C. (ed.). Present status and future prospects of faba bean production and improvement in the Mediterranean countries. Zaragoza: CIHEAM, . p. 143-151.

Pilbeam C, Aktase, J K, Hebblethwaite, P. D and Wright, S. D., 1992. Yield production in two contrasting form of spring-sown

faba bean in relation to water supply. Field Crops Research, **29**: 273-287.

SAS, 2003. SAS/STAT user's guide, Version 9.1.3. SAS Institute Inc, Cary.

Sainte M., 2011. The magazine of the European Association for Grain Legume Research. Issue No. 56 Model Legume Congress, France, 15-19 May 2011.

Samuel S, Abang M, Chemeda F, Seid A, Sakhuja P. K and Baum M., 2008. Pathogenic and genetic diversity of Botrytis fabae Sand. isolates from faba bean fields in different agro-ecological zones of Northern Ethiopia.

Tafere M, Tadesse D and Yigzaw D., 2012. Participatory varietal selection of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) for yield and yield components in Dabat district, Ethiopia. Wudpecker Journal of Agricultural Research, **1**: 270 – 274.

Talal AB and Munqez J Y., 2013. Phenotypic Characterization of Faba Bean (*Vicia faba* L.) Landraces Grown in Palestine. Journal of Agricultural Science, 5:110-117.

Tamene T, Gemechu K and Hussein M., 2015. Genetic progresses from over three decades of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.) breeding in Ethiopia. Australia Journal of crop science, **9:**41-48.

Thijssen MH, Beshir A, Bishaw Z, VanGastel JG and De Boef W S., 2008. Seed professionals starting to approach informal seed supply through a learning and action oriented training program.

Thijssen MH, Bishaw Z, Beshir A and. de Boef WS. 2008. Farmers, seeds and varieties: supporting informal seed supply in Ethiopia. Wageningen, Wageningen International. P.348

Toker C. 2004. Estimates of broad-sense heritability for seed yield and yield criteria in faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.), Hereditas. **140**: 222-225.

Winch T. 2006. Growing Food. A Guide to Food Production. Springer.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# The Phytochemical and Antimicrobial Properties of the Extracts Obtained from *Trametes elegans* Collected from Osengere in Ibadan, Nigeria

# Samuel I. Awala<sup>\*</sup> and Victor O. Oyetayo

Department of Microbiology, Federal University of Technology, P M B 704, Akure, Nigeria

Received: July 13, 2015 Revised: August 20, 2015 Accepted: August 27, 2015

# Abstract

The phytochemical and antimicrobial properties of the extracts of the wild macrofungus, Trametes elegans (Spreng: Fr.) Fr. (fam.: Polyporaceae) obtained from a farm in Osengere, Egbeda local government area of Ibadan, Oyo State was investigated. The identity of the macrofungus was confirmed by amplifying and sequencing the Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS 4 and ITS 5) of its nuclear ribosomal DNA (nrDNA). Extracts from the powdered fruiting bodies of the macrofungus were obtained by soaking in methanol and acetone. Antimicrobial effect of the macrofungus extracts was performed on clinical and referenced microbial cultures using standard microbiological techniques. In addition, phytochemical analysis of the Trametes species extracts was assessed qualitatively and quantitatively. The level of relatedness of Trametes species collected in Osengere and the already existing gene sequences of Trametes species in NCBI GenBank was 98%. Its closest relative is T. elegans. Phytochemical analysis revealed the presence of saponin, tannins, flavonoid, steroid, terpenoid, and cardiac glycosides in all the extracts with values ranging from 6.726 to 23.682 mg/g. The extracts of T. elegans displayed varying antimicrobial activities with zones of inhibition ranging from 1.50 to 25.50mm. The methanol extract of the macrofungus exhibited a better antibacterial activity against Bacillus cereus NCIB 6344 (20.5 mm), while the acetone extract of the macrofungus exhibited a higher antifungal activity against Aspergillus fumigates (25.5 mm). In light of this finding, T. elegans, collected from Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria, could be considered as potential sources of natural antimicrobial and could be of a great importance for the treatment of infectious diseases caused by the test organisms.

Keywords: Macrofungus, Trametes elegans, antimicrobial, phytochemicals, extracts.

# 1. Introduction

The need to explore natural sources for novel bioactive agents has increased in the last three decades. Fungi are among the most creative groups of eukaryotic organisms capable of producing many novel natural products that are directly used as drugs or serve as structural backbone for synthetic modifications (Mitchell *et al.*, 2008; Stadler and Keller, 2008).

Fungi have been reported to be the second most diverse organisms, with a diversity (up to 3 to 5 million species) postulated to exceed that of terrestrial plants by an order of magnitude (Dai, 2010; Blackwell, 2011). Only a fraction of all fungal species has been described so far (about 100,000), and those explored for the production of important pharmacological metabolites are even less. Yet, some of the most successful drugs and agrochemical fungicides on the market have been developed from

fungal secondary metabolites (De Silva *et al.*, 2013). These include antibiotics (penicillins, cephalosporins and fusidic acid), antifungal agents (griseofulvin, strobilurins and echinocandins), cholesterol-lowering agents such as statin derivatives (mevinolin, lovastatin and simvastatin), and immunosuppressive drugs (cyclosporin) (Kozlovskii *et al.*, 2013). Hence, the percentage of economically valuable fungal metabolites is still at large small.

Mushrooms are macrofungi with distinctive fruiting body, which can be hypogeous or epigeous, large enough to be seen with the naked eye and to be picked by hand (Chang and Miles, 1992). They are traditionally believed to be remedies for many diseases (De Silva *et al.*, 2012) and are known to be prolific producers of bioactive metabolites (Wasser, 2011). Mushrooms have been used for centuries in Asia as popular medicines to prevent or treat different diseases (Xu *et al.*, 2011; De Silva *et al.*, 2012). The first record of the use of mushroom as

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: Imisioluwaawala@gmail.com.

hallucinogenic agent was credited to the Yoruba tribe of Nigeria in Africa (Griensven, 2009).

Macrofungi of the genus Trametes are polyporoid white rot fungi widely distributed in various biotopes and have been the subject of many physiological and biochemical studies (Iimura et al., 2002; Koroleva et al., 2002). They are capable of expressing a biological and a metabolic diversity as a result of their ability to utilize several substrates, decomposing dead organic matters, and, thus, to explore different habitat for colonization (Thatoi and Singdevsachan, 2014). Nigeria has unique climatic conditions and serves as home to diverse species of mushrooms. Yet, there is a dearth of information about these mushrooms and their medicinal potentials. According to Oyetayo (2011), factors such as mycophobia, trade secret by local herbalist, seasonal nature of mushrooms, and social stigma contribute to the underutilization of mushrooms in Nigeria.

Several authors have reported on the antimicrobial activities of different mushrooms, and have associated these activities to the presence of varieties of secondary metabolites such as peptides, tannins, terpenoids, phenols, and flavonoids (Alves *et al.*, 2013; Lavanya and Subhashini, 2013; Avcı *et al.*, 2014). The present study, therefore, aims to identify a *Trametes* species collected from Osengere, Egbeda Local government area of Ibadan, Oyo, Nigeria, using molecular tools, and to assess the phytochemical and antimicrobial properties of the macrofungus.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Collection of Macrofungus

Fresh fruit bodies of macrofungus suspected to be *Trametes* species were collected from rotten cocoa woods from farms in Osengere, Egbeda Local government area of Ibadan, Oyo State (Latitude:7.39814N, Longitude: 4.00051E) in August, 2013. The fruiting bodies were kept dry by wrapping in tissue paper and kept in a polythene paper containing silica gel. The polythene bags containing the samples were well labelled for easy identification and taken to the Department of Microbiology Laboratory of the Federal University of Technology, Akure for further morphological examination.

#### 2.2. Molecular Identification of Macrofungus

## 2.2.1. Extraction of DNA of Macrofungus

Standard DNA isolation methods employing CTAB lysis buffer was used (Zolan and Pukkila, 1986). For DNA extraction, dried portions of the macrofungus fruiting bodies (2g) were ground with a mortar and pestle. The grounded materials were transferred into well labelled microtubes. Prewarmed ( $60^{\circ}$ C) extraction buffer (CTAB) was added and the tubes were incubated at  $65^{\circ}$ C for 30 to 60 minutes. Equal volume of chloroform and alcohol (24:1) was added and mixed by inverting tubes for 15 minutes. The tubes were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 10,000g (13000rpm). The process was repeated but the time of mixing was 3 minutes and time of centrifugation was 5 minutes at the same speed as above. Upper aqueous

layers were removed into clean tubes and  $40 \mu l \ 2 M$ sodium acetate (NaAc) was added followed by 260µl of cold isopropanol. This was gently mixed by inverting tubes. The tubes were incubated at -20°C overnight in a freezer (Haier HTF319 Freezer, 99405-0811, China). The second day, the mixture was centrifuged at 10,000g (13000rpm) for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and pellets rinsed with 70% alcohol and mixed for sometimes. This procedure was repeated three times. After discarding the supernatant, the sample was dried in a dryer for 20 minutes at room temperature. Pellets were resuspended in 30µl Tris EDTA (TE) buffer (10 mM Tris/HCl + 1 mM EDTA pH 8). DNA concentration and quality was checked by observing the band on an ethidium-stained agarose gel (0.7%) using 0.2µl of each sample.

# 2.2.2. PCR Amplification of the ITS Region of macrofungus

The entire region of the rDNA of the macrofungus was amplified using the primers ITS4 and ITS5. The reaction mix was made up to a total volume of 25µl, composed of 23µl of Taqpolymerase "Ready to Go" (Pharmacia, Sweden) with 0.2 µl of each primer (100 pM) and 2µl of DNA solution. The amplification reactions were performed in a DNA Thermal Cycler (GenAmp OPCR System 2400; Perkin-Elmer, USA) and programed as follows: 1st cycle of 5 min at 95°C (initial denaturation) followed by 30 cycles of 45 sec at 95°C (denaturation), 30 sec at 50°C (annealing), 1 min at 72°C (extension), and 1 cycle of 10 min at 72°C (final extension). The amplification products were purified using a PCR Purification Kit (USA) and electrophoresed on ethidium stained agarose gel (0.7%) to check the purity. DNA sequence was performed using the same primer pair used in the PCR reactions (ITS4 and ITS5) in an Applied Biosystem DNA Analyser (USA).

#### 2.2.3. Sequencing of DNA and Alignment of Sequence

Alignments were performed with the Clustal W package (Thompson *et al.*, 1997). The aligned sequences were corrected manually, focusing on gap positions. DNA sequence data were analysed to provide pairwise percentage sequence divergence. The data obtained from the sequence alignment were used to plot a tree diagram (MEGA 4 Software). Extraction, amplification and sequencing of rDNA were carried out at the Key Laboratory of Mycology and Lichenology, Institute of Microbiology, Beijing.

#### 2.3. Collection of Test Organisms

Typed cultures (Escherichia coli ATCC 23718, Escherichia coli ATCC 35218, Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 29853, Bacillus cereus NCIB 6344, Staphylococcus aureus NCIB 950, Salmonella typhi ATCC 33458) were collected from the Medical Microbiology Laboratory of the University College Hospital (UCH) Ibadan, Oyo state. Clinical isolates of human origin (Bacillus cereus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Salmonella typhi, Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, Enterococcus faecalis, Candida albicans and Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) were collected from Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital (OAUTH), Ile-Ife, Osun state. *Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergillus niger* were obtained from the culture collection of the Department of Microbiology, FUTA. The isolates were tested for viability by resuscitating them in buffered peptone water after which they were subcultured on nutrient agar medium for bacteria and potato dextrose agar for fungi and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours and 27°C for 48-72 hours, respectively. The organisms were then stored at 4°C until needed.

### 2.4. Preparation of Mushrooms Extracts

The collected fresh mushrooms were brush-cleaned of attached soil and humus and then air-dried in an oven at 40°C for 48 hours. They were then cut into bits, pulverised by an electrical mill, and stored in an air-tight container for further use. The powdered mushroom sample (100g) was extracted by maceration in 2000ml of 95% acetone and methanol separately in an Erlenmeyer flask. The flasks were covered with aluminium foil and allowed to stand for 3 days for extraction with occasional stirring. The extracts were then filtered through Whatman filter paper (0.45µm) using vacuum pump. The filtrates were evaporated to dryness at 50°C in a rotary evaporator (RE-52A; Union Laboratory, England) with 90 rpm under reduced pressure. The obtained concentrated extracts were stored in dark at 4°C until further analysis. The percentage yield of extracts was calculated based on dry weight as follows:

Yield (%) = 
$$\frac{W1 \times 100}{W2}$$

where,

W1= weight of extract after solvent evaporation

# W2 = Weight of the grounded mushroom powder

#### 2.5. Phytochemical screening of Trametes species extracts

A qualitative and quantitative phytochemical analysis of the crude mushroom extracts was performed through standard protocols described by Odebiyi and Sofowora (1978), Trease and Evans (2005), and Harborne (2005).

# 2.5.1. Qualitative phytochemical analysis of Trametes species extracts

#### 2.5.1.1. Test for alkaloids

The extracts (0.5g each) were stirred with 5ml of 1% aqueous hydrochloric acid (HCl) for two minutes on a steam water bath. The mixtures were filtered and few drops of Dragendorff's reagent were added. The samples were then observed for color changes or turbidity to draw inference.

#### 2.5.1.2. Test for saponins

The persistent frothing test for saponin described by Odebiyi and Sofowora (1978) was used. Distilled water (30ml) was added to 1g of each of the mushroom extracts. The mixture was vigorously shaken and heated on a steam water bath. The samples were observed for the formation of froth to draw inference.

#### 2.5.1.3. Test for phlobatannins

The mushroom extracts (0.2g) were dissolved in 10ml of distilled water each and filtered. The filtrates were

boiled with 2% HCl solution and observed for deposition of red precipitate which indicates the presence of phlobatannin.

#### 2.5.1.4. Test for tannins

The method of Trease and Evans (2005) was adopted. Each sample (0.5g) was dissolved in 5ml of distilled water, then, boiled gently and cooled. One ml of each solution was dispensed in a test tube and 3 drops of 0.1% ferric chloride solution were added and observed for brownish green or blue black coloration which indicates the presence of tannins.

#### 2.5.1.5. Test for terpenoids

The Salkowski test was used. Five ml of each extract weres mixed in 2 ml of chloroform, and 3 ml concentrated sulphuric acid ( $H_2SO_4$ ) were carefully added to form a layer. Each solution was then observed for reddish brown coloration which confirms the presence of terpenoids.

# 2.5.1.6. Test for steroids

Acetic anhydride (2ml) was added to 0.5g of each extract and filtered. Sulphuric acid (2ml) was added to the filtrate and observed for color change from violet to blue or green, which indicates the presence of steroid.

# 2.5.1.7. Test for flavonoids

Diluted ammonia solution (5ml) was added to portions of aqueous filtrate of each mushroom extracts. This was then followed by the addition of a concentrated sulphuric acid. The solutions were observed for yellow coloration that disappears on standing to confirm the presence of flavonoids.

#### 2.5.1.8. Test for anthraquinones

Borntrager's test was used for the detection of anthraquinone. The extract (0.5g) was shaken with 10ml of benzene, filtered and 5ml of 10% ammonia solution added to the filtrate. The mixture was shaken and observed for the presences of pink red or violet color in the ammonia layer which indicates the presence of free anthraquinones.

#### 2.5.1.9. Test for cardiac glycosides

The following was carried out to test the cardiac glycosides of each extract.

# 2.5.1.9.1. Legal's test

Each extract was dissolved in pyridine and a few drops of 2% sodium nitroprusside with a few drops of 20% NaOH were added. They were observed for a deep red coloration which fades to a brownish yellow indicating the presence of cardenolides.

#### 2.5.1.9.2. Salkowski's test

Each extract was mixed with 20ml of chloroform and filtered. This was followed by the addition of 3ml of conc.  $H_2SO_4$  to the filtrate to form a layer. A reddish brown color at the interface was observed which indicates the presence of steroidal ring.

#### 2.5.1.9.3. Keller- Killiani's test

Each of the extracts (0.5g) was dissolved in 2ml of glacial acetic acid containing one drop of ferric chloride solution. This was then underlayed with 1ml of conc.  $H_2SO_4$ . It was observed for a brown coloration at the interface indicating the presence of a deoxy sugar which is a characteristic of cardenolides. It was also observed for violet ring which may appear below the brown ring while in the acetic acid layer. The presence of a green ring formed just above the brown ring which can gradually spread throughout this layer, also indicates the presence of cardiac glycosides.

# 2.5.2. Quantitative phytochemical screening of Trametes species extracts

## 2.5.2.1. Determination of Tannins

Tannins determination was done according to the method of Association of Official Analytical Chemists [AOAC] (1990), with some modifications. The sample (0.20 g) was mixed with 20 ml of 50% methanol. This was shaken thoroughly and placed in a water bath at 80°C for 1 hour to ensure uniform mixing. The mixture was filtered into a 100ml volumetric flask, followed by the addition of 20ml of distilled water, 2.5 ml of Folin-Denis reagent and 10 ml of 17% aq. Na2CO3 (Sodium carbonate) and was thoroughly mixed. The mixture was made up to 100 ml with distilled water, mixed and allowed to stand for 20 min. The absorbance of the tannic acid standard solutions as well as sample was measured after color development at 760 nm using the spectrophotometer (Gulfex Medical and Scientific England, Spectrum Lab 23A, model number 23A08215). Results were expressed as mg/g of tannic acid equivalent using the calibration curve: Y = 0.0593x - 0.0485, R =0.9826, where x is the absorbance and Y is the tannic acid equivalent.

#### 2.5.2.2. Determination of saponins

Quantitative determination of saponins was done using the method of Obadoni and Ochuko (2001). The powdered sample (20 g) was added to 100 ml of 20% aqueous ethanol and kept in a shaker for 30 min. The samples were heated over a water bath for 4 hours at 55°C. The mixture was then filtered and the residue reextracted with another 200 ml of 20% aqueous ethanol. The combined extracts were reduced to approximately 40 ml over the water bath at 90°C. The concentrate was transferred into a 250 ml separatory funnel and extracted twice with 20 ml diethyl ether. The ether layer was discarded while the aqueous layer was retained and to which 60 ml n-butanol was added. The n-butanol extracts were washed twice with 10 ml of 5% aqueous sodium chloride. The remaining solution was heated on a water bath. After evaporation, the samples were dried in the oven at 40°C to a constant weight.

#### 2.5.2.3. Determination of alkaloids

Alkaloids were quantitatively determined according to the method of Harborne (2005). Two hundred milliliters of 10% acetic acid in ethanol were added to 5g powdered extract, covered and allowed to stand for 4 hours. The filtrate was then concentrated on a water bath to onefourth of its original volume. Concentrated ammonium hydroxide was added dropwise to the extract until the precipitation was completed and the whole solution was allowed to settle. The collected precipitates were washed with dilute ammonium hydroxide and then filtered. The residue was dried and weighed. The alkaloid content was determined using the formula:

# 2.5.2.4. Determination of steroid

The steroid content of the plant sample was determined using the method described by Trease and

Alkaloid (%) = 
$$\frac{\text{final weight of sample}}{\text{initial weight of extracts}} \times 100$$

Evans (2005). A portion of 2ml was taken from a solution of 2.5g of powdered plant material prepared in 50mL of distilled water after vigorous shaking for 1 hour. The extract solution was washed with 3mL of 0.1M NaOH (pH 9) and later mixed with 2mL of chloroform and 3mL of ice cold acetic anhydride followed by the cautious addition of two drops of concentrated-H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. The absorbance of both sample and blank were measured using a spectrophotometer (Gulfex Medical and Scientific England, Spectrum Lab 23A, model number 23A08215) at 420 nm.

# 2.5.2.5. Determination of cardiac glycosides

Cardiac glycoside content in the samples was evaluated using Buljet's reagent as described by El-Olemy *et al.* (1994). The samples were then purified using lead acetate and disodium hydrogen phosphate (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) solution before the addition of freshly prepared Buljet's reagent (containing 95ml aqueous picric acid + 5ml 10% aqueous NaOH). The difference between the intensity of colors of the experimental and blank (distilled water and Buljet's reagent) samples gives the absorbance and is proportional to the concentration of the glycosides.

# 2.6. Determination of antimicrobial activity of Trametes species extracts

Antimicrobial activity of extracts was determined by the agar well diffusion method described by Schinor *et al.* (2007). Stock cultures were maintained at 4°C on nutrient agar slope. Active cultures for experiments were prepared by transferring a loopful of cells from the stock cultures to test tubes of Nutrient Broth (NB) for bacteria and Sabouraud Dextrose Broth (SDB) for fungi and were incubated without agitation for 24 hours at 37°C and 25°C, respectively. To 5ml of NB and SDB, 0.2 ml of culture was inoculated and incubated till it reached the turbidity equal to that of the standard 0.5 McFarland solution at 600nm which is equivalent to  $10^6$ –  $10^8$ CFU/ml.

Suspensions of fungal spores were prepared from fresh mature (5 days) cultures that grew at  $26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C on a Sabouraud dextrose agar. Spores were rinsed with sterile distilled water. The suspensions were then adjusted to  $10^{6}$  spores per ml by microscopic enumeration with a cell counting hematocytometer. Molten Mueller Hinton agar (20ml) cooled to  $45^{\circ}$ C was poured into sterilized petri dishes and left to solidify. An aliquot of culture (100µl) was evenly spread on the surface of the solidified Mueller Hinton agar plates. Wells of 8 mm were bored in the agar

with sterile cork borers (6 and 7mm). The crude extracts (100 $\mu$ l) were dissolved in 30% dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) to a concentration of 50 mg/ml and filtered through 0.22 $\mu$ m membrane filter and then introduced into each wells with the aid of a micropipette.

Clotrimazole was used as a positive control for fungi and reference antibiotic disc (gentamicin (10µg), nalidixic acid (30µg), nitrofurantoin (200µg), cotrimoxazole (25µg), amoxicillin (25µg), tetracycline (25µg), augmentin<sup>®</sup> (30µg), and ofloxacin (5µg) for bacteria. DMSO (30%) was used as negative control. The plates were allowed to stand for one hour at room temperature ( $26 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) to allow a proper diffusion of the extracts. The plates were then incubated at 37 °C for 24 hour for bacteria while the fungi were incubated at 26 ± 1°C for 48 to 72 hour. Inhibition zones were measured with a ruler in triplicates (three plates per indicator organism).

# 2.6.1. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentration

The agar diffusion method, described in section 2.6, was used to screen the antimicrobial effect of the different concentrations of extracts (6.25 to 50mg/ml). The MIC was determined by establishing a visible growth of microorganisms. The boundary dilution without any visible growth was defined as the MIC for the tested microorganism at the given concentration. DMSO solution (30%) was used as a negative control. The tests were performed in triplicates.

#### 2.7. Statistical analysis

All experiments were carried out in triplicates. Data obtained were analyzed by One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and means were compared by New Duncan's Multiple Range Test (SPSS version 16). Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

# 3. Results

The Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) region of the macrofungus discriminated between the sequence of *Trametes* species collected from Osengere, Oyo State and the existing genes of *Trametes* species obtained from National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) GenBank. *Trametes elegans* (Spreng: Fr.) Fr. (fam.: Polyporaceae) (Plate 1) with the ascession number (JN048766.1) was seen to be the closest relative to the *Trametes* species collected from Osengere with a percentage relatedness of 98 (Table 1).

Methanol produced a higher yield than acetone when used for extraction (Table 2). Results from the phytochemical analysis revealed the presence of saponins, tannins, steroids, terpenoids, flavonoids and cardiac glycosides in all the *Trametes* species extracts, while anthraquinones, alkaloids and phlobatannins were absent (Table 3).



Plate 1. A- Fruiting body of *Trametes* species collected from rotten woods forest in Osengere, Egbeda Local government area of Ibadan, Oyo State

Table 1.Genomic identification based on nrDNA Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) sequence of wild macrofungus collected from Ibadan, Nigeria.

Sample	Source	Tentative phenotypic	Closest relative from	NCBIAccession	% identity
		identity	NCBI GeneBank	numberOf	
				closest relative	
1	Ibadan,	Trametes sp.	Trametes	JN0	98
	Oyo State		elegans	48766.1	

Keys: NCBI-: National Center for Biotechnology Information; nrDNA-: Nuclear Ribosomal Deoxyribonucliec Acid

	1	
Mushroom	Solvent	Total yield (mg/g)
Trametes elegans	Methanol	3.1
	Acetone	0.9

 Table 3. Qualitative phytochemical screening of Trametes
 elegans
 extracts

Table 2. Yield of Trametes species extracts

Phytochemical	Extracts	
	TEA	TEM
Saponin	+	+
Tannin	+	+
Steriod	+	+
Alkaloid	-	-
Terpenoid	+	+
Flavonoids	+	+
Anthraquinone	-	-
Phlobatannin	-	-
Cardic Glycoside		
1. Legal Test	+	+
2. Keller Killiani Test	+	+
3. Salkwoski Test	+	+

**Keys: TEA:** Acetone extract of *Trametes elegans*; **TEM:** Methanol extract of *Trametes elegans*; +: Positive; - : Negative.

The values of the various phytochemicals present in the extracts ranged from 6.726 to 23.682 mg/g (Table 4). Table 4 also shows that the methanol extract of the macrofungus has the highest amount of cardiac glycosides (23.682mg/g), flavonoids (7.290mg/g), saponins (18.000mg/g) and tannins (11.943mg/g), while the acetone extract of the macrofungus has the highest amount of steroids (14.546mg/g) and terpenoids (22.285mg/g).

 Table 4. Quantitative phytochemical components of Trametes elegans extracts

Phytochemical	Amount (mg/g)	
	TEA	TEM
Tannin	$9.665 \pm 0.004 \ ^{b}$	$11.943 \pm 0.0199 \ ^{c}$
Saponin	$16.163 \pm 0.107 \ ^{d}$	$18.000 \pm 0.105 \ ^{e}$
Flavonoid	$6.726\pm0.004$ $^a$	$7.290 \pm 0.023 \ ^{a}$
Steriod	$14.546 \pm 0.008 \ ^{c}$	$14.290 \pm 0.031 \ ^{d}$
Terpenoid	$22.285 \pm 0.008 \ ^{\rm f}$	$10.545 \pm 0.016 \ ^{b}$
Glycoside	$20.583 \pm 0.056 \ ^{e}$	$23.682 \pm 0.018 \ ^{\rm f}$

**Keys: TEA:** Acetone extract of *Trametes elegans*; **TEM**: Methanol extract of *Trametes elegans*.

Each value is expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error (n = 3). Values with different superscript within a column are significantly different at (p < 0.05).

Table 5 shows the antimicrobial activities of the extracts of T. elegans (50mg/ml) and commercial drugs against the test organisms. For the clinical bacterial isolates, the extracts could only inhibit E. coli, P. aeruginosa and E. faecalis. Methanol extract of T. elegans was able to inhibit all the referenced bacteria except for P. aeruginosa ATCC 29853, while the acetone extract was found to inhibit E. coli ATCC 23718 and S. typhi ATCC 33458. The methanol extract had no inhibitory effect on the test fungi, while the acetone extract inhibited all the test fungi except for A. flavus. Of the commercial antibiotics used, ofloxacin (5µg) gave the highest antibacterial activity, which was closely followed by nalidixic acid (30µg). The commercial antifungal drug, clotrimazole (1mg/ml) also inhibited all the test fungi. The activities of the commercial drugs when compared to those of the extracts were slightly higher and significantly different (P< 0.05). The Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) of the extracts ranged from 12.5 to 50mg/ml, while with the referenced bacteria exhibiting lesser MIC values (Table 6).

Test organisms	Zones of inhibition (mm)								
	TEM (50mg/ml)	TEA (50mg/ml)	Gentamicin (10µg)	Nalidixic acid (30µg)	Nitrofurantoin (200µg)	Ofloxacin (5µg)	Clotrimazole (1mg/ml)		
Escherichia coli*	$6.33\pm0.17~^{b}$	$6.00{\pm}\:0.00^{\:b}$	$10.00 \pm 0.58 \ ^{c}$	$12.33\pm1.20^{\ d}$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$21.33\pm0.88~^{e}$	ND		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa*	$9.50 \pm 0.29$	$4.17\pm0.17$ $^{a}$	$12.00 \pm 0.29$ <sup>c</sup>	$15.83 \pm 0.17$ <sup>d</sup>	$16.17 \pm 0.44$ <sup>d</sup>	$20.00 \pm 0.00$ <sup>e</sup>	ND		
Bacillus cereus*	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$12.33 \pm 1.20^{\ b}$	$18.67 \pm 1.76^{\ d}$	$17.00 \pm 0.58_{cd}$	$14.33 \pm 0.88$ bc	ND		
Staphylococcus aureus*	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$12.00 \pm 2.00^{\ b}$	$16.00 \pm 2.00$ <sup>c</sup>	$11.00 \pm 1.00^{b}$	$20.67 \pm 2.08 \ ^{d}$	ND		
MRSA*	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$11.33\pm0.88~^b$	$19.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>c</sup>	$11.33 \pm 0.88 \ ^{b}$	$25.00\pm1.16^{\ d}$	ND		
Salmonella typhi*	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$12.33 \pm 1.20$ <sup>b</sup>	$12.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>b</sup>	$11.33 \pm 0.88 \ ^{b}$	$11.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>b</sup>	ND		
Enterococcus faecalis*	$1.50 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.17 \pm 0.17 \\ {}_{b} \end{array}$	$11.33 \pm 01.53$ <sup>c</sup>	$20.33 \pm 0.58$ <sup>e</sup>	$15.33 \pm 0.67$ <sup>d</sup>	19.00 ± 1.53 <sup>e</sup>	ND		
Escherichia coli ATCC 23718	$6.00\pm0.00~^{b}$	$10.17 \pm 0.17$	$10.33 \pm 0.33$ <sup>c</sup>	$13.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>d</sup>	$0.00\ \pm 0.00\ ^{a}$	$26.50 \pm 0.29$ <sup>e</sup>	ND		
Escherichia coli ATCC 35218	$7.33\pm0.17~^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$15.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>c</sup>	$20.00\pm0.58~^d$	$24.00\pm0.58~^{e}$	$32.33 \pm 0.88 \ {\rm f}$	ND		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 29853	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00^a$	$11.00 \pm 0.58$ <sup>b</sup>	$0.00\pm0.00^{-a}$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$21.33 \pm 0.88$ <sup>c</sup>	ND		
Bacillus cereus NCIB 6344	$20.50 \pm 0.29$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$12.67 \pm 0.88$ <sup>b</sup>	$14.33 \pm 2.19$ <sup>b</sup>	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$25.50 \pm 0.29^{\ d}$	ND		
Staphylococcus aureus NCIB 950	$6.33\pm0.17~^{b}$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$12.33\pm1.20^{\text{ c}}$	$11.33 \pm 0.88 \ ^{c}$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$14.83 \pm 0.60 \ ^{d}$	ND		
Salmonella typhi ATCC 33458	$12.17 \pm 0.17 \atop_a$	$\begin{array}{c} 16.17 \pm 0.17 \\ {}_{b} \end{array}$	$12.67 \pm 0.88 \ ^{a}$	$21.33\pm0.88~^{c}$	$21.00\pm0.58~^{c}$	$24.50 \pm 0.29 \ ^{d}$	ND		
Candida albicans*	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$17.17 \pm 0.17$ b	ND	ND	ND	ND	$15.35\pm0.05$		
Aspergillus flavus	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	ND	ND	ND	ND	23.98 ± 0.017		
Aspergillus fumigatus	$0.00\pm0.00~^a$	$25.50 \pm 0.29$	ND	ND	ND	ND	$32.33 \pm 1.45$		

Table 5: Antimicrobial activities of extracts of Trametes elegans and commercial drugs against test organisms

Keys: TEA: Acetone extract of *Trametes elegans*; TEM: Methanol extract of *Trametes elegans*; MRSA: Methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; ATCC: American Type Culture Collection; NCIB: National Collection for Industrial Bacteria; \*: Clinical isolate;

ND: Not determined.

Table 6. Minimum inhibitory concentration (mg/ml) of

methanol and acetone extracts of *Trametes elegans* against test organisms.

Test Organism	TEM	TEA
Escherichia coli*	25	25
Pseudomonas aeruginosa *	50	25
Enterococcus faecalis*	50	25
Escherichia coli ATCC 23718	50	12.5
Escherichia coli ATCC 35218	25	ND
Bacillus cereus NCIB 6344	12.5	ND
Staphylococcus aureus NCIB 950	12.5	ND
Salmonella typhi ATCC 33458	12.5	12.5
Candida albicans *	ND	12.5

Each value is mean of triplicate results.

Keys: TEA: Acetone extract of *Trametes elegans*; TEM:

Methanol extract of *Trametes elegans*; \*: Clinical strain; **ATCC**: American Type Culture Collection; **NCIB**: National Collection for Industrial Bacteria; **ND**: Not determined.

# 4. Discussion

Mushrooms are economically important since they serve as food, medicine, biocontrol agents, and a source of bioactive compounds used in the pharmaceutical and many other industries (Duarte *et al.*, 2006). Medicinal mushrooms have shown therapeutic benefits, primarily because they contain a number of biologically active compounds (Lee and Hong, 2011). The phytochemical properties and the antimicrobial potential of extracts of *T. elegans* indigenous to Nigeria were assessed in this study.

Species constituting the genus *Trametes* are similar in morphology; hence, the identification and separation of these species based on tradition taxonomy are difficult (Zhang *et al.*, 2006). DNA sequences have been used in recent years to resolve the taxonomic problems in *Trametes* and in the related genera (Miettinen and Larsson, 2010; Cui *et al.*, 2011). ITS sequences of the nuclear ribosomal DNA served as a useful molecular marker in distinguishing the species with similar morphological characteristics (Zhang *et al.*, 2006; Cui *et al.*, 2011).

In the present study, analysis of the ITS region of the nuclear rDNA revealed the genetic difference between the gene sequence of *Trametes* species collected from forest in Osengere, Ibadan Nigeria, and *Trametes* species sequences obtained from NCBI GenBank. The genes in DNA molecule are known to carry information that determines the characteristics of an organism. One of the implications in the difference between the genetic make-up of the indigenous *Trametes* species collected from Nigeria and the genes of their close relatives is that the type(s) and effectiveness of bioactives they produce may differ.

The differences in the ecological zones where these fungi exist and the influence of time might account for the difference in the gene sequence of *Trametes* species from Nigeria and its counterpart from other parts of the world. Wu *et al.* (2013), in their report, described the geographic distance as the dominant factor driving variation in fungal diversity at a regional scale (1000-4000 km), while environmental factors (total potassium and total nitrogen) account for the variation in fungal diversity at a local scale (<1000 km).

Results from the extraction process showed methanol giving a better yield than acetone. The high percentage yield of the methanol extract in this study may be due to the ability of the solvent to dissolve endogenous compounds (Anokwuru et al., 2011). Campos et al. (2002) in their findings also reported polar solvents to be more effective in extracting organic and inorganic materials from plants. Factors, such as the chemical nature of the compounds (simple and complex compounds), the extraction method employed, the extraction solvent, the extraction time and conditions such as temperature and pH of solvent, and the presence of interfering substances, can influence the extraction process (Brahmi et al., 2012). According to López et al. (2011), the nature of the solvent and the chemical properties of the sample are the two most important factors when extraction is subjected to similar conditions of time and temperature. This makes the processing efficiency quantitatively related to extraction yield (De Campos et al., 2008).

Results from the qualitative phytochemical analysis revealed the presence of saponins, tannins, steroids, terpenoids, flavonoids, and cardiac glycosides in all the Trametes species extracts, while alkaloids, anthraquinones and phlobatannins were absent. These phytochemicals are known to be biologically active, and serve as a defence mechanism for plants against predation by many microorganisms, insects and other herbivores (Bonjar et al., 2004). This suggests that the mushroom can be used in the treatment of infectious diseases. For instance, Lim et al. (2006) reported on the antimicrobial activity of tannin extracted from Rhizophora apiculata bark. Saponins have been shown to demonstrate antimicrobial properties particularly against fungi, bacteria and protozoa (Sahelian, 2014). Taleb-Contini et al. (2003) reported the antibacterial activity of steroids isolated from Chromolaena species against Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sobrinus strains. Neumann et al. (2004) also confirmed the antiviral property of steroids.

Terpenoids have been reported to have anticarcinogenic (e.g. perilla alcohol), antimalarial (e.g., artemisinin), anti-ulcer, hepaticidal, antimicrobial or diuretic (e.g., glycyrrhizin) effects (Dudareva et al., 2004). Extracts of various medicinal plants containing phenolics and flavonoids have been reported to possess antimicrobial properties (Rahman and Moon, 2007; Ayaz et al., 2008). The variation observed in the amount of phytochemicals present could be as a result of the differences in the extraction capacity of the solvents used and the differences in the solubility of the different phytochemicals.

The extracts of T. elegans used in the present study displayed varying antimicrobial activities. This might be a result of a number of factors, as studies suggest that the antimicrobial activities of all mushroom extracts are changeable, depending upon the test organisms, nature of environment and media in which the test organism grows, genetic nature of the mushroom species, solvent used for extraction, and differences in physical and biochemical nature of the antimicrobial components of the mushroom extracts (Iwalokun et al., 2007; Ramesh et al., 2010). The differences in the antimicrobial activities of different species of mushrooms have been mainly attributed to the differences in the antimicrobial components found in them (Kosanic et al., 2013). Mushrooms require antibacterial and antifungal compounds in order to survive in their natural habitat (Lindequist et al., 2005). These attributes might make them a rich sources of natural antibiotics

The variation observed between the Gram negative and Gram positive bacteria might be due to differences in their cell wall. Gram-negative bacteria have generally been reported to be more resistant to antimicrobials than Gram-positive bacteria. The outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria plays an important role related to resistance to many antibiotics that are highly effective against Gram-positive bacteria, e.g., macrolides, novobiocin, rifamycin, lincomycin, clindamycin and fusidic acid (Sperandio et al., 2013). Gram-positive bacteria possess a porous layer of peptidoglycan and a single lipid bilayer, while Gram-negative bacteria have a double lipid bilayer sandwiching the peptidoglycan layer plus an outer layer of lipopolysaccharide, which results in a low degree of permeability for lipophilic small molecules (Sharma et al., 2011).

Results from the present study are, however, in contrast with the findings of several authors, who have reported the higher susceptibility of Gram positive bacteria than Gram negative bacteria. This implies that the antimicrobial activities of the extract of *T. elegans*, might not be cell wall related. The observed result in the present study is in line with the findings of Rakholiya *et al.* (2013) that observed higher susceptibility of Gram negative bacteria while studying the antimicrobial activity of decoction extracts of residual parts (seed and peels) of *Mangifera indica* L. var. Kesar against pathogenic and food spoilage microorganism.

The observed variation in the antibacterial activities of extracts of *T. elegans* to organisms with the same Gram reaction might be connected with their ability to produce capsule and slime. For instance, *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa* 

and *S. typhi* displayed different zones of inhibition. Being gram negative, the cell wall compositions are similar and the variation in their susceptibility might be capsular related. Another reason for the variation observed in organism with the same Gram reaction may be due to the presence of resistance factors like plasmids, transposons and insertion sequence (Clewell and Dunny, 2002; Nikaido, 2009). Plasmids are most commonly found in Gram negative bacteria and they often provide a selective advantage: many confer resistance to one or more antibiotics (Murray *et al.*, 2013).

It was also observed that the clinical bacterial isolates and referenced bacterial cultures showed a marked difference in the zone of inhibition. The clinical bacterial isolates were found to be more resistant to the extracts than the typed bacterial cultures in most cases except for *P. aeruginosa* in which the referenced culture was more resistant than the clinical isolate. The resistance of the clinical isolates might be connected to the indiscriminate exposure of the clinical isolates to various antibiotics. Several clinical isolates have developed effective ways to deal with antibiotics through acquisition of resistant gene, production of enzymes such as the  $\beta$ -lactamases, changes in outer membrane porins that block the entry of the drug; and active pumping of the drug out of the cell using complex efflux pumps (Taiwo, 2011).

In contrast with the general trends that have reported a higher sensitivity of bacteria to antimicrobials than fungi, it was observed, in the present study, that the acetone extract of *T. elegans* exhibited higher antifungal than antibacterial activities. An earlier report by Pepeljnjak *et al.* (2005) also showed that fungi were more susceptible than bacteria while studying the antimicrobial activity of juniper berry essential oil. There has been an increase in the level of resistance of fungi to antifungal drug; hence, there is limited number of drugs available for the treatment of mycotic infections. Results from the present study, however, show that extracts of *T. elegans* may be an excellent source of antifungal drugs.

Although a number of natural/synthetic antimicrobial agents have been isolated/developed to control pathogenic microorganisms effectively, global antimicrobial resistance is still an increasing public health problem. Therefore, novel antimicrobial agents from different biological sources are continuously sought. Extracts of *T. elegans* used in the present study exhibited a varying degree of antibacterial and antifungal activities, and could be considered as potential sources of natural antimicrobials.

#### 5. Conclusion

The present study was able to identify indigenous mushroom using molecular data, thus enriching and providing additional information on mushroom biodiversity in Nigeria. The study also showed the antimicrobial potentials of *T. elegans* collected in Osengere, Ibadan, thus giving credence to the therapeutic use of the mushrooms in folkloric medicine. Findings from this study are encouraging; however, further studies are required to isolate and characterize the specific biologically active agents responsible for the

antimicrobial properties of the indigenous *T. elegans.* Also, preclinical and clinical studies are needed to establish the usefulness of the natural extracts of these mushrooms in the treatment or prevention of many human diseases.

# Acknowledgements

The authors wish to acknowledge the technical supports received from the Department of Microbiology and Biochemistry, Federal University of Technology, Akure, Nigeria, and the Key Laboratory of Mycology and Lichenology, Institute of Microbiology, Beijing, China.

# References

Alves MJ, Ferreira IC, Froufe HJ, Abreu RM, Martins A and Pintado M. 2013. Antimicrobial activity of phenolic compounds identified in wild mushrooms, SAR analysis and docking studies. *J Appl Microbiol*, **115**: 346-57.

Anokwuru CP, Esiaba I, Ajibaye O and Adesuyi AO. 2011. Polyphenolic content and antioxidant activity of *Hibiscus* sabdariffa calyx. J Med Plants Res, **5**: 557-566.

Association of Official Analytical Chemists [AOAC]. (1990). Official Methods of Analysis, fifteenth ed. Arlington, V.A.

Avcı E, Avcı GA and Kose DA. 2014. Different Solvents and Chemical Composition via GC/MS Analyses. *J Food Nutr Res*, 2: 429-434.

Ayaz FA, HayIrlloglu-Ayaz S, Alpay-Karaoglu S, Gruz J, Valentová K, Ulrichová J, and Strnad M. 2008. Phenolic acid contents of kale (*Brassica oleraceae* L. var. *acephala* DC.) extracts and their antioxidant and antibacterial activities. *Food Chem*, **107**: 19-25.

Blackwell M. 2011. The fungi: 1, 2, 3...5.1 million species?. *Am J Bot*, **98**: 426–438.

Bonjar GHS, Nik AK and Aghighi S. 2004. Antibacterial and antifungal survey in plants used in indigenous herbal-medicine of south east regions of Iran. *J Biol Sci*, **4**: 405-412.

Brahmi F, Madani K, Dahmoune F, Rahmani T, Bousbaa K, Oukmanou S, and Chibane M .2012. Optimisation of solvent extraction of antioxidants (phenolic compounds) from Algerian mint (*Mentha spicata* L.). *Phcog Commn*, **2**: 72 - 86.

Campos AR, Albuquerque FAA, Rao VSN, Maciel MAM, Pinto AC. 2002. Investigations on the antinociceptive activity of crude extracts from *Croton cajucara* leaves in mice. *Fitoterapia* **73**: 116-120.

Chang ST and Miles PG. 1992. Mushroom biology- A new discipline. *The Mycologist*, **6**, 64–65.

Clewell DB, Dunny GM. 2002. Conjugation and genetic exchange in enterococci. In: Gilmore MS, Clewell DB, Courvalin P, Dunny GM, Murray BE, Rice LB, (Eds.). The enterococci: pathogenesis, molecular biology, and antibiotic resistance. ASM Press, Washington, DC, pp. 265-300

Cui DZ, Zhao M, Yang HY, Wang, CI and Dai HB. 2011. Molecular phylogeny of *Trametes* and related genera based on internal transcribed spacer (ITS) and nearly complete mitochondrial small subunit ribosomal DNA (mt SSU rDNA) sequences. *Afr J Biotechnol*, **10**: 18111-18121.

Dai YC. 2010. Hymenochaetaceae (Basidiomycota) in China. *Fungal Divers*, **45**: 131–343.

De Campos LM, Leimann, FV, Pedrosa RC and Ferreira SR. 2008. Free radical scavenging of grape pomace extracts from *Cabernet sauvingnon (Vitis vinifera)*. *Bioresour Technol*, **99**: 8413–8420.

De Silva DD, Rapior S, Fons F, Bahkali AH and Hyde, KD. 2012. Medicinal mushrooms in supportive cancer therapies: an approach to anticancer effects and putative mechanisms of action—a review. *Fungal Divers*, **55**:1–35.

De Silva DD, Rapior S, Sudarman E, Stadler M, Xu J, Alias SA, Hyde KD. 2013. Bioactive metabolites from macrofungi: ethnopharmacology, biological activities and chemistry. *Fungal Divers*, **62**: 1–40.

Duarte S, Pascoal C, Cassio F and Barlocher F. 2006. Aquatic hyphomycete diversity and identity affect leaf litter decomposition in microcosms. *Oecol*, **147**: 658-666.

Dudareva N, Pichersky E and Gershenzon J. 2004. Biochemistry of plant volatiles. *Plant Physiol*, **135**: 1893–1902.

El-Olemy MM, Al-Muhtadi FJ and Afifi AFA. 1994. **Experimental Phytochemistry: A Laboratory Manual.** King Saud Univ. Press, Saudi Arabia.

Griensven LV. 2009. Mushrooms, must action be taken? *Proceeding of the 5 International Medicinal Mushroom Conference*, Nantong, China. pp. 407–412.

Harborne JB. 2005. **Phytochemical methods. A guide to modern techniques of plant analysis**, third ed. Springer Pvt Ltd, New Delhi.

limura Y, Ikeda S, Sonoki T, Hayakawa T, Kajita S, Kimbara K, Tatsumi K and Katayama Y. 2002. Expression of a gene for Mnperoxidase from *Coriolus versicolor* in transgenic tobacco generates potential tools for phytoremediation. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **59**: 246-251.

Iwalokun BA, Usen UA, Otunba AA and Olukoya DK. 2007. Comparative phtyochemical evaluation, antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Afr J Biotechnol*, **6**: 1732-1739.

Koroleva OV, Stepanova V, Gavrilova VP, Yakovleva NS, Landesman EO, Yavmetdinov IS and Yaropolov AI. 2002. Laccase and Mn-peroxidase production by *Coriolus hirsutus* strain 075 in a jar fermentor. *J Biosci Bioeng*, **93**:449-455.

Kosanic M, Rankovic B and Dasic M. 2013. Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of mushrooms. *Bulg J Agric Sci*, **19**: 1040-1046.

Kozlovskii AG, Zhelifonova VP and Antipova TV. 2013. Fungi of the genus *Penicillium* as producers of physiologically active compounds (review). *Appl Biochem Microbiol*, **49**: 1–10.

Lavanya J and Subhashini S. 2013. Therapeutic proteins and peptides from edible and medicinal mushrooms-Review. *ESJ*, **9**: 1857-7881.

Lee JS and Hong EK. 2011. Immunostimulating activity of the polysaccharides isolated from *Cordyceps militaris*. Int Immunopharmacol, **11**: 1226-1233.

Lim SH, Darah I, and Jain K. 2006. Antimicrobial activities of tannins extracted from *Rhizophora apiculata* barks. *J Trop For Sci*, **18**: 59-65.

Lindequist U, Niedermeyer THJ, and Julich WD. 2005. The pharmacological potential of mushrooms-Review. *J Evid Based Complementary Altern Med*, **2**: 285-299.

López A, Rico M, Rivero A and de Tangil MS. 2011. The effects of solvents on the phenolic contents and antioxidant activity of *Stypocaulon scoparium* algae extracts. *Food Chem*, **125**: 1104 – 1109.

Miettinen O and Larsson KH. 2010. *Sidera*, a new genus in *Hymenochaetales* with poroid and hydnoid species. *Mycol Prog*, **10**: 131-141

Mitchell AM, Strobel GA, Hess WM, Vargas PN and Ezra D. 2008. *Muscodor crispans*, a novel endophyte from *Anans ananassoides* in the Bolivian Amazon, *Fungal Divers*, **31**: 37-43.

Murray PR, Rosenthal KS and Pfaller MA. 2013. **Medical microbiology**, Seventh ed. Elsevier/Saunders, Philadelphia.

Neumann UP, Berg T, Baha M, Puhl G, Guckelbeger O, Langreh JM, Neuhaus P. 2004. Long-term outcome of liver transplant for hepatitis C: A 10 year follow-up. *Transplant*, **77**: 226-231

Nikaido H. 2009. Multidrug Resistance in Bacteria. Annu Rev Biochem. 78: 119-146.

Obadoni BO and Ochuko PO. 2001. Phytochemical studies and comparative efficacy of the extracts of some haemostatic plants in Edo and Delta States of Nigeria. *Gjpacr*, **8**: 203–208.

Odebiyi OO and Sofowora EA. 1978. Phytochemical screening of Nigerian medicinal plants. *Lloydia*, **41**: 234 – 246

Oyetayo VO. 2011. Medicinal Uses of Mushrooms in Nigeria: Towards Full and Sustainable Exploitation. *Afr J Tradit Complement Altern Med*, **8**: 267–274.

Pepeljnjak S, Kosalec I, Kalodera Z and Blazevic Z. 2005. Antimicrobial activity of juniper berry essential oil (*Juniperus communis L., Cupressaceae*). Acta Pharm Sin, **55**: 417–422.

Rahman M and Moon S. 2007. Antimicrobial phenolic derivatives from *Dendranthema zawadskii* var. *latilobum kitamura* (Asteraceae). *Arch of Pharm Res*, **30**:1374–1379.

Rakholiya K, Kaneria M, Desai D and Chanda S. 2013. Antimicrobial activity of decoction extracts of residual parts (seed and peels) of *Mangifera indica* L. var. Kesar against pathogenic and food spoilage microorganism. *Formatex*, **2**: 850-856

Ramesh C and Manohar GP. 2010. Antimicrobial Properties, Antioxidant Activity and Bioactive Compounds from Six Wild Edible Mushrooms of Western Ghats of Karnataka, India. *Pharmacognosy Res*, **2**: 107-112.

Sahelian, R. (2014). "Saponin in plants benefit and side effects, glycosides and

extraction."http://www.raysahelian.com/saponin.html (April.27, 2015).

Schinor EC, Salvador MJ, Ito IZ and Dias DA. 2007. Evaluation of the antimicrobial activity of crude extracts and isolated constituents from *Chresta scapigera*. *Braz J Microbiol*, **38**: 145-149.

Sharma SK, Chiang LY and Hamblin MR. 2011. Photodynamic therapy with fullerenes *in vivo*: reality or a dream? *Nanomedicine* (*Lond*), *6*: 1813-25.

Shimada T. 2006. Salivary proteins as a defence against dietary tannins. *J Chem Ecol*, **32**: 1149-1163.

Sperandio FF, Huang YY and Hamblin MR. 2013. Antimicrobial Photodynamic Therapy to Kill Gram-negative Bacteria. *Recent Pat Antiinfect Drug Discov*, **8**: 108–120.

Stadler M, Keller NP. 2008. Paradigm shifts in fungal secondary metabolite research. *Mycol Res*, **112**: 127-130.

Taiwo SS. 2011. Antibiotic-resistant bugs in the 21st century: A public health challenge. World. *Clin Infect Dis*, **1**: 11-16.

Taleb-Contini SH, Salvador MJ, Watanabe E, Ito IY, and Oliveira DCR. 2003. Antimicrobial activity of flavonoids and steroids isolated from two *Chromolaena* species. *Braz J Pharm Sci*, **39**: 403-408

Thatoi HN and Singdevsachan SK. 2014. Diversity, nutritional composition and medicinal potential of Indian mushrooms: A review. *Afr J Biotechnol*, **13**: 523-545.

Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Plewniak F, Jeanmougin F and Higgins DG. 1997. The Clustal\_X windows interface: Flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools. *Nucleic Acids Res*, **25**: 4876–4882.

Trease GE and Evans MC. 2005. **Pharmacognosy**, fourteenth ed. Elsevier, New Delhi, India.

Wasser SP. 2011. Current findings, future trends and unsolved problems in studies of medicinal mushrooms. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **89**: 1323-1332.

Wu B, Tian J, Bai C, Xiang M, Sun J and Liu X. 2013. The biogeography of fungal communities in wetland sediments along

the Chang jiang River and other sites in China. *ISME J*, **7**: 1299–1309.

Xu X, Wu Y and Chen H. 2011. Comparative antioxidative characteristics of polysaccharide-enriched extracts from natural sclerotia and cultured mycelia in submerged fermentation of *Inonotus obliquus. Food Chem*, **127**: 74–79.

Zhang XQ, Yuan J, Xiao YZ, Hong YZ and Tang C. 2006. A primary studies on molecular taxonomy of *Trametes* species based on the ITS sequences of rDNA. *Mycosystema*, **25**: 23-30.

Zolan ME and Pukkila PJ. 1986. Inheritance of DNA methylation in *Coprinus cinereus*. *Mol Cell Biol*, **6**: 195-200.

# The Potential Allelopathic Effects of *Varthemia iphionoides* and the Identification of Phenolic Allelochemicals

Saeid M. Abu-Romman<sup>1,\*</sup>, Moawiya A. Haddad<sup>2</sup> and Khaldoun J. Al-Hadid<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biotechnology; Faculty of Agricultural Technology, Al-Balqa' Applied University. Al-Salt, Jordan;

<sup>2</sup> Department of Nutrition and Food Processing, Faculty of Agricultural Technology, Al-Balqa' Applied University. Al-Salt, Jordan;

<sup>3</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan

Received: July 6, 2015 Revised: August 23, 2015 Accepted: August 27, 2015

# Abstract

The allelopathic effects of aqueous extracts from *Varthemia iphionoides* (Compositae) leaves were tested on germination and early seedling growth of wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.), barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.), lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medik.), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.), and pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.). The experiments were conducted in petri dishes and treatments were arranged in a completely randomized design with eight replications. *V. iphionoides* aqueous extract was applied in 1.25, 2.5, 5.0 and 10% concentrations and water was used as a control. Germination percentage, germination rate, seedling vigor index, and seedling dry weights were significantly inhibited by *V. iphionoides* aqueous extracts. The germination percentage of chickpea seeds was almost unaffected by the treatment. The extract enhanced germination and seedling dry weights in chickpea at the lowest extract concentration. Tomato and wheat were the most sensitive to *V. iphionoides* extract followed by pepper and barley. On the other hand, chickpea and lentil were less affected. Using LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis, ten phenolic compounds were identified in *V. iphionoides* leaves. The results of the current study suggested that *V. iphionoides* aqueous extract possesses allelopathic properties and extract activities are species-specific and concentration-dependent.

Keywords: Allelopathy, germination, phenolic compounds, seedling vigor index, Varthemia iphionoides, aquous extracts.

#### 1. Introduction

Allelopathy is defined as any direct or indirect harmful or beneficial effects of one plant species on another through the release of phytochemicals (allelochemicals) under natural conditions (Rice, 1984). Allelochemicals are present in almost all plant organs and are released into the environment via a variety of processes, including root exudation, volatilization, leaching, and decomposition of plant residues (Inderjit and Duke, 2003; Weston and Duke, 2003).

The phenylpropanoid pathway is the main source of allelochemicals in plants. These allelochemicals are diverse in structures and mode of actions and are known to inhibit growth, development, and several physiological processes in receptor plants (Gniazdowska and Bogatek, 2005; Lorenzo *et al.*, 2008); in consequences, affecting competition and dominance within plant communities and

contribute to the success of invasive species (Abu-Romman and Ammari, 2015; Callaway and Ridenour, 2004; Ens *et al.*, 2009). Some plant species are able to inhibit their own kind through the release of phytotoxic compounds (Singh *et al.*, 2009). Allelopathy is currently practiced in organic agriculture as a biological and eco-friendly practice of weed control instead of using herbicides (Hoagland *et al.*, 2008; Khaliq *et al.*, 2010; Vyvyan, 2002).

Varthemia iphionoides Boiss is a member of the Compositae family and is widely distributed in Jordan mainly in semidry lands (Al-Eisawi, 1982). V. iphionoides is a 30-80 cm long bushy-perennial herb with many aromatic and sticky stems (Feinbrun-Dothan, 1977). Aqueous extracts of V. iphionoides are used in folk medicine of the eastern Mediterranean region as infusion against diabetes mellitus and gastrointestinal disorder (Afifi et al., 1997). Furthermore, flavonoids isolated from this medicinal plant exhibited antimicrobial activity and

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: ssadroman@yahoo.com.

<sup>\*</sup> Abbreviations: GR: germination rate; LC-ESI-MS/Ms.: liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry; LSD: least significant difference; SVI: seedling vigor index.

antiplatelet activity on human blood (Afifi *et al.*, 1991; Afifi and Aburjai, 2004; Al-Dabbas *et al.*, 2006).

*V. iphionoides* has become a noxious weed in field crops in Jordan and inhibition zones around this plant in the fields were noticed (Abu-Romman, personal observations). Therefore, it would be reasonable to propose that *V. iphionoides* plants exhibit allelopathic effects. Hence, this study was designed to determine whether aqueous extracts of *V. iphionoides* leaves exhibit allelopathic potential on germination characteristic and early seedling growth of wheat, barley, chickpea, lentil, tomato, and pepper. In addition, we identified phenolic compounds in *V. iphionoides* leaves using LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis.

## 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Plant material and extract preparation

Leaves of *Varthemia iphionoides* were collected in August, 2013 from wild population in Al-Salt, Jordan (32°12'N latitude; 35°74'E longitude; 800 m above sea level). Leaves were well cleaned with tap water. Leaf tissues were oven-dried at 50 °C for three days and ground to a fine powder.

A hundred grams of tissue powder were used to make aqueous extract by soaking in 1 L of distilled water for 24 h at room temperature. The resultant extract was first filtered through three layers of cheesecloth to remove tissue debris, followed by a second filtration through Whatmann No. 1 filter paper. The extracts obtained were considered to be the stock extract (10 % w/v). The stock extract was diluted to give final concentrations of 1.25, 2.50, 5.00 and 10 % (w/v). Distilled water was used as a control.

#### 2.2. Bioassay

The agricultural crops selected were wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.), barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.), lentil (*Lens culinaris* Medik.), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.), and pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.). All seeds were surface-sterilized in 70% ethanol for 10 min and then by soaking in 2% sodium hypochlorite for 5 min followed by rinsing several times in sterile water.

Fifteen seeds of each species were evenly placed on three-layer filter papers (Whatmann No. 1) in a sterilized 9-cm Petri dishes. All Petri dishes were placed in a dark incubator at  $25 \pm 1$  °C.

Initially, filter papers were moistened with 10.0 ml of respective extract concentration as treatment and distilled water as control. Two ml of the extract solution for the treatment and 2.0 ml of distilled water for the control were added daily. Germination was observed daily over a 7-day period. Germination was considered to occur only after the radical had protruded beyond the seed coat by at least 1.0 mm. Seven days after sowing, the germination percentage was calculated using the formula: [(germinated seeds/total seeds) × 100]. The rate of germination (GR) was calculated according to the formula of Noor *et al.* (1995): [ $\Sigma G/t$ ], where *G* is the number of

seeds germinated at every day and t is the total germination period in days.

Seedling Vigor Index (SVI) was calculated using the formula: [germination  $\% \times$  radical length (cm)] (Abdulbaki and Anderson, 1973). Dry weight of seedlings were measured 7 days after germination by drying seedlings in an oven at 50 °C until the seedlings are completely dry and their weights are constant.

# 2.3. Identification of phenolic allelochemicals

Identification and quantification of phenolic allelochemicals were performed using liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS/MS).

The analysis of phenolic compounds in *V. iphionoides* extract was carried out using Agilent 1100 chromatography system (Agilent 1100, Agilent Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA) equipped with a diode array UV detector. The samples were injected into a Thermo C<sub>18</sub> reversed phase column (pore size 5  $\mu$ m, 250× 4.6 mm i.d. Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA).

The analysis employed a gradient solvent system using aqueous formic acid (1%) as solvent (A), and methanol/acetonitrile/formic acid mixture (89.5/9.5/1 v/v/v) as solvent (B). A seven-step linear gradient elution for a total run time of 65 min was carried out using the solvent gradient as follows: 0-10 min 90-70 solvent A and 10-30% solvent B, 10-15 min isocratic, 15-25 min 60 solvent A and 40% solvent B, 25-40 min 50% solvent A and 50% solvent B,40-50 min to 100% solvent B, 50-55 min 90% solvent A and 10% solvent B and 55-65 min isocratic. An injection volume of 15 µL at constant flow of 0.75 mL/min was employed. The entire flow from the HPLC was directed into the triple-quadrupole mass spectrometer (API 3200; MDS Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada). The mass spectral data were acquired on a negative ion mode. The ESI conditions were as follows: capillary voltage of 4000 V, the ion source was Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization, a cone voltage of 70 V. The dry temperature was 350°C and the drying gas, N<sub>2</sub>, had a flow rate of 4.0 L/min. Product ion scans for mass were performed by low-energy collision (10 eV) and helium was used as the nebulizer gas with a flow rate of 40 psi. Diode array UV detector was used to scan mode between 200 and 400 nm to evaluate contents of individual phenolic compounds. A maximum absorbance of 280 nm was selected to determine the contents of the individual phenolic compounds. The mixture of external standards was used to quantify the contents of individual phenolic compounds. All LC-ESI-MS/MS data were processed by Bruker Daltonics data analysis software (version 4.0).

## 2.4. Statistical analysis

The experiment was designed to have eight replications using a completely randomized design. All values were expressed as percentages compared to the control. Means are separated using the LSD test, and statistical significance was evaluated at P < 0.05.

#### 3. Results

The effects of aqueous extract at different concentrations from V. iphionoides on germination percentage of six test plant species are shown in Figure 1. The results illustrated that germination percentage of all test species except for chickpea was significantly altered. The response toward the inhibitory potential of the aqueous extracts varied among the examined species. At all concentrations of aqueous extract; the final germination percentages of wheat, barley, and tomato were significantly reduced with each increase in the concentration of V. iphionoides aqueous extracts. Pepper germination percentage was only significantly reduced at 5% and 10% extract concentrations. The final germination percentage of chickpea was not significantly altered in response to V. iphionoides aqueous extracts. The lentil germination percentage was significantly reduced at only 5% and 10% extract concentration (Figure 1).

The application of *V. iphionoides* aqueous extracts had significant effects on the germination rate (GR) of all the examined species (Figure 2). GRs of wheat, barley, tomato, and pepper were significantly suppressed by all applied concentrations of the extract. At 10% extract concentration, the GRs relative to the control were 55.7%, 46.4% and 54.8% for wheat, tomato and pepper, respectively.

An enhancement in GR compared to the control was recorded for chickpea when treated with 1.25% extract concentration. The GR of chickpea was only significantly reduced at the highest extract concentration (10%) that was used in the experiment. GR of lentil had the lowest values at 10% extract concentrations. However, lentil and chickpea GRs were least inhibited regardless of the aqueous extract concentrations compared to wheat, barley, tomato, and pepper.

The Seedling Vigor Index (SVI) of all the examined species was significantly inhibited in response to *V. iphionoides* aqueous extract treatment (Figure 3). SVI recorded the lowest values in tomato and wheat followed by pepper and barley. On the other hand, SVI of lentil and chickpea was only significantly lowered by the application of the highest extract concentration (10%). It was noted that the lowest concentration (1.25%) of aqueous extract stimulated chickpea SVI compared to the control. Tissue browning in the radical of tomato seedlings was noticed at 5 and 10% concentrations of *V. iphionoides* aqueous extract (data not shown).

The seedling dry weights were also significantly affected in response to the aqueous extracts of *V. iphionoides* (Figure 4). Among all examined crops, the dry weights of tomato and wheat seedlings were the most negatively affected, followed by pepper and barley. The dry weight of lentil seedlings was less affected compared to the previously mentioned crops. A slight increase in the dry weight of chickpea seedlings was observed at 1.25% extract concentration. However, the dry weight of chickpea seedlings was only reduced significantly when treated with the highest aqueous extract concentration.

The determination of phenolic compounds in *V. iphionoides* leaf extract was performed using LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis. The results presented in Table 1

revealed the presence of ten phenolic compounds in *V. iphionoides* leaves, i. e. *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid, ferulic acid, vanillic acid, tyrosol, chlorogenic acid, *p*-coumaric acid, naringin, quercetin, sinapic acid and rosmarinic acids. Among these phenolic compounds, vanillic acid was the most prominent in leaves of *V. iphionoides*, followed by *p*-coumaric acid, tyrosol and ferulic acid. **Table 1.**The nature and concentration of phenolic compounds identified by LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis from leaves of *V. iphionoides*.

Dhanalia compound Concentration (up o <sup>-1</sup> dry, course)	
Phenolic compound	Concentration (µg g <sup>-1</sup> dry eaves)
p-Hydroxybenzoic acid	2.4
Ferulic acid	28.8
Vanillic acid	139.6
Tyrosol	36.4
Chlorogenic acid	7.94
p-Coumaric acid	47.2
Naringin	0.104
Quercetin	1.42
Sinapic acid	2.88
Rosmarinic acids	4.36



**Figure 1.** Effect of aqueous extract at different concentrations from *V. iphionoides* leaves on final germination percentages of six agricultural crops. Results are presented as the percentage of control plants. Different letters within the same crop species indicate significant differences using LSD test at P < 0.05.



**Figure 2**. Effect of aqueous extract at different concentrations from *V. iphionoides* leaves on germination rates of six agricultural crops. Results are presented as the percentage of control plants. Different letters within the same crop species indicate significant differences using LSD test at P < 0.05.



Figure 3.Effect of aqueous extract at different concentrations from V. *iphionoides* leaves on seedling vigor indexes of six agricultural crops. Results are presented as the percentage of control plants. Different letters within the same crop species indicate significant differences using LSD test at P < 0.05.



Figure 4.Effect of aqueous extract at different concentrations from V. iphionoides leaves on seedling dry weights of six agricultural crops. Results are presented as the percentage of control plants. Different letters within the same crop species indicate significant differences using LSD test at P < 0.05.

#### 4. Discussion

The present results indicate that aqueous extracts of V. iphionoides plants contain indeed growth inhibitors that are capable of reducing germination and growth of the studied species. The responses of the studied species to the aqueous extracts of V. iphionoides were markedly different. This indicates that the degree of allelopathic interference of V. iphionoides aqueous extracts were quite species-specific. Similar results were previously reported with different target species and allelochemical sources (Bhowmik and Inderjit, 2003; El Ayeb et al., 2013; Mutlu and Atici, 2009; Vrchotová et al., 2011). The different responses among species and even within species to allelochemicals result mainly from the target plant genetic makeup, which is responsible for the physiological and the biochemical characteristics (Kobayashi, 2004; Prati and Bossdorf, 2004). Moreover, the differential variation in the target species responses to allelochemicals could result in part to the biometric parameters of the plant seeds (Pellissier, 2013).

With exception of chickpea, final germination percentages of the test species were reduced and were proportional to the extract concentrations applied. Moreover, the germination process was delayed in response to the treatment with *V. iphionoides* aqueous extract. However, treating chickpea seeds with the lowest extract concentration showed slight enhancement of GR. The effect of aqueous extracts on SVI were almost similar to those observed in GR.

Allelochemicals are known to influence the metabolic and physiological processes during seed germination (Abu-Romman, 2011; Chon *et al.*, 2005; Rashid *et al.*, 2010). Phenolic allelochemicals were shown to delay seed imbibition and inhibit germination enzymes, which, therefore, resulted in slowing down starch degradation and sucrose hydrolysis during germination (Lara-Núñez *et al.*, 2009; Politycka and Gmerek, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2009; Tawaha and Turk, 2003).

Stimulation of GR and SVI by lower concentration of the extract was previously reported (Duke *et al.*, 2006; Liu and Chen, 2011; Sampietro and Vattuone, 2006; Singh *et al.*, 2008). Lower concentrations of allelochemicals were shown to stimulate amylase activity and therefore increased soluablization of starch during the germination process of some species (Rizvi *et al.*, 1989; Singh *et al.*, 2009).

Seedling dry weights were negatively affected by treatments with aqueous extracts of *V. iphionoides*. Allelochemicals were shown to impose oxidative stress on the target species. This oxidative stress interferes with cell division, cell elongation, and phytohormone induced growth (Golisz *et al.*, 2008; Jacob and Sarada, 2012; Nishida *et al.*, 2005).

The legumes examined in the present study were found relatively resistant to the allelopathic *V. iphionoides* plant. Some plant species possessed detoxification mechanisms to cope with allelochemicals (Weir *et al.*, 2004). These detoxification mechanisms include the oxidation, hydroxylation or glucosylation of the phytotoxic compounds (Inderjit and Duke, 2003; Sicker *et al.*, 2001; von Rad *et al.*, 2001).

Phenolics are the most important and common allelochemicals known to play a significant role in the ecosystem (Batish et al., 2007; Li et al., 2010). The phytotoxicity of phenolic allelochemicals was reported as a result of their ability to disrupt normal metabolic processes in the plant (Weir et al., 2004). Via LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis, ten phenolic compounds with varied concentrations were detected in V. iphionoides leaves. Among them, vanillic acid, p-coumaric acid, tyrosol and ferulic acid were dominant (Table 1). V. iphionoides plants were reported to contain remarkably high levels of total phenolic contents compared to other medicinal plants within the same Compositae family (Alali et al., 2007). The allelopathic impacts of some phenolic compounds identified in the present study were previously documented. Blum and Gerig (2005) reported that vanillic, p-coumaric and ferulic acid inhibited transpiration, water utilization, leaf area expansion and dry weight of cucumber seedlings. These phenolic acids were also reported to reduce chlorophyll content of soybean plants (Patterson, 1981). Moreover, ferulic and pcoumaric acids were shown to enhance lipid peroxidation and modulate antioxidant system in maize and soybean seedlings (Devi and Prasad, 1996; Doblinski *et al.*, 2003).

## 5. Conclusion

In conclusion, V. iphionoides showed an allelopathic potential on the crop plants under investigation. The effects of allelochemicals produced in this plant are both species-specific and concentration-dependent. The magnitude of reduction in seed germination and seedling dry weights after treatment with V. iphionoides aqueous extracts followed the following order: tomato > wheat > pepper > barley > lentil > chickpea. These findings are valuable for avoiding the cultivation of some crop species (e.g., tomato and wheat) in fields infested with V. iphionoides plants. LC-ESI-MS/MS analysis revealed the presence of several phenolic compounds in V. iphionoides leaves that possibly contribute to the observed phytotoxicity of this medicinal plant. The present results are obtained under laboratory conditions. Laboratory bioassays were commonly used as a first step toward exploring the potential allelopathic effects of a certain plant species (Inderjit and Callaway, 2003). However, field studies are still needed to test the allelopathic properties of V. iphionoides under more natural conditions. Further studies on isolation, purification and evaluation of the candidate allelochemicals present in V. iphionoides are required to gain a better understanding of its physiological and biochemical mechanisms of action.

# Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to Aya Awad, Noor Ateyat and Bayan Al-Momany for their skilled technical assistance and to Jarah Al-Zoubi for sample collection from the field. We would also like to thank Ashraf Mutlaq (Pharmaceutical Research Center - Jordan University of Science and Technology) for performing the chemical analysis.

#### References

Abdul-Baki BAA and Anderson J. 1973. Relationship between decarboxylation of glutamic acid and vigour in soybean seed. *Crop Sci*, **13**:222-226.

Abu-Romman S. 2011. Allelopathic potential of *Achillea* biebersteinii Afan. (Asteraceae). World Appl Sci J, **15**:947-952.

Abu-Romman S and Ammari T. 2015. Allelopathic effect of *Arundo donax*, a mediterranean invasive grass. *Plant Omics*, 8: 287-291.

Afifi FU, Al-Khalil S, Abdul-Haq BK, Mahasneh A, Al-Eisawi DM, Sharaf M, Wong LK and Schiff PL. 1991. Antifungal flavonoids from *Varthemia iphionoides*. *Phytother Res*, **5**:173-175.

Afifi FU, Saket M, Jaghabir M and Al-Eisawi D. 1997. Effect of *Varthemia iphionoides* on blood glucose level of normal rats and rats with streptozocin-induced diabetes mellitus. *Curr Ther Res*, **58**:888-892.

Afifi FU and Aburjai T. 2004. Antiplatelet activity of Varthemia iphionoides. Fitoterapia, **75**:629-633.

Alali FQ, Tawaha K, El-Elimat T, Syouf M, El-Fayad, M Abulaila K, Nielsen SJ, Wheaton WD, Falkinham III JO and Oberlies NH. 2007. Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of aqueous and methanolic extracts of Jordanian plants: an ICBG project', *Nat Prod Res*, **21**:1121-1131.

Al-Eisawi DM. 1982. List of Jordan vascular plants. *Mitt Bot Munch*, **18**:79-182.

Al-Dabbas MM, Suganuma T, Kitahara K, Hou D-X and Fujii M. 2006. Cytotoxic, antioxidant and antibacterial activities of *Varthemia iphionoides* Boiss. extracts. *J Ethnopharmacol*, **108**:287-293.

Batish DR, Lavanya K, Singh HP and Kohli RK. 2007. Phenolic allelochemicals released by *Chenopodium murale* affect the growth, nodulation and macromolecule content in chickpea and pea. *Plant Growth Regul*, **51**:119-128.

Bhowmik PC and Inderjit. 2003. Challenges and opportunities in implementing allelopathy for natural weed management. *Crop Prot*, **22**:661-671.

Blum U and Gerig TM. 2005. Relationships between phenolic acid concentrations, transpiration, water utilization, leaf area expansion, and uptake of phenolic acids: nutrient culture studies. *J Chem Ecol*, **31**:1907-1932.

Callaway RM and Ridenour WM. 2004. Novel weapons: invasive success and the evolution of increased competitive ability. *Front Ecol Environ*, **2**:436-443.

Chon S-U, Jang H-G, Kim D-K, Kim Y-M, Boo H–O and Kim Y-J. 2005. Allelopathic potential in lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) plants. *Sci Hortic*, **106**:309-317.

Devi SR and Prasad MNV. 1996. Ferulic acid mediated changes in oxidative enzymes of maize seedlings: implications in growth. *Biol Plant*, **38**:387-395.

Doblinski PMF, Ferrarese MDLL, Huber DA, Scapim CA and Ferrarese-Filho O. 2003. Peroxidase and lipid peroxidation of soybean roots in response to *p*-coumaric and *p*-hydroxybenzoic acids. *Braz Arch Biol Technol*, **46**:193-198.

Duke SO, Cedergreen N, Velini ED and Belz RG. 2006. Hormesis: is it an important factor in herbicide use and allelopathy?. *Outlooks Pest Manag*, **17**:29-33.

El Ayeb A, Ben Jannet H and Harzallah-Skhiri F. 2013. Effects of *Acacia cyanophylla* Lindl. extracts on seed germination and seedling growth of four crop and weed plants. *Turk J Biol*, **37**:305-314.

Ens EJ, French K and Bremner JB. 2009. Evidence for allelopathy as a mechanism of community composition change by an invasive exotic shrub, *Chrysanthemoides monilifera* spp. *rotundata*. *Plant Soil*, **316**:125-137.

Feinbrun-Dothan N. 1977. Flora Palaestina. Jerusalem: The Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities, 316 p.

Gniazdowska A and Bogatek R. 2005. Allelopathic interactions between plants: multi-site action of allelochemicals. *Acta Physiol Plant*, **27**:395-407

Golisz A, Sugano M and Fujii Y. 2008. Microarray expression profiling of *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. in response to allelochemicals identified in buckwheat. *J Exp Bot*, **59**:3099-3109.

Hoagland L, Carpenter-Boggs L, Reganold JP and Mazzola M. 2008. Role of native soil biology in Brassicaseous seed mealinduced weed suppression. *Soil Biol Biochem*, **40**:1689-1697.

Inderjit and Callway RM. 2003. Experimental designs for the study of allelopathy. *Plant Soil*, **256**:1-11.

Inderjit and Duke SO. 2003. Ecophysiological aspects of allelopathy. *Planta*, **217**:529-539.

Jacob J and Sarada S. 2012. Role of phenolics in allelopathic interactions. *Allelopathy J*, **29**:215-230.
Khaliq A, Matloob A, Irshad MS, Tanveer A and Zamir SI. 2010. Organic weed management in maize (*Zea mays* L.) through integration of allelopathic crop residues. *Pak J Weed Sci Res*, **16**:409-420

Kobayashi K. 2004. Factors affecting phytotoxic activity of allelochemicals in soil. *Weed Biol Manag*, **4**:1-7.

Lara-Núñez A, Sánchez-Nieto S, Luisa Anaya A and Cruz-Ortega R. 2009. Phytotoxic effects of *Sicyos deppei* (Cucurbitaceae) in germinating tomato seeds. *Physiol Plant*, **136**:180-192.

Li Z-H, Wang Q, Ruan X, Pan C-D and Jiang D-A. 2010. Phenolics and Plant Allelopathy. *Molecules*, **15**:8933-8952.

Liu Y and Chen X. 2011. Mathematical modeling of plant allelopathic hormesis based on ecological-limiting-factor models. *Dose Response*, **9**:117-129.

Lorenzo P, Pazos-Malvido E, González L and Reigosa MJ. 2008. Allelopathic interference of invasive *Acacia dealbata*: physiological effects. *Allelopath J*, **22**:452-462.

Mutlu S and Atici O. 2009. Allelopathic effect of *Nepeta meyeri* Benth. extracts on seed germination and seedling growth of some crop plants. *Acta Physiol Plant*, **31**:89-93.

Nishida N, Tamotsu S, Nagata N, Saito C and Sakai A. 2005. Allelopathic effects of volatile monoterpenoids produced by *Salvia leucophylla*: Inhibition of cell proliferation and DNA synthesis in the root apical meristem of *Brassica campestris* seedlings. *J Chem Ecol*, **31**:1187-1203.

Noor M, Salam U and Khan AM. 1995. Allelopathic effects of *Prosopis juliflora* Swartz. *J Arid Environ*, **31**:83-90.

Patterson DT. 1981. Effects of allelopathic chemicals on growth and physiological responses of soybean (*Glycine max*). Weed Sci, **29**:53-59.

Pellissier F. 2013. Improved germination bioassays for allelopathy research. *Acta Physiol Plant*, **35**:23-30.

Politycka B and Gmerek J. 2008. Effect of ferulic and *p*-coumaric acids on the activity of hydrolytic enzymes and growth of radicals in germinating seeds of cucumber and pea. *Allelopthy J*, **21**:227-238.

Prati D and Bossdorf O. 2004. Allelopathic inhibition of germination by *Alliaria petiolata* (Brassicaceae). *Am J Bot*, **91**:285-288.

Rashid MH, Asaeda T and Uddin MN. 2010. The allelopathic Potential of Kudzu (*Pueraria montana*). Weed Sci, **58**:47-55.

Rice EL. 1984. Allelopathy. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.

Rizvi SJH, Mishra GP and Rizvi V. 1989. Allelopathic effects of nicotine on maize II. Some aspects of its mechanism of action. *Plant Soil*, **116**:292-298.

Sicker D, Schneider B, Hennig L, Knop M and Schulz M. 2001. Glycoside carbamates from benzoxazolin-2(3H)-one detoxification in extracts and exudates of corn roots. *Phytochem*, **58**:819-825.

Sampietro DA and Vattuone MA. 2006. Sugarcane straw and its phytochemicals as growth regulators of weed and crop plants. *Plant Growth Regul*, **48**:21-27.

Singh NB, Singh A and Singh D. 2008. Autotoxic effects of *Lycopersicon esculentum*. Allelopathy J, **22**:429-442.

Singh A, Singh D and Singh N. 2009. Allelochemical stress produced by aqueous leachate of *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia* Viv. *Plant Growth Regul*, **58**:163-171.

Tawaha A and Turk M. 2003. Allelopathic effects of black mustard (*Brassica nigra*) on germination and growth of wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*). J Agron Crop Sci, **189**:298-303.

von Rad U, Huttl R, Lottspiech F, Gierl A and Frey M. 2001. Two glucosyltransferases are involved in detoxification of benzoxazinoids in maize. *Plant J*, **28**:633-642.

Vrchotová N, Šerá B and Krejčová J. 2011. Allelopathic activity of extracts from *Impatiens* species. *Plant Soil Environ*, **57**:57-60.

Vyvyan JR. 2002. Allelochemicals as leads for new herbicides and agrochemicals. *Tetrahedron*, **58**:1631-1646.

Weir TL, Park S-W and Vivanco JM. 2004. Biochemical and physiological mechanisms mediated by allelochemicals. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, **7**:472-479.

Weston LA and Duke SO. 2003. Weed and crop allelopathy. *Crit Rev Plant Sci*, **22**:367-389.

# Identifying Selection Signatures Related to Domestication Process in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) Landraces of Jordan Using Microsatellite Markers

Nidal A. Odat<sup>1,\*</sup>, Maen K. Hasan<sup>2</sup>, Maher S. Obeidat<sup>1</sup>, Mohamad A. Shatnawi<sup>1</sup>, Saeid M. Abu-Romman<sup>1</sup>, Issam M. Qrunfleh<sup>2</sup>, and Muhannad I. Massadeh<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biotechnology, Al-Balqa' Applied University, Al-Salt, 19117, Jordan;

<sup>2</sup>Department of Plant Production and Protection, Faculty of Agricultural Technology, Al-Balqa' Applied University, Al-Salt, 19117,

Jordan,

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biology and Biotechnology, Hashemite University, Zarqa, 13115.

Received: July 23, 2015 Revised: September 1, 2015 Accepted: September 8, 2015

#### Abstract

Domestication process and the subsequent breeding may result in a genetic mutation and selection pressures that possibly contributed to the emergence of two phenotypes of barley spikelets, namely six-row and two-row barley. The present study used microsatellite genetic markers to investigate the population genetics of a selected set of accessions of domesticated barley representing different populations of Jordan, to identify a signature of selection resulted from domestication process. Genomic and statistical approaches, such as the analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) and the so-called hierarchical "outlier" tests, were utilized to identify signatures of selection. Generally, there was a high level of polymorphisms in all the studied populations, which ranged from 19.23 for Ramtha to 69.23 (%) for Zarga, with an average of 53.61 (%). The average number of allele per locus for the entire sample set was of 9.346 and it ranged 2 occurring at [(Bmag0136), (EBmac0970\_a), (EBmac0970\_c) loci], to 27 at (Bmac0040) locus. The results of AMOVA showed that the main portion (~72%) of total diversity was attributed to differentiations within populations. Other portions of diversity (11.040%) were explained by the diversity among populations. As revealed by the hierarchical outlier tests and AMOVA results, 9 microsatellites were identified to be under possible selection pressures, possibly indicates that these loci were important in the past improvement of barley by early cultivators. In conclusion, the present study shows that barley landraces of Jordan possess high levels of genetic diversity and allelic richness that could be utilized in barley improvement and breeding program.

Keywords: Hordeum spp, microsatellite, genetic diversity, population differentiation, domestication, selection signature, Jordan.

#### 1. Introduction

Modern cereals, such as barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), have been originated as a result of the domestication process which is believed to be started ~12,000 years before present (yBP) in the Fertile Crescent, a region which encloses the countries of Iraq, Kuwait, Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, Palestine, Cyprus, and Egypt, southeastern border of Turkey, and the western border of Iran (Zohary and Hopf, 2000; Salamini *et al.*, 2002). This domestication process and the subsequent selective breeding by early cultivators of cereals involved the selection of individual's plants with certain traits that serve human needs, such as improved seed yield, seed recovery, and other traits (Hammer, 1984; Harlan, 1992). In barley, the selection process by humans during domestication resulted in the emergence of two different phenotypes or morphs, namely six-rowed barley or (*Hordeum vulgare* L. *hexastichum*), and two-rowed barley or (*Hordeum vulgare* L. *distichum*) (Badr *et al.*, 2000; Kilian *et al.*, 2006). Population genetics studies indicated that during domestication process the six-rowed barley has emerged from the two-rowed wild barley as a result of mutations and selection pressures which lead to the difference in morphology of spikelets (Komatsuda *et al.*, 2007).

Studying population genetics of domesticated crops, such as barley, is important not only from an evolutionary stand point, but also from agricultural perspectives (Meyer and Purugganan, 2013; Fuller *et al.*, 2011; Kellogg, 2001). For example, an efficient breeding

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: nidalodat@gmail.com.

method requires a selection of agriculturally important phenotypes which are often genetically controlled by an array of genotypic spectrum (Fuller *et al.*, 2011).

Microsatellites, also called Simple Sequence Repeats (SSRs), are among the advanced genetic markers currently developed (Struss and Plieske, 1998). These genetic markers are considered to be highly informative and reproducible in term of their discrimination among populations and landraces of barley (Ramsay *et al.*, 2000)

In the present study, the population genetics of a selected set of accessions of domesticated barley covering ten populations (sites) of Jordan were investigated using microsatellite genetic markers. Specifically, the objectives of this study are to: (1) investigate the level of genetic diversity within and between populations of barley, (2) study the degree of population differentiation between the two cultivated phenotypes (two-rowed and six-rowed barley) and (3) identify microsatellite loci that are under possible influence by selection pressure of domestication.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Plant Material and Genomic DNA Isolation

A set of 139 seeds representing accessions of barley landraces (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), originally collected from 10 geographical locations of Jordan, were obtained from the seed bank of the National Center for Agricultural Research and Extension (NCARE, Weltzien, 1988). Of these accessions, 42 were of six-rowed spike barley type and 97 of two-rowed barley spike type. Seeds were grown in greenhouse and genomic DNA was extracted from young leaves of about 4 weeks using the CTAB method (Doyle and Doyle, 1987). An average of ten seeds (individuals) per site were used in the present study. Most seeds present in NCARE are of two-row compared with six-row barley.

#### 2.2. Genotyping of microsatellite markers

Twenty-five microsatellite loci covering the 7 chromosomes of barley were chosen based on the genomic map established by Ramsay et al., (2000) (Table 1). Polymerase Chain Reactions (PCR) were carried out in a volume of about 12 µl containing approximately 20 ng of genomic DNA template, 0.5 U Taq polymerase (Oiagen, Hilden, Germany), 1 x PCR reaction buffer (Qiagen), 0.5 pmol each of forward and reverse primers (IRD700- or IRD 800-labelled), and 0.18 mM of each deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs). Amplifications were performed using a standard amplification cycle in a GeneAmp PCR System 9700 thermal cycler, and SSR polymorphisms were resolved and visualized using a LI-COR GeneReadir 4200 (MWG Biotech, Ebersberg). DNA isolation, PCR conditions, genotyping of microsatellite and gel preparation detailed in (Hasan et al., 2006). The laboratories techniques for this were conducted in the the Justus Liebig Universitylaboratories of Giessen/Germany.

#### 2.3. Analysis of the level of genetic diversity

Summary statistics of genetic diversity, including gene diversity (Nei, 1978), the number polymorphic loci, percentage of polymorphism, and alleles number, were calculated for each microsatellite locus per population using the software Powermaker version 3.25 (Liu and Muse, 2005).

# 2.4. Identifying selection signature at microsatellite loci in relation to domestication

In order to detect and identify microsatellite loci that were possibly under selection pressure due to domestication, FST-based outlier test was conducted. This method takes hierarchical population structure into account (Excoffier et al., 2009), and is implemented in the software Arlequin. Briefly, the method detects outliers exhibiting significantly high or low F<sub>ST</sub> values, controlled for heterozygosity at microsatellite loci. Outliers are detected based on differentiation among all populations (F<sub>ST</sub>) and differentiation among groups of populations (two- rowed barley vs. six-rowed barley) ( $F_{CT}$ ). The analyses were conducted at: (1) an overall analysis encompassing all analyzed populations (based on F<sub>ST</sub>) and (2) an analysis at the phenotypic level conducting tests for pair-wise comparisons (F<sub>CT</sub>). This analysis assumed a simulation model of 25 groups each consisting of 50 populations and based the tests on 50,000 simulated loci for the full data set.

#### 3. Results

The 25 microsatellite loci used in the present study provided a fair coverage of the genome, with a range between 2 and 5 loci for each of the seven *Hordeum* linkage groups (Chromosomes). The final dataset, therefore, was based on results of 229 amplified SSRs with an average of 9.16 alleles per locus in the entire sample. The results show a large variation in the number of alleles among the microsatellite loci, with the lowest of 2 occurring at the (Bmag0136), (EBmac0970\_a), and (EBmac0970\_c) loci and the highest of 27 at (Bmac0040) locus. Nine of the (25) loci showed more than 10 alleles per locus (Table 1).

To see the level and the extent of genetic diversity within our studied samples of barley, summary statistics of genetic diversity were estimated using several parameters for each populations of barley. The average gene diversity for the entire samples set was found to be 0.468, with a range of 0.096 for Ramtha population to 0.610 for Zarga population (Table 2). Generally, there was a high level of polymorphisms in all the studied populations, which ranged from [19.23 for Ramtha to 69.23 (for Zarga)] with an average of 53.61 %.

To see the level of the population genetic differentiation that might reflect geographical or phenotypical structure between barley landraces, the total genetic diversity was divided within and between-populations components by using the analysis of molecular variances (AMOVA). The results of AMOVA show that the main portion of the total diversity of 71.830% was attributed to differentiations within populations (Table 3). Other portions of diversity (11.040%) were explained by the diversity among populations within phenotype types and (17.130%) percentage of variances was clarified by differentiation between the barley phenotype types, namely two-rowed and six-rowed barley. The high  $F_{CT}$  value of 17.13%,

which measures the extent of differences between barley phenotypes, indicated that genetic differentiation between (*Hordeum vulgare* L. *hexastichum*), and two-rowed barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L. *distichum*) is a considerably high. There was no significant correlation between geographic origins and genetic differentiation of barley accessions. As suggested by the hierarchical outlier test, it was found that 8 microsatellite loci to be under selection across all populations ( $F_{ST}$ ; Figure 1), whereas 9 outliers microsatellite loci were identified to show selection pressures which contributed to the phenotypic characteristics of studied accessions of barley ( $F_{CT}$ ; Figure 2).

Table 1. Marker name, allele number, chromosome location, primer pairs sequences, and repeat motif for 25 microsatellite markers used in this study.

Marker or Loci	Allele number	Chromosome	Primer sequence $(5'-3')$	Repeat motif		
Bmag0382	7	1H	5' TGAAACCCATAGAGAGTGAGC 3'	(AG)7AA(AG)7		
Dinag0302	,	111	5' TCAAAAGTTTCGTTCCAAATAC 3'	(10)//11(10)/		
Bmag0211	10	1H	5' ATTCATCGATCTTGTATTAGTCC 3'	(CT)16		
	10	111	5' ACATCATGTCGATCAAAGC 3'	(01)10		
Bmag0347	14	1H	5' CTGGGATTGGATCACTCTAA 3'	(CT)28		
Dinago347	17	111	5' AAAACAAGTACTGAAAATAGGAGA 3'	(01)20		
Bmac0093	5	2H	5' CGTTTGGGACGTATCAAT 3'	(AC)24		
Billacoors	5	211	5' GGGAGTCTTGAGCCTACTG 3'	(110)24		
EBmac0850	5	2H	5' CTCAGATAACACCTTTAAACACA 3'	(AC)13AT(AC)10A-(AC)		
EDinacoooo	5	211	5' AAGACAGTTGGGTAAGCCT 3'			
Bmac0134	21	2H	5' CCAACTGAGTCGATCTCG 3'	(AC)28		
Billaco134	21	211	5' CTTCGTTGCTTCTCTACCTT 3'	(110)20		
Bmag0136	2	3Н	5' GTACGCTTTCAAACCTGG 3'	(AG)6-(AG)10-(AG)6		
Dinago130	L	3H	5' GTAGGAGGAAGAATAAGGAGG 3'	(10)0 (10)10 (10)0		
HVM60	10	3Н	5' CAATGATGCGGTGAACTTTG 3'	(AG)11 and (GA)14		
1111100	10		5' CCTCGGATCTATGGGTCCTT 3'			
Bmac0181	9	9 4H	5' ATAGATCACCAAGTGAACCAC 3'	(AC)20		
Dinacoror	-		5' GGTTATCACTGAGGCAAATAC 3'	(110)20		
3mag0353 12	12	4H	5' ACTAGTACCCACTATGCACGA 3'	(AG)21		
Dinago555			5' ACGTTCATTAAAATCACAACTG 3'	(110)21		
HVM67	8	4H	5' GTCGGGCTCCATTGCTCT 3'	(GA)11		
	0		5' CCGGTACCCAGTGACGAC 3'	(07/11		
Bmag0384 7	7	4H	5' TGTGAGTAGTTCACCATAGACC 3'	(AG)18		
Dinago504	,		5' TGCCATTATCATTGTATTGAA 3'	(10)10		
Bmag0337	337 11	11 5H	5H	5' ACAAAGAGGGAGTAGTACGC 3'	(AG)22	
Dinago557	11	511	5' GACCCATGATATATGAAGATCA 3'	(110)22		
Bmac0163	4	5Н	5' TTTCCAACAGAGGGTATTTACG 3'	(AC)6(GC)3(AC)17		
Dinacoros	7	511	5' GCAAAGCCCATGATACATACA 3'	(10)0(00)5(10)17		
EBmac0970_a	2	5Н	5' ACATGTGATACCAAGGCAC 3'	(AC)8		
EDinaco)/o_a	2	511	5' TGCATAGATGATGTGCTTG 3'	(110)0		
EBmac0970_b	3	5Н	5' ACATGTGATACCAAGGCAC 3'	(AC)8		
Lbinac0770_0	5	511	5' TGCATAGATGATGTGCTTG 3'	(AC)0		
EBmac0970_c	2	5H	5' ACATGTGATACCAAGGCAC 3'	(AC)8		
Lbinac07/0_c	2	511	5' TGCATAGATGATGTGCTTG 3'	(AC)0		
Bmac0096	15	5H	5' GCTATGGCGTACTATGTATGGTTG 3'	(AT)6(AC)16		
Dillacoord	15	,11	5' TCACGATGAGGTATGATCAAAGA 3'	(A1)0(AC)10		

Bmag0009 7	7	6H	5' AAGTGAAGCAAGCAAACAAACA 3'	(AG)13	
	1	011	5' ATCCTTCCATATTTTGATTAGGCA 3'	(10)15	
Bmac0040	27	6H	5' ATTATCTCCTGCAACAACCTA 3'	(AC)20	
Billac0040	21	011	5' CTCCGGAACTACGACAAG 3'	(AC)20	
Bmag0321	9	7H	5' ATTATCTCCTGCAACAACCTA 3'	(AG)17(AC)16	
Dinag0321	,	/11	5' CTCCGGAACTACGACAAG 3'	(AG)17(AC)10	
Bmac0273 a	9	7H	5' ACAAAGCTCGTGGTACGT 3'	(AC)20(AG)20	
Dillac0275_a	2	/11	5' AGGGAGTATTTCACCCTTG 3'		
Bmac0273 b	5	7H	5' ACAAAGCTCGTGGTACGT 3'	(AC)20(AG)20	
Billac0275_0	J	/H	5' AGGGAGTATTTCACCCTTG 3'	(AC)20(AC)20	
Bmac0031	9	7H	5' AGAGAAAGAGAAATGTCACCA 3'	(AC)28	
Bmac0031 9	7	9 /п	5' ATACATCCATGTGAGGGC 3'	(AC)28	
Bmag0120	16	7H	5' AGAGAAAGAGAAATGTCACCA 3'	(AC)28	
	10	10 /H	5' ATACATCCATGTGAGGGC 3'	(AC)28	

Table 2. Summary statistics of genetic variation estimated for the studied	populations of Jordanian landraces of barley.

Population/row-type	Sample size	Gene Diversity	No of Polymorphic loci	% of Polymorphic loci
Irbid/Two-rowed	11	0.555	16	61.538
Irbid/Six-rowed	22	0.588	11	42.308
Ramtha/Two-rowed	3	0.096	5	19.231
Jarash/Two-rowed	4	0.366	16	61.538
Mafrag/Two-rowed	8	0.572	12	46.154
Mafrag/Six-rowed	6	0.474	16	61.538
Zarga/Two-rowed	7	0.559	18	69.231
Zarga/Six-rowed	11	0.61	16	61.538
Balga/Two-rowed	2	0.558	14	53.846
Balga/Six-rowed	6	0.383	17	65.385
Madaba/Two-rowed	9	0.475	16	61.538
Madaba/Six-rowed	5	0.491	18	69.231
Karak/Two-rowed	18	0.564	13	50
Karak/Six-rowed	3	0.348	13	50
Tafileh/Two-rowed	16	0.347	14	53.846
Maen/Two-rowed	14	0.498	8	30.769

**Table 3.** AMOVA of barley populations investigated in this study showing the effect barley inflorescence types (two vs six row) on genetic differentiation.

df	Sum of squares	Variance	% variation	P value
1	99.138	0.777	17.130	P<0.001
14	150.217	0.501	11.040	P<0.001
232	756.693	3.262	71.830	
247	1006.048	4.541	100	
	1 14 232	1         99.138           14         150.217           232         756.693	1         99.138         0.777           14         150.217         0.501           232         756.693         3.262	1         99.138         0.777         17.130           14         150.217         0.501         11.040           232         756.693         3.262         71.830



Figure 1. Graphical representation of the relationship between heterozygosity and population differentiation as obtained from hierarchical outlier tests involving the 25 microsatellites in this study. The graph shows the eight loci which are supposed to be under selection based on genetic differentiation between the two barley phenotypes.



Figure 2. The relationship between heterozygosity and population differentiation as obtained from hierarchical outlier test based on genetic differentiation between the two barley phenotypes indicating the 9 microsatellite loci that show signature of selection pressures of barley domestication.

#### 4. Discussion

With the advances of molecular markers, population genetics of crop plant has become an important tool for conserving and maintaining germplasm collections. Studies of population genetics of crops offer a unique opportunity to identify footprints or signature of selection which can give valuable insight which help to identify new genes of agronomic importance (Vigouroux *et al.*, 2002; Burger, 2008; Fuller *et al.*, 2011). Similar to other studies, the present study employed microsatellite, as suitable molecular markers to study the population genetic diversity in barley landraces (Ordon *et al.*, 1995; Thiel *et al.*, 2003; Varshney *et al.*, 2006). This study of barley revealed a relatively high overall genetic diversity for all the populations studied (Table 2). The high level of genetic diversity suggests that gene pool of barley of Jordan possesses a high level of allelic richness and polymorphism that could be exploited for the improvement and management of barley germplasm. The high level of genetic diversity detected in the present study is possibly a consequence of the location of Jordan in Fertile Crescent which characterized by high diversity of crop plants and even wild plants (Badr *et al.*, 2000; Zohary and Hopf, 2000; von Bothmer *et al.*, 2003; Pourkheirandish and Komatsuda, 2007).

As estimated by summary statistics, most of the genetic diversity found in this study resided within population rather than between the populations of the studied accessions (Table 2). Moreover, AMOVA analysis revealed a low but a significant genetic diversity between populations, and there was no association between genetic diversity and geographical locations of populations. This suggests that the gene flow between barley from different areas in Jordan is relatively high. These results are in agreement with other studies which revealed a differentiation between different barley accessions from different countries (Ordon et al., 1995; Hamza et al., 2004). According to AMOVA, the barley landraces could be divided into two groups that reflect different barley inflorescence types, namely six-row in one group and two-row in the second group (Table 3). Based on these results, the six-rowed barley populations significantly differed from two-rowed barley likely as a consequence of the gene flow and selective pressures during domestication and selective (Hamza et al., 2004; Malysheva-Otto et al., 2006; Yahiaoui et al., 2008).

The present study also investigated the gene diversity of barley with the intention of identifying microsatellites that show evidence of selection during barley domestication. To achieve this, a population genetic approach was utilized by starting with SSR genetic loci and asking whether these loci were targets of selection (Doebley et al., 2006). Of the 25 microsatellites loci studied here, 9 microsatellites were found to be under possible selection pressures between the two barley phenotypes (two-row vs six-rowed) (Figure 2). These loci possibly represent genes that were selected by barley cultivators as they perhaps contributed to agronomic performance, palatability, nutritional quality, or other traits of barley. It could be hypothesized that these loci were important in the past improvement of barley, and this may indicate that these loci are possible candidates for introgressive breeding from wild relatives to increase the pool of diversity with which modern breeders can work (Vigouroux et al., 2002). However, the effect of plant breeding on genetic diversity is a controversial issue. For example, a decrease in genetic diversity because of conventional plant breeding has been found in barley (Graner et al., 1990; Allard 1996; Ellis et al., 1997; Russell et al. 1997). On the other hand, Struss and Plieske (1998) found the same level of genetic diversity in wild and in domesticated barley. Our study has a caveat as we used seeds collected in the past (see Material and Methods section). This makes us cautious as the genetic diversity found in the present study may be different if compared with plant materials that represent the current time. Thus,

a further study is needed to compare our results with new barley landraces that represent the current time.

In conclusion, the present study reveals that barley landraces, from different areas of Jordan, posses high levels of genetic diversity and allelic richness that could be utilized in barley improvement and breeding program.

#### Acknowledgment

The authors thank the German Research Foundation (DFG) of Germany for supporting the research visit to Dr. Maen Hasan to the laboratories of the Justus Liebig University in Giessen/Germany.

#### References

Allard R. 1996. Genetic basis of the evolution of adaptedness in plants. *Euphytica*, **92**: 1-11.

Badr A, Muller, K, Schafer R, Rabey H, Effgen S, Ibrahim H, Pozzi C, Rohde W, Salamini F. 2000. the Origin and Domestication History of Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*). *Mol Biol Evol*, **17**: 499-510.

Burger J, Champan A, Burke J. 2008. Molecular insights into the evolution of crop plants. *Am J Bot*, **95**: 113-122.

Doebley J, Gaut B, Smith B. 2006. The molecular genetics of crop domestication. *Cell*, **127**: 1309-1321.

Doyle J and Doyle J. 1987. A rapid DNA isolation procedure for small quantities of fresh leaf tissue. *Phytochem Bull*, **19**:11-15.

Ellis R, McNicol J, Baird E, Booth A, Lawrence P, Thomas B, and Powell W. 1997. The use of AFLPs to examine genetic relatedness in barley. *Mo Breed*, **3**: 359-369.

Excoffier L, Hofer T and Foll M. 2009. Detecting loci under selection in a hierarchically structured population. *Heredity*, **103**: 285-298.

Fuller D, Asouti E, Purugganan M. 2011. Cultivation as slow evolutionary entanglement: comparative data on rate and sequence of domestication. *Veg Hist Archaeobot*, **43**: 1-15.

Graner A, Siedler H, Jahoor A, Herrmann RG, Wenzel G. 1990. Assessment of the degree and the type of restriction fragment length polymorphism in barley (*Hordeum vulgare*). *Theor Appl Genet*, **80**: 826-832.

Hammer K. 1984. Das Domestikationssyndrom. *Kulturpflanze*, **32**: 11-34.

Hamza S, Hamida W, Rebai A, Harrabi M. 2004. SSR-based genetic diversity assessment among Tunisian winter barley and relationship with morphological traits. *Euphytica*, **135**: 107-118.

Harlan J. 1992. Crops and man. American Society of Agronomy-Crop Science Society, Madison, WI.

Hasan M, Seyis F, Badani AG, Pons-Kühnemann J, Friedt W, Lühs W, Snowdon RJ. 2006. Analysis of genetic diversity in the *Brassica napus* L. gene pool using SSR markers. *Genet Resour Crop Evol*, **53**: 793-802.

Kellogg E. 2001. Evolutionary history of the grasses. *Plant Physiol*, **125**: 1198-1205.

Kilian B, Oe zkan H, Kohl J, von Haeseler A, Barale F, Deusch O, Brandolini A, Yucel C, Martin W, Salamini F. 2006. Haplotype structure at seven barley genes: relevance to gene pool bottlenecks, phylogeny of ear type and site of barley domestication. *Mol Genet Genom*, **276**: 230-241.

Komatsuda T, Pourkheirandish M, He C, Azhaguvel P, Kanamori H, Perovic D, Stein N, Graner A, Wicker T, Tagiri A, Lundqvist U, Fujimura T, Matsuoka M, Matsumoto T, and Yano M. 2007. Six-rowed barley originated from a mutation in a homeodomain-leucine zipper I-class homeobox gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, **104**: 1424-1429.

Liu K, Muse S. 2005. PowerMarker: Integrated analysis environment for genetic marker data. *Bioinformatics*, **21**: 2128-2129.

Malysheva-Otto L, Ganal W and Roder S. 2006. Analysis of molecular diversity, population structure and linkage disequilibrium in a worldwide survey of cultivated barley germplasm (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *BMC Genet*, **7**: 1-14.

Meyer RS, Purugganan MD. 2013. Evolution of crop species: genetics of domestication and diversification. *Nature Reviews Genet*, **14**: 840-852.

Nei N. 1978. Estimation of average heterzygosity and genetic distance from a small number of individuals. *Genetics*, **89**: 583-590.

Ordon F, Bauer E, Friedt W, Graner A. 1995. Marker-based selection for the *ym4* BaMMV-resistance gene in barley using RAPDs. *Agronomie*, **15**: 481-485.

Pourkheirandish M, Komatsuda T. 2007. The importance of barley genetics and domestication in a global perspective. *Ann Bot*, **100**: 999-1008.

Ramsay L, Macaulay M, degli Ivanissevich S, MacLean K, Cardle, LFuller J, Edwards, K, Tuvesson S, Morgante M, Massari A, Maestri E, Marmiroli N, Sjakste T, Ganal M, Powell W, Waugh R. 2000. A simple sequence repeat-based linkage map of barley. *Genetics*, **156**: 1997-2005.

Russell J, Fuller J, Macaulay M, Hatz B, Jahoor A, Powell W, Waugh R. 1997. Direct comparison of levels of genetic variation among barley accessions detected by RFLPs, AFLPs, SSRs and RAPDs. *Theor Appl Genet*, **95**: 714-722. Salamini F, Oezkan H, Brandolini A, Schaefer-Pregl R, Martin W. 2002. Genetics and geography of wild cereal domestication in the Near East. *Nature Rev Genet*, **3**: 429–441.

Struss D and Plieske J. 1998. The use of microsatellite markers for detection of genetic diversity in barley populations. *Theor Appl Genet*, **97**: 308-315.

Thiel T, Michalek W, Varshney R, Graner A. 2003. Exploiting EST databases for the development and characterization of genederived SSR-markers in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *Theor Appl Genet*, **106**: 411-422.

Varshney RK, Grosse I, Hähnel U, Siefken R, Prasad M, Stein N, Langridge P, Altschmied L, Graner A. 2006. Genetic mapping and BAC assignment of EST-derived SSR markers shows non-uniform distribution of genes in the barley genome. *Theor Appl Genet*, **113**: 239-250.

Vigouroux Y, McMullen M, Hittinger C, Houchins K, Schulz L, Kresovich S, Matsuoka Y and Doebley J. 2002. Identifying genes of agronomic importance in maize by screening microsatellites for evidence of selection during domestication. *Proc Natl Acad*, **99**: 9650-9655.

von Bothmer R, van Hintum K, Nuepffer T, Sato K. 2003. Diversity in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*), Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Weltzien E. 1988. Evaluation of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) landrace populations originating from different growing regions in the Near East. *Plant Breed*, **101**: 95-106

Yahiaoui S, Igartua E, Moralejo M, Ramsay L, Molina-Cano J, Ciudad F, Lasa J, Gracia M and Casas A. 2008. Patterns of genetic and eco-geographical diversity in Spanish barleys. *Theor Appl Genet*, **116**: 271-282.

Zohary D, Hopf M. 2000. **Domestication of plants in the old world: the origin and spread of cultivated plants in West Asia, Europe, and the Nile Valley**. Oxford University Press, NY.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

## Phlomis brachydon Essential Oil Against Bacterial Biofilm

Sameeh Al- Sarayreh<sup>1,\*</sup>, Arwa Rawashdeh<sup>2</sup>, Ibrahim Al-Tarawneh<sup>3</sup>, and Mahmoud Al-Qudah<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Mutah University, Mutah, Jordan;

<sup>2</sup> Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Mutah University, Mutah, Jordan;

<sup>3</sup> Faculty of Science, Department of Chemistry, Albalqa' Applied University, Albalqa, Al-Salt, Jordan;

<sup>4</sup> Faculty of Science, Department of Chemistry Yarmouk University, Irbid, Jordan;

Received: July 29, 2015 Revised: September 15, 2015 Accepted: September 21, 2015

#### Abstract

Bacteria in biofilms show high resistance to antimicrobial and they cause many persistent and chronic bacterial infections. The failure of antibiotics in eradicating biofilm drives the need for novel approaches to effectively kill bacterial biofilms. Plant essential oils have been used for hundreds of years in traditional medicine to treat infections due to bacteria, fungi, and virus. The aim of the present study is to determine the effects of essential oil of *Phlomis* grown in north Jordan on biofilm-forming bacteria. Six bacterial clinical isolates were used in this study. The Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Biofilm Inhibitory Concentration (BIC) assays were performed in microtitre plates using a twofold dilution series. *Phlomis* essential oil MIC for planktonic bacteria ranged between 0.125 and 2 mg/mL. The most susceptible strains were MRSA and *S. epidermidis*. For bacteria grown in biofilm, the BIC ranged between 0.25 and 4 mg/mL. The most sensitive to *Phlomis* essential oil was *S. epidermidis* while the most resistant were *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli*. *Phlomis* essential oil was able to inhibit initial adherence in the most tolerant isolate (*E. coli*) at sub-inhibitory concentrations. *Phlomis* essential oil showed a significant activity against all isolates in both planktonic and biofilm growth. It was able to inhibit initial adherence in the most tolerant isolate (*B. coli*) at sub-inhibitory concentrations.

Keywords: MIC, BIC, biofilm, resistant bacteria, essential oil, Pholims.

#### 1. Introduction

*Biofilm* is a community of *microorganisms* adhered to surfaces and embedded in a self produced slimy, glue-like matrix. The matrix, which is made up of polysaccharide, protein and DNA, acts as a shield that prevents the access of antimicrobials to biofilm microbes (Veerachamy *et al.*, 2014; Stewart and Costerton, 2001). Bacteria in biofilms display a coordinated activity and are able to communicate with each other and exchange signals. Through signalling and sensing, bacteria in a biofilm regulate cell density, formation of channels and pillar like structure for nutrient delivery (Sauer *et al.*, 2002; Miller and Bassler, 2001). This is why bacteria in a biofilm are different from planktonic bacteria and they are also found to be different in gene expression (Mikkelsen *et al.*, 2007).

Bacterial biofilms show high tolerance to antibiotics and disinfectant hemicals and resist body's defence system. The mechanisms associated with biofilm resistance include: restricted diffusion of antimicrobial agents due to the extracellular matrix, formation of persister cells, adaptive stress responses, slow-growing bacteria (due to depletion of nutrient and oxygen within biofilm) which is less susceptible to antimicrobial agents and expression of biofilm-specific antimicrobial resistance genes (Høiby *et al.*, 2010; Patel, 2005).

*Biofilm* associated *diseases* include cystic fibrosis pneumonia, native valve endocarditis, otitis, bacterial prostatitis, dental plaques, osteomyelitis, musculoskeletal infections, periodontitis and medically associated such as intravascular catheters, urinary catheters and prosthetic implants (Pamp *et al.*, 2009; Aparna and Yadav, 2008).

The failure of antibiotics to treat biofilm associated infections increases the need for alternatives. Essential Oils (EO) have been used for centuries in traditional medicine for treating various diseases. Essential oils are very complex mixtures of volatile components produced by aromatic plants as secondary metabolites. They were shown to possess antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral, insecticidal and antioxidant properties (Nazzaro *et al.*, 2013; Burt, 2004).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: Sameeh\_Sarayreh@yahoo.com.

Predictions about the mode of action of crude essential oils require thorough investigations of their constituents' target site, their mode of action, and their interactions with the surrounding environment (Burt, 2004). As crude essential oils contain many constituents, it is very difficult to predict their mode of action. The strongest antibacterial properties against pathogens come from phenolic compounds such as carvacrol, eugenol and thymol. Essential oils are hydrophobic in nature, which enables them to disturb the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane and mitochondria causing leakage of ions and other cell contents (Hyldgaard *et al.*, 2012).

*Phlomis* is a plant used in herbal medicine for respiratory tract diseases, local treatment of wounds, treatment of ulcers and hemorrhoids. In Jordan traditional medicine *Phlomis brachydon* (Boiss.) Zohary is used to treat stomach and intestine pain (Darwish and Aburjai, 2010). In addition, *Phlomis* have shown activities as anti-inflammatory, immuno-suppressive, antimutagenic, anti-nociceptive, antifibriel, free radical scavenging, anti-malarial, and anti-microbial responses (Sarkhail *et al.*, 2006).

There are a few reports about the essential oil constituents of *Phlomis brachydon* (Boiss.) Zohary. To the best of our knowledge, the activity of *Phlomis brachydon* against bacterial biofilm has never been reported worldwide.

The aim of the present study is to determine the effects of essential oil of wild *Phlomis brachydon* (Boiss.) Zohary grown in Jordan on clinical isolates of biofilm-forming bacteria.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Essential oil of Phlomis brachydon

Fresh *Phlomis brachydon* was collected from mountains of Qumeim, Irbid, north Jordan, before the flowering period. The plant materials were taxonomically identified and authenticated by the Botanical Survey of Yarmouk University.

The composition of the essential oil from *Phlomis* brachydon was determined using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) (Al-Shuneigat *et al.*, 2015). Fifty-eight components accounting for 98.8% of the oil were identified, with oxygenated monoterpenes accounting for about 75% of the total oil content. Major identified compounds were *cis*-chrysanthenol (13.83%), 1,8-cineole (12.84%), *cis*-limonene (12.57%), α-terpinenol (6.97%), and γ-muurolene (4.50%). The concentration of the oil was 0.0032 (wt/wt) and its density was 0.912 g/mL at room temperature (Al-Shuneigat *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.2. Cultures and Media

The effect of *Phlomis brachydon* essential oil on bacterial biofilm was examined using six clinical isolates including: Gram positive bacteria: Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *Staphylococcus epidermidis*, and *Bacillus subtilis*, and Gram negative bacteria: *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacter aerogenes*, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. These clinical isolates were isolated from human patients. Cultures were stored on tryptone soya agar (TSA) (Oxoid, Hampshire, UK) at 2-4° C and subcultured every 2 months or whenever required. Isolates were purified on specific nutrient agar plates and characterized by standard microbiological and biochemical methods like Gram stain, catalase test, coagulase test and an API system (bioMerieux, France).

#### 2.3. Screening for Biofilm Formation

Biofilm formation was quantified in microtitre plates using the method described by Rachid et al (Rachid et al., 2000). Bacteria were grown overnight to mid-log phase by inoculating 10 mL tryptone soya broth (TSB) and incubating at 37°C until the OD at 600 nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) reached approximately 0.6. Strains were then diluted in fresh TSB supplemented with 0.5% glucose to give cell density of approximately 10<sup>6</sup> cfu/mL. For each test strain, 200 µL of inoculum was added to 72 wells of a 96-well plate. A quantity of 200 µL TSB was added to the remaining 24 wells and the plate incubated for 24 h at 37° C. Following this the optical density at 600 nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) was measured as an indication of bacterial growth, the plate contents emptied out and washed three times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Sigma Aldrich). The plates were air-dried and the cells that remained adhered to microwells stained with 0.4% crystal violet (Sigma Aldrich). Optical density at 490 nm (OD<sub>490</sub>) nm was measured to quantify the amount of crystal violetstained biofilm. Each strain was assayed in triplicate (Al-Shuneigat et al., 2005).

#### 2.4. MIC Assay

MIC was determined using 96 well microtitre plates as described by Rachid et al. (2000). Serial two fold dilutions of Phlomis brachydon essential oil in TSB were carried out in microtitre plates, 100 µL of bacterial cells with density of approximately 10<sup>6</sup> cfu/mL were added to the wells, mixed and then incubated at 37°C for 24 h aerobically. The MIC was taken as minimal concentration of Phlomis brachydon essential oil that inhibited visible growth of the strain. Determination of MIC was carried out in triplicate using three independent experiments. The positive control used for MRSA, Staphylococcus epidermidis, and Bacillus subtilis was vancomycin, chloramphenicol was used for E. coli and Enterobacter aerogenes and ceftazidime for P. aeruginosa. The absorbance was measured at 600 nm as an indication of bacterial growth.

#### 2.5. Biofilm Inhibitory Concentration (BIC) Assay

BIC was determined using 96 well microtitre plates as described by Rachid et al (Rachid *et al.*, 2000). Serial two fold dilutions of *Phlomis brachydon* essential oil in TSB were carried out in microtitre plates, 100  $\mu$ L of the diluted bacterial cells were added to the wells, mixed and then incubated at 37<sup>o</sup>C for 24 h aerobically. The wells were washed three times with PBS. The plates were dried using air, and the remaining surface-adsorbed cells of the individual well were stained with 0.1% (w/v) crystal violet. The wells were then washed three times with PBS and allowed to air-dry for 60 min. The crystal violet-stained biofilm was solubilized using 95% (v/v) ethanol and the absorbance read at 490 nm. A well, with no cells and sterile TSB was used as blank (negative control), and

a well with cells and TSB but without *Phlomis brachydon* essential oil was used as a control. The positive control used for MRSA, MSSA, and *S. epidermidis* was vancomycin, for *E. coli* and *K. pneumonia* was chloramphenicol for *P. aeruginosa* was ceftazidime and finally for *P. mirabilis* was ampicillin. BIC was determined as the minimum concentration that caused 30% decrease in optical density. Assays were performed three times on different days for each individual strain and the same result was obtained for each occasion.

#### 2.6. Adherence of Bacterial Cells to Polystyrene

Initial adherence of bacterial cells to polystyrene was determined using a previously reported method (Heilmann et al., 1996). Briefly, bacteria were grown overnight in 10 ml TSB at 37° C and then diluted 1 : 100 in fresh TSB containing Phlomis brachydon essential oil at the required concentration. A quantity of 5 mL of the bacterial suspensions was then poured into Petri dishes and incubated for 30 min at 37° C. The plates were washed five times using 5 ml PBS, air dried and stained for 1 min with 0.4% crystal violet. The number of the adhered cells was determined microscopically (CETI 60243T UK) by counting the number of bacteria in 20 fields of view. The essential oil concentrations tested were 1/10 of MIC, 1/2 MIC, and the MIC concentration. Adherence was calculated as the total number of cells adhered per square centimetre examined. Each Phlomis brachydon essential oil concentration was assayed in triplicate and the adherence of Phlomis brachvdon essential oil treated cells compared with untreated controls. Assays were performed three times on different days and the same result was obtained for each occasion

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. MIC and BIC

Table 1 shows the MIC and BIC values of *Phlomis* brachydon essential oil (mg/mL) for the bacterial isolates used in this study. In general and as expected, the planktonic growth of nearly all bacteria strains tested were more sensitive to *Phlomis brachydon* essential oil than biofilm growth.

The MIC values for planktonic growth were between 0.125 and 2 mg/mL. The most susceptible strains were MRSA and *S. epidermidis*.

For biofilm, the BIC values were between 0.25 and 4 mg/mL. The most sensitive to *Phlomis* essential oil was *S. epidermidis* while the most resistant were *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli*. planktonic *E. coli* was very sensitive to *Phlomis* essential oil and the most resistant to *Phlomis* essential oil grown as biofilm

 Table 1. MIC and BIC of *Phlomis* (mg/mL) for the bacterial isolates used for this study.

Isolate Number	Isolate name	MIC plank	$BIC_{\rm biofilm}$
1	MRSA	0.125	2
2	P. aeruginosa	1	4
3	E. aerogenes	2	2
4	E. coli	0.25	4
5	B. subtilis	2	2
6	S. epidermidis	0.125	0.25

# 3.2. Inhibition of E. coli Adherence to Polystyrene by Phlomis at sub-MIC Levels

As stated above, *E. coli* was very sensitive to *Phlomis brachydon* essential oil in planktonic growth and became very resistant in biofilm growth. Because of the great variations between MIC and BIC values and because BIC



value for *E. coli* was one of the highest, *E. coli* was chosen to test the effect of sub-inhibitory concentrations (sub-MIC<sub>plank</sub>) on its initial adherence to polystyrene.

The results show that adding sub-inhibitory concentrations (sub-MIC<sub>plank</sub>) of *Phlomis* essential oil to polystyrene Petri dishes containing a suspension culture of the *E. coli* strain were able to reduce the number of individual cells adhering to the polystyrene surface after 30 minutes incubation period (Fig. 1).

Figure 1. Effect of *Phlomis* on initial adhesion of *E. coli*; 1: without EO, 2: 1/10×MIC 3: 1/2×MIC, 4: MIC

#### 4. Discussion

Biofilm is a complex structure that causes chronic infections. Biofilm infections are extremely resistant to antibiotics and conventional antimicrobial agents, and are able to evade host defenses. Nowadays, the known antibiotics became of limited effectiveness in treating biofilms infection. Biofilms are able to withstand 100 to 1000 times the concentrations of antibiotics that can inhibit planktonic cells (Wolcott and Ehrlich, 2008). This means that there is an urgent need for the development of alternatives to antibiotics. A possible alternative is plants derived essential oils. Essential oils have been shown to possess broad-range of antibacterial properties (Hyldgaard *et al.*, 2012; Oussalah *et al.*, 2007).

Essential oils have been used in folk medicine since ancient times for the treatment of various diseases. The main cellular targets of essential oil are cell membrane and cytoplasm (Nazzaro *et al.*, 2013).

The aim of the present study is to test the effect of essential oil of wild *Phlomis brachydon* on biofilm-forming bacterial clinical isolates. The results show that the MIC values for planktonic growth were between 0.125 and 2 mg/mL while the BIC values were higher for nearly all strains.

The essential oil of *Phlomis brachydon* has been able to overcome the resistance mechanisms of the plankonic growth of two of the most prominent antibiotics resistant pathogens MRSA with MIC of only 0.125 mg/mL and *P. aeruginosa* with MIC of 1 mg/mL.

The results show that in general that the MIC<sub>plank</sub> values are lower than that of BIC<sub>biofilm</sub>. This is not unexpected as pathogens become more resistant in biofilm than in planktonic form. The essential oil of *Phlomis* was able to overcome the resistance of *S. epidermidis* at very low concentrations in both planktonic and biofilm form. *S. epidermidis* is a very important opportunistic pathogen and the most common source of infections on indwelling medical devices (Otto, 2009). Each year, billions of dollars are spent to replace the infected devices such as intravascular catheters, mechanical heart valves, pacemakers, prosthetic joints, contact lenses, urinary catheters and prosthetic implants (Chen *et al.*, 2013).

Sub-inhibitory concentrations (sub-MIC<sub>plank</sub>) of Phlomis brachydon essential oil to polystyrene Petri dishes containing a suspension culture of the E. coli strain were able to reduce the number of individual cells adhering to the polystyrene surface. In general, bacterial biofilm formation occurs in two stages (Chen et al., 2013; Mack, 1999). The initial phase coincides with adhesion of bacteria to the biomaterial surface and this phase is reversible. It is then followed by an irreversible second phase of cell to cell accumulation as multilayered cell clusters and biofilm form. The reduced bacterial adherence to polystyrene caused by PT can be explained by either the alteration of adherence factors present on the bacterial cell surface or by the modification of the polystyrene surface. Such effects could be unrelated to the mechanism by which the essential oil inhibits growth and may only be produced by relatively high levels of the essential oil.

#### References

Al-Shuneigat J. Cox SD and Markham JL. 2005. Effects of a topical essential oil-containing formulation on biofilm-forming coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, **41**: 52-55

Aparna MS and Yadav S. 2008. Biofilms: Microbes and Disease. *Braz J Infect Dis*, **12**: 526-530.

Al-Shuneigat J, Al-Tarawneh I, Al-Qudah M, Al-Sarayreh S and Al-Saraireh Y. 2015. GC/MS analysis and *In vitro* antibacterial activity of the essential oil isolated from leaf of *Phlomis* brachydon growing in Jordan. *IJONS*, **5**: 4063-4069.

Burt SA. 2004. Essential oils: their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods: a review. *Inter J Food Microbiol*, **94**: 223-253.

Chen M, Yu Q and Sun H. 2013. Novel strategies for the prevention and treatment of biofilm related infections. *Int J Mol Sci*, **14**: 18488-18501.

Darwish RM and Aburjai TA. 2010. Effect of ethnomedicinal plants used in folklore medicine in Jordan as antibiotic resistant inhibitors on Escherichia coli. *BMC Complement Altern Med*, **10**: 1-8.

Heilmann C, Gerke C, Premington FP and Gotz F. 1996. Characterization of Tn917 insertion mutant of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* affected in biofilm formation. *Infect Immun*, **64**: 277-282.

Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, Molin S and Ciofu O. 2010. Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, **35**: 322-332.

Hyldgaard M, Mygind T and Meyer RL. 2012. Essential oils in food preservation: mode of action, synergies, and interactions with food matrix components. *Front Microbiol*, **3**: 1-24.

Mack D. 1999. Molecular mechanisms of Staphylococcus epidermidis biofilm formation. *J Hosp Infect*, **43**: S113-S125.

Mikkelsen H, Duck Z, Lilley KS and Welch M. 2007. Interrelationships between Colonies, Biofilms, and Planktonic Cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Bacteriol, **189**(6): 62411– 2416.

Miller MB and Bassler BL. 2001. Quorum sensing in bacteria. Ann Rev Microbiol, 55: 165-199.

Nazzaro F, Fratianni F, De Martino L, Coppola R and De Feo V. 2013. Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. *Pharmaceuticals*, **6**: 1451-1474.

Otto M. 2009. *Staphylococcus epidermidis* – the "accidental" pathogen. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, **7**: 555-567.

Oussalah M, Caillet S, Saucier L and Lacroix M. 2007. Inhibitory effects of selected plant essential oils on the growth of four pathogenic bacteria: *E. coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Listeri amonocytogenes*. *Food Control*, **18**: 414-420.

Pamp SJ, Sternberg C and Tolker-Nielsen T. 2009. Insight into the microbial multicellular lifestyle via flow-cell technology and confocal microscopy. *Cytometry A*, **75**: 90-103.

Patel R. 2005. Biofilms and antimicrobial resistance. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*, **437**: 41-47.

Rachid S, Ohlsen K, Witte W, Hacker J and Ziebuhr W. 2000. Effect of subinhibitory antibiotic concentrations on polysaccharide intercellular adhesion expression in biofilmforming *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, **44**: 3357-3363.

Sarkhail P, Monsef-Esfehani HR, Amin G, Surmaghi MHS and Shafiee A. 2006. Phytochemical study of Phlomis olivieri Benth and Phlomis persica Boiss. *DARU*, **14**: 115-121.

Sauer K, Camper AK, Ehrlich GD, Costerton JW and Davies DG. 2002. Pseudomonas aeruginosa displays multiple phenotypes during development as a biofilm. *J Bacteriol*, **184**: 1140-1154.

Stewart PS and Costerton JW. 2001. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. *Lancet*, **358**: 135-138.

Veerachamy S, Yarlagadda T, Manivasagam G and Yarlagadda PK. 2014. Bacterial adherence and biofilm formation on medical implants: a review. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H*, **228**: 1083-1099.

Wolcott RD and Ehrlich GD. 2008. Biofilms and Chronic Infections. *JAMA*, **299**: 2682-2684.

# A Statistical Design Approach for Xylanase Production by *Aspergillus niger* Using Soybean Hulls: Optimization and Determining the Synergistic Effects of Medium Components on the Enzyme Production

Aliyu Salihu<sup>\*</sup>, Shuaibu M. Bala and Abbas Olagunju

Department of Biochemistry, Ahmadu Bello University Zaria, Nigeria

Received: May 3, 2015 Revised: September 29, 2015 Accepted: October 5, 2015

#### Abstract

Xylanases are hydrolytic enzymes produced by different microorganisms which convert xylooligomers to its constituent xylose units. The growing interests in xylanase production could be linked to its diverse industrial applications. The use of agricultural residues contributed in overcoming one of the major challenges of enzyme production, which is the production cost. This study involves the use of Face centered central composite design (FCCCD) under Response surface methodology (RSM) to optimize the medium components for enhanced xylanase production using soybean hulls as renewable substrate by solid state fermentation. The optimum components that led to maximum xylanase activity of 139.73 U/g were 0.58% w/w of urea, 0.03% w/w of K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 0.04% w/w of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. Coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) used to check the fitness of the model showed the correlation between the experimental and predicted responses with a value of 0.8981. Thus, this study showed the potential use of soybean hulls for xylanase production

Keywords optimization, renewable substrate, soybean hulls, xylanase.

#### 1. Introduction

Xylanase (endo-1, 4-β-D-xylanohydrolase; EC 3.2.1.8) is a xylan-degrading enzyme that aids in hydrolyzing xylan into its monomeric units (Mittal *et al.*, 2013). This enzyme is produced by various microbial systems including bacteria, yeast and fungi (Maheshwari *et al.*, 2014). The growing interest in xylanase production includes its utilization for various industrial applications such as biobleaching of pulp and paper, clarification of wine and juice, animal feed formulation, baking processes, and hydrolysis of lignocellulose for ethanol and xylitol production, among others (Bibi *et al.*, 2014; Coman and Bahrim, 2011).

Xylanase production is affected by various factors including the cost of raw materials, product inhibition, pH and thermal stability, as well as polymeric nature of xylans (Walia*et al.*, 2013). Although different agricultural substrates, such as wheat bran (Coman and Bahrim, 2011), tomato seed meal (Katapodis *et al.*, 2006), apple pomace (Walia *et al.*, 2013), wheat straw (Garg *et al.*, 2011), sugarcane bagasse (Souza *et al.*, 1999), rice straw (Park *et al.*, 2002), rice husk (Singh *et al.*, 2013), sunflower meal and corn cobs (Irfan *et al.*, 2014), have been used for the production of xylanase through solid

state fermentation as parts of the efforts on cost reduction, there is still a need for developing an effective fermentation system for enhanced levels of this enzyme for wider industrial applications.

Soybean, as a widely cultivated crop across the globe, has an annual production of more than 259 million tonnes; generating more than 20 million tonnes of hulls; thus, soybean hulls consist of 46-51% cellulose, 16-18%hemicellulose and 1.4-2% lignin (Corredor *et al.*, 2008; Cassales *et al.*, 2011); these make them attractive for <del>the</del> production of several value added products. Thus, xylan, being a major component of hemicellulose present in soybean hulls, could serve as an inducer for xylanase production.

Herein, Face Centered Central Composite Design (FCCCD) was employed for enhancing xylanase production using soybean hulls as a cheap and available substrate by *Aspergillus niger* AS-1. Preliminary screening of medium components using Placket-Burman design and one-factor-at-a-time method has been established by Salihu and Alam (2015). This design was selected based on its reliability with the ability to identify the separate and combined effects of various factors through a minimum number of experiments.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: salihualiyu@yahoo.com; aliyu.salihu@gmail.com.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Sample and Inoculum preparation

Soybean hulls of 1 mm particle sizes were prepared and kept under laboratory conditions at room temperature. A spore suspension of *Aspergillus niger* AS-1 cultured on potato dextrose agar plate was prepared as described by Alam *et al.* (2004) using 25 ml of sterile distilled water with the help of bent glass rod. Following the filtration of the suspension through Whatman No.1 filter paper under aseptic conditions; the spore count was found to be about  $1 \times 10^8$  spores/ml and used as an inoculum in this study

#### 2.2. Solid state fermentation and Xylanase production

The fermentation set up for xylanase production was prepared using 10 g of soybean hulls in 250 ml Erlenmeyer flask which was mixed with 10 ml of a mixture of urea, K2HPO4 and Na2CO3 at a different percentages (w/w) (as shown in Table 1), 0.5% w/w of peptone, 0.05% w/w each of NaNO3, (NH4)2SO4 and CaCl<sub>2</sub>; so as to get the final solid to moisture ratio of 1:1 as described by Xu et al. (2008). The flasks were autoclaved at 121°C for 20 min, and then cooled before inoculating with 1 ml of spore suspension of A. niger AS-1 (1  $\times$  10<sup>8</sup> spores/ml). The set ups were incubated at 28  $\pm$ 1°C for 5 days. Following the bioconversion, distilled water was added to each flask and then shaken on a rotatory shaker (180 rpm) for 30 min at room temperature. The content was centrifuged and the supernatant was used to assay for xylanase activity.

#### 2.3. Determination of Xylanase activity

Xylanase activity was determined using xylan from beech wood as a substrate and the amount of reducing sugar released was measured by dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) method using D-xylose as the standard (Biely *et al.*, 1985). The reaction mixture contains 900µl of 1% (w/v) xylan in 0.05 M citrate buffer, pH 5 and 100 µl of the enzyme solution incubated at 50<sup>o</sup>C for 30 min. The reaction was terminated by the addition of DNS followed by incubating the tubes in boiling water bath for 5 min. The reducing sugar released was measured at 540 nm. One enzyme unit (U) was defined as the amount of enzyme that liberated 1 µmol of xylose per minute under the assay conditions. The results were expressed as U/g soybean hulls.

#### 2.4. Statistical analysis and optimization

Face Centered Central Composite Design (FCCCD) under Response Surface Methodology (RSM) was used (Montgomery, 2001) to determine the effects of the medium components influencing xylanase production. Three medium components (urea,  $K_2HPO_4$  and  $Na_2CO_3$ ) were selected for the present study based on the results of Placket-Burman design and One-factor-at-a-time (OFAT) analysis (Salihu and Alam, 2015). Design Expert Statistical software (Version 6.0.8) was used to generate a set of seventeen (17) experiments with three center points so as to optimize the concentrations of these parameters on xylanase activity. The parameters were studied at three levels, low (-1), medium (0) and high (+1) as indicated in Table 1. The relationship between the dependent and independent variables is based on second order polynomial equation:

$$Y = \beta_{o} + \beta_{1}X_{1} + \beta_{2}X_{2} + \beta_{3}X_{3} + \beta_{12}X_{1}X_{2} + \beta_{13}X_{1}X_{3} + (1)$$

$$\beta_{23}X_{2}X_{3} + \beta_{11}X_{1}^{2} + \beta_{22}X_{2}^{2} + \beta_{33}X_{3}^{2}$$

where Y represents the dependent variable (xylanase production); X<sub>1</sub>, X<sub>2</sub> and X<sub>3</sub> are independent variables (urea, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>);  $\beta_0$  is an intercept term;  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$  and  $\beta_3$  are linear coefficients;  $\beta_{12}$ , $\beta_{13}$  and  $\beta_{23}$  are the interaction coefficients;  $\beta_{11}$ , $\beta_{22}$  and  $\beta_{33}$  are quadratic coefficients.

The results obtained were used to develop a regression model by analyzing the values of regression coefficient and analysis of variance (ANOVA). The quality of fit of the quadratic polynomial model equation was expressed by coefficient of determination,  $R^2$ . The validation experiment was carried out to determine the adequacy of the developed experimental model.

#### 3. Results and Discussion

The present study involves the use of statistical design to determine the relationship between the selected medium components (urea,  $K_2HPO_4$  and  $Na_2CO_3$ ) for enhanced xylanase production. Through this design, linear and interactive effects of these components on the response could be ascertained.

Table 1 shows the FCCCD design with both the experimental and predicted response for the 17 experimental runs which constitute 8 star points, 6 axial points and 3 center points. The results showed that highest activity of xylanase (137.58 -140.17 U/g) was realized in runs associated with center points (6, 8 and 15), while the lowest was found in run 17 (113.61 U/g), where all the three components were at their low levels.

The relationship between the medium components and the response was predicted by the second-order polynomial equation in terms of coded factors:

$$5.24A^2 - 2.66B^2 - 5.89C^2 - 2.71AB - 1.49AC - 0.27BC$$
(2)

where Xylanase production is dependent on concentrations of urea (A),  $K_2HPO_4$  (B) and  $Na_2CO_3$ (C). The negative and positive signs before the terms show antagonistic and synergistic effects, respectively. The analysis of variance (ANOVA), as indicated in Table 2, helps in assessing the fitness as well as the significance of the developed model. As indicated in the Table, the model was found to be significant with *p*-value of 0.0095; while the linear term of  $Na_2CO_3$  (C), quadratic terms of urea (A<sup>2</sup>) and  $Na_2CO_3$  (C<sup>2</sup>) were significant at *p*-value less than or equal to 0.05.

The lack of fit was not found to be significant based on its p-value of 0.1008, as shown in Table 2; this indicates that there is only a 10.08% chance that this value could occur due to noise.

Similarly, coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) is used to check the fitness of the model, the closer a value is to 1, the better the correlation between the experimental and predicted responses. Thus,  $R^2$  value of 0.8981 and adjusted  $R^2$  value of 0.7670 indicate that about 90% and 77% of variations could be accounted for by the model equations. Adequate precision value of 8.22 which measures the signal to noise ratio showed an adequate signal since any value greater than 4 is considered desirable. In case of coefficient of variation, lower values are preferred as they indicate the precision and reliability of the experimental responses as presented in foot notes of Table 2.

Figure 1 shows the two and three dimensional surface plots of predicted xylanase production based on urea and  $K_2$ HPO<sub>4</sub>. Although none of the interaction terms was significant, as indicated in Table 2, the AB (urea and  $K_2$ HPO<sub>4</sub>) was the one with the lowest *p*-value (0.0627). It can be seen from the Figure 1, that xylanase production is affected by the increasing concentration of urea and  $K_2$ HPO<sub>4</sub>, but at higher concentrations, xylanase production was found to be low.

In order to investigate the applicability of the developed second-order model based on the three parameters (urea,  $K_2HPO_4$  and  $Na_2CO_3$ ), numerical optimization was used to determine the most desirable concentrations of the components that lead to maximum outcome for validation (Table 3a). The desirable model solution was validated as indicated in Table 3b; the experimental and the predicted results appeared to be in good agreement.

Accordingly, the concentrations of the three medium components optimized in the present study were lower than those reported by Xu *et al.* (2008) for maximum xylanase production using wheat bran and *A. niger* XY-1 at optimum concentrations of urea,  $Na_2CO_3$  and  $MgSO_4$  of 4.2%, 0.3% and 1.1%, respectively.

Park et al. (2002) reported a combined optimization based on medium and process parameters by fractional factorial design that led to enhanced xylanase activity of 5,071 U/g using rice straw by A. niger. The yield was several times higher than what was observed in the present study, but there is a possibility of getting an enhanced production in soybean hulls containing medium when considering some parameters such as temperature, moisture content, inoculum concentration, pH, pretreatment methods and particle size. Similarly, xylanase yield of 10.9 U/ml was obtained following CCD analysis of alkali-pretreated rice husk by A. niger ITCC 7678. The optimum operating conditions were found to be pH of 5.5, temperature of 32.5 °C, and NaNO<sub>3</sub> of 0.35 % (w/v) (Singh et al., 2013).

In case of sugarcane bagasse, effects of process parameters were analyzed using RSM for enhanced xylanase production by *Thermoascus aurantiacus*. Initial moisture content of 81% and bagasse mass of 17g influenced xylanase activity with a maximum yield of 2700 U/g (de O Souza *et al.*, 1999). Based on these findings, de O Souza *et al.* (1999) suggested that xylanase production by several fungal species using agricultural residues depends on the composition of the substrates, choice of fermentation type and conditions as well as downstream processing of the produced enzyme.

Ang et al. (2013) reported the potential of untreated oil palm trunk for xylanase production by A. fumigates SK1. High extracellular xylanase activity of 418.70 U/g was obtained when the moisture content, initial pH and inoculum concentration were at 80%, 5.0 and  $1 \times 10^8$ spore/g, respectively. When a 10 liter-capacity stainless steel horizontal bioreactor was used for the production of xylanase by Sporotrichum thermophile in an optimized medium containing wheat bran and wheat straw; maximum xylanase yield was found to be 320 U/g (Topakas et al., 2003). Additionally, application of CCD resulted in an enhanced xylanase production by Cellulosimicrobium sp. CKMX1 using apple pomace based medium. Some of the parameters that supported xylanase production include particle size, fermentation time, temperature, initial pH and inoculum concentration; with a maximum yield of 535.6 U/g (Walia et al., 2013).

Thus, the findings of the present study indicate that FCCCD was suitable for optimizing the medium components for enhanced xylanase production by *A. niger* AS-1 using soybean hulls; further studies involving the process parameters will give the overall picture in terms of yield and production cost economics of the process.

 Table 1: Face centered central composite design matrix indicating the experimental and predicted responses

Run	Urea	a K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	Xylanase activity (U/g)	
Kuli	(% w/w)	(% w/w)	(% w/w)	Experimental	Predicted
1	0.8 (+1)	0.04 (+1)	0.03 (-1)	117.74	120.92
2	0.8 (+1)	0.03 (0)	0.04 (0)	132.74	133.63
3	0.6 (0)	0.03 (0)	0.05 (+1)	133.51	136.63
4	0.8 (+1)	0.02 (-1)	0.05 (+1)	128.23	129.81
5	0.8 (+1)	0.02 (-1)	0.03 (-1)	127.33	125.26
6	0.6 (0)	0.03 (0)	0.04 (0)	139.33	139.03
7	0.8 (+1)	0.04 (+1)	0.05 (+1)	127.95	124.37
8	0.6 (0)	0.03 (0)	0.04 (0)	140.17	139.03
9	0.6 (0)	0.02 (-1)	0.04 (0)	136.03	136.11
10	0.4 (-1)	0.03 (0)	0.04 (0)	134.84	133.95
11	0.6 (0)	0.03 (0)	0.03 (-1)	132.77	129.65
12	0.4 (-1)	0.04 (+1)	0.05 (+1)	131.01	133.08
13	0.6 (0)	0.04 (+1)	0.04 (0)	136.71	136.63
14	0.4 (-1)	0.02 (-1)	0.05 (+1)	130.87	127.69
15	0.6 (0)	0.03 (0)	0.04 (0)	137.58	139.03
16	0.4 (-1)	0.04 (+1)	0.03 (-1)	125.26	123.68
17	0.4 (-1)	0.02 (-1)	0.03 (-1)	113.61	117.19

Table 2: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of the developed model

	Sum of	F-		
Source	squares	value	<i>p</i> -value	Remark
Model*	739.4869	6.8516	0.0095	Significant
A (Urea)	0.2562	0.0214	0.8879	Not significant
B ( $K_2$ HPO <sub>4</sub> )	0.6762	0.0564	0.8191	Not significant
$C(Na_2CO_3)$	121.5252	10.1338	0.0154	Significant
$A^2$	73.4355	6.1237	0.0425	Significant
$\mathbf{B}^2$	18.8904	1.5752	0.2497	Not significant
$C^2$	92.8006	7.7385	0.0272	Significant
AB	58.6469	4.8905	0.0627	Not significant
AC	17.7026	1.4762	0.2638	Not significant
BC	0.6047	0.0504	0.8287	Not significant
Lack of Fit	80.4522	9.2154	0.1008	Not significant

\* $R^2 = 0.8981$ , Adjusted  $R^2 = 0.7670$ , Coefficient of variation (CV) = 2.65, adequate precision = 8.22

Table 3a: Constrains for the parameters in numerical optimization

Parameters	Ultimate	Experimental
	goal	range
Urea	range	0.4 - 0.8 %
$K_2HPO_4$	range	0.02 - 0.04 %
Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	range	0.03 - 0.05 %
Xylanase production	Maximum production	113.61 - 140.17
(U/g)		U/g

Table 3b: Optimization and model validation						
Xylanase production (U/g						
Urea	$K_2HPO_4$	$Na_2CO_3$				
(% w/w)	(% w/w)	(% w/w)	Experimental	Predicted		
0.58	0.03	0.04	$139.73\pm0.19$	139.572		



A: Urea

**Figure 1**: Plots of the effects of urea and  $K_2HPO_4$  on xylanase activity by *A. niger* AS-1 using soybean hulls: (a) response surface 3D and (b) contour plot (2D).

#### 4. Conclusion

Statistical optimization using FCCCD for xylanase production by *A. niger* AS-1 using soybean hulls as raw material indicated the dependence of the production on the selected medium components (urea,  $Na_2CO_3$  and  $K_2HPO_4$ ). Under the optimized condition, maximum xylanase activity of 139.73 U/g was obtained. Thus, the utilization of soybean hulls as an inexpensive and renewable substrate for xylanase production boosts its industrial relevance when compared with its current usage.

#### References

Alam MZ, Fakhru'l-Razi A, Molla AH. 2004. Evaluation of fungal potentiality for bioconversion of domestic wastewater sludge. *J Environ Sci*, **16**:132–137.

Ang SK, Shaza EM, Adibah Y, Suraini AA, Madihah MS. 2013. Production of cellulases and xylanase by *Aspergillus fumigatus* SK1 using untreated oil palm trunk through solid state fermentation. *Process Biochem*, **48**: 1293–1302.

Bibi Z, Ansari A, Zohra RR, Aman A and UlQader SA. 2014. Production of xylan degrading endo-1, 4-β-xylanase from thermophilic *Geobacillus stearothermophilus* KIBGE-IB29. *J Rad Res Appl Sci*, **7**: 478–485.

Biely P, Mislovicova D and Toman R. 1985. Soluble chromogenic substrates for the assay of endo-1,4- $\beta$ -xylanases and endo-1,4- $\beta$ -glucanases. *Anal Biochem*, **144**: 142–146.

Cassales A, de Souza-Cruz PB, Rech R and Ayub MAZ. 2011. Optimization of soybean hull acid hydrolysis and its characterization as a potential substrate for bioprocessing. *Biomass Bioener*, **35**: 4675–4683.

Coman G and Bahrim G. 2011. Optimization of xylanase production by *Streptomyces* sp. P12-137 using response surface methodology and central composite design. *Ann Microbiol*,**61**: 773–779.

Corredor DY, Sun XS, Salazar JM, Hohn KL and Wang D. 2008. Enzymatic hydrolysis of soybean hulls using dilute acid and modified steam-explosion pretreatments. *J Biobased Mater Bioener*, **2**: 43–50.

de O Souza, MC, Roberto, IC, Milagres, AMF. 1999. Solid-state fermentation for xylanase production by *Thermoascus aurantiacus* using response surface methodology. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **52**: 768 – 772.

Garg G, Mahajan R, Kaur A and Sharma J. 2011. Xylanase production using agro-residue in solid-state fermentation from *Bacillus pumilus* ASH for biodelignification of wheat straw pulp. *Biodegrad*, **22**: 1143–1154.

Irfan M, Nadeem M and Syed Q. 2014. One-factor-at-a-time (OFAT) optimization of xylanase production from *Trichoderma viride*-IR05 in solid-state fermentation. *J Rad Res Appl Sci*, **7**: 317–326.

Katapodis P, Christakopoulou V and Christakopoulos P. 2006. Optimization of xylanase production by *Thermomyces lanuginosus* in tomato seed meal using response surface methodology. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, **22**: 501–506.

Maheshwari R, Bhardwaj G and Bhat MK. 2000. Thermophilic fungi: their physiology and enzymes. *MicrobiolMolBiol Rev*, **64**: 461–488.

Mittal A, Nagar S and Gupta VK. 2013. Production and purification of high levels of cellulase-free bacterial xylanase by *Bacillus* sp. SV-34S using agro-residue. *Ann Microbiol*, **63**: 1157–1167.

Montgomery DC. 2001. Design and Analysis of Experiments 5<sup>th</sup>Edition. John Wiley, New York, 684 pp. ISBN-0-471-31649-0

Park YS, Kang SW, Lee JS, Hong SI and Kim SW. 2002. Xylanase production in solid state fermentation by *Aspergillus niger* mutant using statistical experimental designs. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **58**: 761–766.

Salihu A and Alam MZ. 2015. Xylanase production using Soybean hulls: Effect of medium components. Proceedings of International Conference of Plant, Marine and Environmental Sciences (ICPMES) Kuala Lumpur Malaysia, 1<sup>st</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> Jan, 2015.

Singh A, Manju, Yadav A and Bishnoi NR. 2013. Statistical screening and optimization of process variables for xylanase production utilizing alkali-pretreated rice husk. *Ann Microbiol*, **63**: 353–361.

Souza MCO, Roberto IC and Milagres AMF. 1999. Solid-state fermentation for xylanase production by *Thermoascus aurantiacus* using response surface methodology. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, **52**: 768–772.

Topakas E, Katapodis P, Kekos D, Macris BJ, Christakopoulos P. 2003. Production and partial characterization of xylanase by *Sporotrichum thermophile* under solid-state fermentation. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, **19**: 195–198.

Walia A, Mehta P, Chauhan A and Shirkot CK. 2013. Optimization of cellulase-free xylanase production by alkalophilic *Cellulosimicrobium* sp. CKMX1 in solid-state fermentation of apple pomace using central composite design and response surface methodology. *Ann Microbiol*, **63**: 187–198.

Xu Y, Li Y, Xu S, Liu Y, Wang X and Tang J. 2008. Improvement of xylanase production by *Aspergillus niger*XY-1 using response surface methodology for optimizing the medium composition. *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B*, **9**: 558–566.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

# A Note on the Karyotype of the Amphibian *Pelophylax bedriagae* from Jordan

Enas S. Al Satari, Nisreen A. Al Quraan, Rami Q. Alkhatib and Zuhair S. Amr\*

Department of Biology, Jordan University of Science & Technology, Irbid, Jordan

Received: July 7, 2015 Revised: August 3, 2015 Accepted: August 5, 2015

#### Abstract

New data are presented on the karyotype of the Levant Water Frog, *Pelophylax bedriagae*, from Jordan. 26 chromosomes were observed for both male and female *Pelophylax bedriagae*. Seven chromosomes are metacentric (chromosomes 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9) and six are submetacentric (chromosomes 2, 4, 10, 11, 12 and 13). This is the first study on the karyotype of the Jordanian amphibians.

Keywords Karyotype, amphibians, Pelophylax bedriagae, Jordan

The diversity of the amphibians of Jordan is relatively low, consisting of three extant species (Disi & Amr, 2008). The taxonomic status of amphibians has undergone radical changes over the past 10 years. Recent molecular investigations on the amphibians of the Palaearctic region yielded new insights to the taxonomic status of the amphibians of the Middle East and Jordan in particular. For example, Plötner et al. (2001) showed that the Levant Water Frog, R. bedriagae, in Jordan and Syria is distinct from the European Water Frog, Rana ridibunda, and the Anatolian R. bedriagae differs from the southern populations by 2.2-3.4% of the analysed mitochondrial DNA. Lymberakis et al. (2007) compared partial mitochondrial DNA sequences for the cytochrome b and 16S rRNA genes for Rana populations in the Eastern Mediterranean region. They consider that within the rindibunda/bedriagae lineage, R. (P.) ridibunda, R. (P.) epeirotica, R. (P.) cretensis, R. (P.) bedriagae, R. (P.) cerigensis and R. (P.) kurtmuelleri were differentiated from a common ancestor through a series of vicariant and dispersal events.

In the Middle East, some studies reported on the karyotype of amphibians, including the former *Rana ridibunda* (=*Pelophylax bedriagae*). Studies were performed in Saudi Arabia (Al-Shehri & Al-Saleh, 2005), Palestine (Salman *et al.*, 2015), and Turkey (Alpagut & Falakali, 1995).

The present study is the firsts to report on the karyotype of *Pelophylax bedriagae* collected from Jordan.

Four adult *Pelophylax bedriagae* were collected from a pool at the Jordan University of Science and Technology campus. Frogs were injected with 0.2 ml colchicine solution (1 mg/ml) for 6-12 hours before the bone marrow of the femoral bones was removed for the cytogenetic study. The bone marrow was washed by using 0.9% KCl hypotonic solution into centrifuge tube, then incubate for 15 minutes at  $37^0$  C. The homogenate was centrifuged for 6-8 minutes at 1000 rpm, and then fixed using fresh fixative (3 volumes of methanol+1 volume of glacial acetic acid). The supernatant was removed by a pipette as much as possible, keeping the bone marrow pellet. More fixative was added and then centrifuged again 6-8 minutes at about 1000 rpm. The same procedure was repeated three times. The pellet was suspended in a small volume of the fixative and then dropped on clean microscopic slide. Slides were stained in giemsa solution in phosphate buffer for 12-15 minutes.

A minimum of five metaphases were analyzed for each specimen and images were taken using an Olympus MX41 microscope fitted with a digital camera. Standard karyotypes were constructed from micrographs of well spread chromosomes. Metaphase chromosomes were arranged in homologous pairs according to size and centromere position. The diploid chromosome number was determined from ten photographed spreads for each species.

Twenty-six chromosomes were observed for both male and female *Pelophylax bedriagae* (Fig. 1). The karyotype of both sexes are similar and cannot be differentiated from each others. Seven chromosomes are metacentric (chromosomes 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9) and six are submetacentric (chromosomes 2, 4, 10, 11, 12 and 13).

Species of the genus *Rana* in both the old and new worlds have 2n=26 (Haertel *et al.*, 1974; Nishioka *et al.*, 1987). Our results are similar to those obtained by Al-Shehri & Al-Saleh (2005) where they reported seven metacentric and six submetacentric chromosomes, and to those reported by Salman *et al.* (2015). We were unable to differentiate the sex chromosomes.

Alpagut & Falakali (1995) showed that the karyotypes of two Turkish populations of *Rana ridibunda* consisted of 26 chromosomes (2n=26), with a similar chromosomal

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. e-mail: amrz@just.edu.jo.

morphology. However, they indicated that there were heteromorphic male sex chromosomes.

Further studies should investigate the taxonomic status of the three amphibian species known in Jordan, both for the molecular structure and morphology of their chromosomes, including G-banding.



**Figure 1**: **A.** Karyotype for male *Pelophylax bedriagae*. **B.** Metaphase plate.

#### References

Alpagut N and Falakali B. 1995. Karyotype analysis of two *Rana ridibunda* (Ranidae; Anura) populations in Turkey. *Isr J Zool*, **41**: 523-531.

Al-Shehri AH and Al-Saleh AA. 2005. Karyotype of Amphibian in Saudi Arabia. 1. The karyotype of *Rana ridibunda. J Biol Sci*, **5**:335–338.

Disi AM and Amr ZS. 2010. Morphometrics, distribution and ecology of the amphibians in Jordan. *Vertebr Zool*, **60**:147-162.

Haertel JD. Owczarzak A and Storm RM. 1974. A Comparative Study of the Chromosomes from Five Species of the Genus *Rana* (Amphibia: Salientia). *Copeia*, **1974**:109-114.

Lymberakis P. Poulakakis N. Manthalou G. Tsigenopoulos CS. Magoulas A and Mylonas M. 2007. Mitochondrial phylogeography of *Rana* (*Pelophylax*) populations in the Eastern Mediterranean region. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, **44**:115–125.

Nishioka M, Okumoto H, Ueda H and Ryuzaki M. 1987. Karyotypes of Brown Frogs distributed in Japan, Korea, Europe and North America. *Scientific report of the Laboratory for Amphibian Biology, Hiroshima University*, **9**: 165-212.

Plötner J. Ohst T. Böhme W and Schreiber R. 2001. Divergence in mitochondrial DNA of Near Eastern water frogs with special reference to the systematic status of Cypriote and Anatolian populations (Anura, Ranidae). *Amphibia-Reptilia*, **22**: 397-412.

Salman INA. Salsaa M & Qumsiyeh MB. 2015. Distribution and cytogenetics of amphibians from the Occupied Palestinian territories (West Bank of Jordan). *JJNH*, **1**:116-130.

#### Appendix A Reviewers 2015

We would like to acknowledge especially the contributions of the following reviewers during the year 205

Yarmouk University, Jordan Abbasipour, Habib Shahed University, Iran Abd El Rahman, Hassan Giza, Egypt Abdel-Baky, Nagdy Qassim University, KSA Abdel-Ghani, Adel Mutah University, Jordan Abdelhamid, Magdi National Research Center, Egypt Abdel-Raheem, Mohamed National Research Center, Egypt Abderrahman, Salim The Hashemite University, Jordan Abdul-Razzak, Nawroz University of Sulaimani, Iraa Abu- Ekteish, Faisal Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Abu Harfeil, Nizar Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Abu-Dieyeh, Mohammed Qatar University, Qatar Abu-Ghazaleh, Bayan The Hashemite University, Jordan Abu-Ghoush, Mahmoud The Hashemite University, Jordan Abuharfeil, Nizar Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Abu-Irmaileh, Barakat The University of Jordan, Jordan Abu-Kharda, Khaled Yarmouk University, Jordan Abu-Qatouseh, Luay MonoJo, Jordan Aburjai, Talal The University of Jordan, Jordan Abu-Shaqra, Qasem Balqa Applied University, Jordan Ahmed, Osama Beni-Suef University, Egypt Ahmed, Salman Karachi University, Pakistan Akalin, Emine Istanbul University, Turkey Al- Tamimi, Hosam Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Al-Abd, Eman Alexandria University, Egypt Al-Absi, Khaled Mutah University, Jordan Al-Ajlouni, Zakaria Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Al-Akawi, Zayed Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Alaseeri, Ahmed King Khaled University, KSA Al-Bustanji, Yasser The University of Jordan, Jordan AlDradka, Ahmad Yarmouk University, Jordan Aldryhim, Yousif King Saud University, KSA

Al-Khateeb, Hakam

Al-Hadid, Khaldoun University of Jordan, Jordan Alhaj, Ahmed London College, UK Al-Halhouli, Ala' Aldeen German Jordanian University, Jordan Al-Hindi, Adnan Islamic University of Gaza, Palestine Alhomida, Abdallah King Saud University, KSA Ali, Usman Ahmadu Bello University, Nigeria Ali-Shtayeh, Mohammed Biodiversity and Environmental Research Center, Palestine Al-Khalteeb, Fiasl University of Jordan, Jordan Al-Khatatbeh, Yahya Princess Sumaya University For Technology, Jordan Al-Khateeb, Wesam Yarmouk University, Jordan Alkofahi, Ahmad Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Allaham, Adnan German Jordanian University, Jordan Al-Maarri, Khalil Damascus University, Syria AlMaloul, Salem The Hashemite University, Jordan Al-Matobsi, Hisham Petra University, Jordan Al-Omari, Mariam Yarmouk University, Jordan Alomary, Ayed Mutah University, Jordan Al-Qaud, Khaled MONOJo, Jordan Al-Rawashdeh, Ibrahim Al-Husein Bin Talal University, Jordan Al-Sagheir, Mohannad Ohio University, USA Al-Sharef, Labib Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Al-sheboul, Suhaila Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Al-Sheyab, Nihaya Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Al-Shudiefat, Abd Al-Rahman The Hashemite University, Jordan Al-Syouf, Maha National Center for Agricultural Research And Extension (NCARE), Jordan Al-Wahsh, Zanib The Hashemite University, Jordan Al-Wasel, Abdalrahman Al-Qaseem University, KSA Al-Zaeem, Yehya King Saud University, KSA Al-Zayadneh, Enas Mutah University, Jordan Al-Zereini, Wael Mutah University, Jordan Al-Zibdah, Mohammad University of Jordan- Aqaba, Jordan Al-Zyoud, Firas Mutah University, Jordan

Al-Zyoud, Sukaina The Hashemite University, Jordan Amer, Zuhair Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Amri, Ahmed ICARDA, Morocco Annabi, Ali University of Monastir, Tunisia Aqel, Amin Mutah University, Jordan Asgharipour, Mohammad University of Zabol, Iran Ateyyat, Mazen Al-Balqa Applied University, Jordan Atoum, Manar The Hashemite University, Jordan Ayvaz, Abdurrahman Erciyes Üniversitesi BAP Koordinasyon Birimi, Turkey Azar, Dany Lebanese University, Lebanon Bader, Ahmad University of Jordan, Jordan Bandel, Klaus University of Hamburg, Germany Banerjee, Kakoli Central University of Orissa, India Bani Hani, Saleem Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Batchoun, Raymond American University of Madaba, Jordan Ben Hadda, Taibi Mohammed First University, Morocco Bessong, Agbor University of Calabar, Nigeria Bond, Fredrich Central Pollution Control Board, Sri Lanka Bossneck, Ulrich Museum of Natural History, Germany Brake, Mohammad Jarash University, Jordan Brazdova, Andrea Pierre and Marie Curie University, France Bsoul, Emad The Hashemite University, Jordan Bursali, Ahmet Gaziosmanpasa University, Turkey Bustanji, Yasser University of Jordan, Jordan Carvajal, Juan University of Magdalena, Colombia Cha-um, Suriyan University of Bangkok, Thailand Damhoryeh, Said University of Jordan, Jordan Damhoryeh, Said University of Jordan, Jordan Darissa, Omar University Palestine, Palestine Das, Nani Institute of Brackshwater Aquaculture, Bangladesh Datta, Animesh Kalyani University, India de Menezes, Cristiano University Federal de Santa Maria, Brazil Desai, G. Hitubuchi Marine Science Center, Republic of Korea Dhaghistani, Hala Al-Balqa Applied University, Jordan Disi, Ahmad Isra University, Jordan

Ekhaise, Fredrick University of Bayreuth, Germany Elaidey, Abdalla Mansoura University, Egypt El-Akawi, Zyad Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan El-Gamal, Ahmed Al-Azhar University, Egypt El-Heneidy, Ahmed National Research Center, Cairo, Egypt ElMakawy, Aida National Research Center, Egypt Elshamaa, Manal National Research Center, Egypt El-Sukhn, Saeb Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan El-Wakil, Eman Theodor Bilharz Research Institute/Egypt El-Zemaity, Mohamed Ain Shams University, Egypt Engelmann, Florent Directure Adjoint France-Sud, France Esa. Ahmed Abaarso Technical University, Somalia Esteban, Angeles University of Murcia, Spain Fajfer, Monika Adam Mickiewicz University, Poland Filazi, Ayhan Ankara University, Turkey Gabarty, Ahlam NCRRT. Atomic Energy Authority, Egypt Galushko, Alexander Agrophysical Research Institute, Russia. Ghaleb, Sherein Benisuef University, Egypt Ghaskabdi, Surendra Agharkar Research Institute, India Ghazaee, Parchami National Taras Schevchenko University of Kyiv, Ukraine Ghoname, Mohamed Field Crops Research Institute, Egypt Gupta, Abhik Assam (Central) University, India Hailat, Nabil Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Hammad, Hana University of Jordan, Jordan Hammed, Abdul University of Karachi, Pakistan Harb, Amal Yarmouk University, Jordan Hassuneh, Mona University of Jordan, Jordan Hatmal, Mamoon The Hashemite University, Jordan Hijjawi, Nawal The Hashemite University, Jordan Horani, Hala University of Jordan, Jordan Hudaib, Mohammad University of Jordan, Jordan Hunaiti, Abdulraheem University of Jordan, Jordan Huq, Fazlul University of Sydney, Australia Hussain, Munther King College Hospital, UK Ileke, Kayode Adekunle Ajasin University, Nigeria

Ismael, Amany Alexandria University, Egypt Ismail, Naim The Hashemite University, Jordan Jaccob, Jaccob Al-alBayt University, Jordan Jalal, Farid Mangrove Society at Asia, Sri Lanka Julkapli, Nurhidayatullaili University of Malaya, Malaysia Kachani, Malika Western University of Health Sciences, USA Kalil, Mohd Malaysia Kana'an, Hashem Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Kapic, Dina University of Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina Karagenc, Tulin Adnan Menderes University, Turkey Karajeh, Muwaffaq Mutah University Katbeh, Ahmad University of Jordan, Jordan Kaviraj, Anilava Assam University, India Kaya, Yalcin Trakya University, Turkey Khabour, Omar Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Khalaf. Maroof University of Jordan- Aqaba, Jordan Khalil. Ahmad Yarmouk University, Jordan Khalil, Raida University of Philadelphia, Jordan Khan, Abdul University of Western Sydney, Australia Khan, Ahmad Umaru Musa Yar'adua University, Nigeria Khan, Abdul University of Western Sydney, Australia Khan, Mohammad India Khoury, Fares American University at Madaba, Jordan Kridli, Rami Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Kubisz, Leszek Poznan University, Poland Kulshreshtha, Shweta Amity University Rajasthan, India Kumsa, Bersissa Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia KV, Sucharitha Sri Venkateswara University, India Lans, Chery The Netherlands Latif, Abdalla University of Pretoria, South Africa Mahasneh, Adel University of Jordan, Jordan Majathova, Viktoria Parasitological Institute, Slovakia Makhlouf, Rehab National Research Center, Egypt Malkawi, Emad Yarmouk University, Jordan Mansi, Iman The Hashemite University, Jordan

Masadeh, Muhannad The Hashemite University, Jordan Maslat, Ahmad Yarmouk University, Jordan Matar, Ghassan American University of Beirut, Lebanon Mattar, Suzan University of Jordan, Jordan Mihalca, Andrei University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Romania Mishra, Sanjay IFTM University, India Mitra, Abhijit University of Calcutta, India Mohammed, Faisal University of Jordan, Jordan Mosleh, Ibrahim University of Jordan, Jordan Muhaidat, Riyadh Yarmouk University, Jordan Mukhopadhaya, Arunika Indian Institute of Science Education and Research MOHALI, India Musarrat. Javed Aligarh Muslim University, Jordan Nasher, Abdullah Sana' University, Yemen Neubert. Eike Naturhistorisches Museum, Switzerland Nusier, Mohammad Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Ogunmwonyi, Isoken University of Pretoria, South Africa Okyay, Tugba University of Houston, USA Oluwatosin, Ojo-Bola Ekiti State University, Nigeria Omari, Mohammad Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Onoja, Samuel Micheal Okpara University of Agriculture, Nigeria Orhue, Phillips University Federal de Vicosa, Brazil Oriakhi, Kelly University of Benin, Nigeria Othman, Radziah Binti University Putra Malaysia, Malaysia Owen, Ede-omo University of Ghana, Ghana Penalver, David Spain Pincebourde, Sylvain University Francois Rabelais, France Pineda, Lane Pampanga State Agricultural University, Philippines Poddar, Sandeep Lincoln University College, Malaysia Potempa, Jan The Jagiellonian University, Poland Qadan, Tasmeem The Hashemite University, Jordan Qasem, Jamal University of Jordan, Jordan Qumsiyeh, Mazen Betlaham University, Palestine Ramaoorthy, Sivalingam Bharathiar University, India Rawashdeh, Ibrahim Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, Jordan Ray, Narayan West Bangal, India

Rhaman, Heshu University Putra Malaysia, Malaysia Saadabi, Abdulmoniem Shaqra University, KSA Saadoun, Ismail University of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates Sadiq, May Yarmouk University, Jordan Salameh, Naser Mutah University, Jordan Sallah, Liza Malaysia Samara, Fuad Jordan Sanchez, Oscar University Nacional de Colombia, Colombia Sardar, Abdullah University of Salahaddin, Iraq Sasi, Huseyin Mugla University, Turkey Sawicka, Barbara University of Life Sciences in Lublin, Poland Shaban, Mohammed The Hashemite University, Jordan Shaikh, Mohsin Government Medical Colloge, India Shamaan, Nor University of Sain Islam, Malaysia Sharif, Labib Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Sharma, Shyam King George Medical University, India Shatnawi, Mohamad Al-Balqa Applied University, Jordan Shaw, Alisa Colorado State University, USA Sheidai, Masoud Shahid Beheshti University, Iran Shriadeh, Ziad University of Jordan, Jordan Silva, Ubiana Universidade Federal de Viçosa, Brazil Sohrabipour, Jelveh Agriculture and Natural Resources Researches Center of Hormozgan Province, Iran Srivastava, Chand Dayalbagh Educational Institute, India Stojilikovic, Vesna University of Belgrade, Serbia Stylios, Chrysostomos Technological Education Institute, Greece Sudam Sahu India Institute of Science, Forest ecology, plant taxonomy and climate change, India

Swedan, Samer Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Tabaa, Mohammad University of Jordan, Jordan Taha, Hussein National Research Center, Egypt Taha, Nawroz University of Sulaimaniah, Iraq Tahhan, Ragheb Jordan University for Science and Technology, Jordan Tahtamouni, Lubna The Hashemite University, Jordan Takruri, Hamad University of Jordan, Jordan Tamimi, Sameh University of Jordan, Jordan Tayyem, Reema The Hashemite University, Jordan Tibiri, André IRSS/CNRST, Burkina Faso Titi, Hosam University of Jordan, Jordan Trivedi, Subrata Tabuk University, KSA Tukan, Salma University of Jordan, Jordan Useh, Nicodemus US Senior Fullbright Research Award, USA Wael Al-Zereini Mutah University, Jordan Waitzbauer, Wolfgang University of Vienna, Austria Wasfi. Olla University Of Alexandria, Egypt Wiemers, Martin Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research, Germany Yassin, Mohamed Kuwait Institute for Scientific Research, Kuwait Yilmaz, Serkan Gazi University, Turkey Yousef, Inshad German-Jordanian University, Jordan Yousef, Omran Agricultural Scientific Research Center, Syria Yusoff, Wan University Kebangsaam Malaysia, Malaysia Sufia Zaman University of Calcutta, India Zereini, Wael Mutah University, Jordan

### Appendix B Contents of Volume 8- 2015

Number 1

Influencing the Contents of Secondary Metabolites in Spice and Medicinal Plants by Deliberately Applying Drought Stress during their Cultivation Ahmad Al-Gabbiesh, Maik Kleinwächter and Dirk Selmar	1 - 10
The Association between Anti-Oxidant/Redox Status and Sister Chromatid Exchanges in Down Syndrome Individuals May F. Sadiq, Abdelrahim A. Hunaiti, Almuthanna K. Alkaraki and Ruba A. Alfassed	11 - 15
Immunodominant Semen Proteins III: $IgG_1$ and $IgG_4$ Linkage in Female Immune Infertility Andrea Brazdova, Helene Senechal, Gabriel Peltre, Jarmila Zidkova, Zdenka Ulcova-Gallova, Srinivas Kaveri and Pascal Poncet	17 - 21
Application of Fermentation Technology to Use Slaughterhouse Blood as Potential Protein Supplement in Fish Feed <i>Ayan Samaddar and Anilava Kaviraj</i>	23 - 30
Mangrove Health Card: A Case Study on Indian Sundarbans Abhijit Mitra, Prosenjit Pramanick, Shankhadeep Chakraborty, Pardis Fazli and Sufia Zaman	31 - 36
A specific Haplotype Framework Surrounds the Omani Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR) mutation S549R Uwe W Fass, Majid Al Salmani, Ganji Shivalingam, Kallesh Hebba, Catherine Norrish, Fiona Clark, Thomas A Heming and Saleh Al Khusaibi	37 - 43
An Evaluation of the Nutrients and Some Anti-nutrients in Silkworm, Bombyxmori L. (Bombycidae: Lepidoptera) <i>Olumuyiwa T. Omotoso</i>	45 - 50
The Effect of Simulated Acid Rain on Plant Growth Component of Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) L. Walps Bridget O. Odiyi and Adekunle O. Eniola	51 - 54
The Influence of Iron Oxide Nanoparticles on the Red Blood Cells Photohemolysis Sensitized with Photofrin: Temperature Effect <i>Mohammad-Ali H. Al-Akhras and Duaa J. Al-Khalili</i>	55 - 59
Evaluating the Genetic Relatedness within Lupinus pilosus L. Species Based on RAPD Analysis Ibrahim M. AlRawashdeh and Nasab Q. AlRawashdeh	61-64
A Comparison between the Anti-microbial Activity of Native Propolis and the Anti-microbial Activity of Imported Ones against Different Health Microbes Amal A. Al-Abbadi, Ihab H. Ghabeish, Mazen A. Ateyyat, Azmi D. Hawari and Salah-Eddin A. Araj	65 - 70
Presumptive Secondary Ethylene Glycol (Antifreeze) Toxicity in a Turkey Vulture (A Case Report) <i>Wael M. Hananeh and Rudy Bauer</i>	71 - 72

### Number 2

A New Challenge in the Academic World: Earning Real Money and Eminence by Paper Publishing	73 - 75
Mehdi Dadkhah,Nelson Elias , Mohammad Davarpanah Jazi, Valentina Christova-Bagdassarian and Khaled H. Abu-Elteen	10 10
The Effect of Citronella Essential Oil on Controlling the Mango Red-Banded Caterpillar, Noorda albizonalis Hampson (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) <i>Mizu Istianto and Albertus Soemargono</i>	77 - 80
Probiotic Properties of Lactobacillus Species Isolated from Local Traditional Fermented Products Adel M. Mahasneh, Sarah Hamdan and Sari A. Mahasneh	81 - 87
The Inhibitory Effects of Human, Camel and Cow's Milk against Some Pathogenic Fungi in Iraq	
Batool I. Dheeb ,Nada H. Al-Mudallal, Zainab A. Salman, Muhammed Ali, Mohammed A. Nouri, Hiba T. Hussain and Shamam S. Abdulredha	89 - 93
Oviposition Deterrent and Egg Hatchability Suppression of Secamone afzelii (Schult) K. Schum Leaf Extract on Callosobruchus maculatus (Fabricius) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Jacobs M. Adesina and Thomas I. Ofuya	95 - 100
The Effect of Dry Extract of Derris elliptica Stem on some Enzymatic Changes in the Plasma of African Catfish Clarias gariepinus (Burchell, 1822) Ochuko E. Jessa, Robert B. Ikomi and Samuel O. Asagba	101 - 105
The Impact of Cassava Effluent on the Microbial and Physicochemical Characteristics on Soil Dynamics and Structure <i>Etinosa O. Igbinosa and Ozede N. Igiehon</i>	107 - 112
Genetic Diversity and Variability in Landraces for Key Agro-economic traits in Vegetable Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa var. sabdariffa L.) Thirupathi R. Medagam, Hameedunnisa Begum, Nallamothu H. Rao1, Sunil Neelam, Someswara R. Pandravada and Sivaraj Natarajan	113 - 125
Antimicrobial Activity of Secondary Metabolites from a Soil Bacillus sp. 7B1 Isolated from South Al-Karak, Jordan Hashem Al-Saraireh, Wael A. Al-Zereini and Khaled A. Tarawneh	127 - 132
Tramadol-Induced Liver and Kidney Toxicity among Abusers in Gaza Strip, Palestine Abdelraouf A. Elmanama, Noor E. S. Abu Tayyem, Hend N. Essawaf and Ikram M. Hmaid	133 - 137
The Chemical Composition and the Antibacterial Properties of Ruta graveolens L. Essential Oil Grown in Northern Jordan Jehad M.Al-Shuneigat, Ibrahim N.Al-Tarawneh, Mahmoud A.Al-Qudah, Sameeh A.Al-Sarayreh, Yousef M. Al-Saraireh and Khalid Y. Alsharafa	139 - 143
Comparative Studies on the Phytochemical Composition, Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Activities of Methanol Leaf Extracts of Spondias mombin and Polyathia longifolia <i>Ehimwenma S.Omoregie and Ehigbai I. Oikeh</i>	145 - 149
Phytosociological Analysis and Species Diversity of Herbaceous Layer in Rashad and Alabassia Localities, South Kordofan State, Sudan Ismail M. Ismail and Alawia A. ELawad	151 - 157
Anti-Urolithiatic and Anti-Oxidant Effects of Fenugreek on Ethylene Glycol-Induced Kidney Calculi in Rats	159 - 163

Mudhir S. Shekha , Trifa F. Ismail and Falah M. Aziz

### Number 3

Malignant Ovine Theileriosis ( <i>Theileria lestoquardi</i> ): A Review Ahmed H. El Imam and Khalid M. Taha	165 - 174
Inheritance Pattern of Metric Characters Affecting Grain Yield in Two Bread Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) Crosses Under Rainfed Conditions Zine El Abidine Fellahi ,Abderrahmane Hannachi, Hamenna Bouzerzour and Abdelkader Benbelkacem	
Susceptibility Tests on Insecticides Used to Control Mosquitoes in Jordan Khalil A. Kanani, Ahmad Katbeh-Bader, Mohammed Al-Abdallat and Bassam Shadfan	183 - 186
Ameliorative Effect of Different Concentrations of Mushroom ( <i>Pleurotus tuberregium</i> ) on Lipid Profile of Wistar Albino Rats Induced by Lead Nitrate Ben J. Enagbonma, Tawari-Fufenyi Prekeyi, Ekaye Sese-Owei and Osemwengie Omorefosa	
Recent Collection of Sandflies of the Genus <i>Phlebotomus</i> (Diptera: Psychodidae) from Jordan, with a Checklist of Previous Records	193 - 197
Khalil A. Kanani, Zuhair S. Amr , Bassam Shadfan and Mohmmed Al-Abdallat	
Partial Purification and Characterization of 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic Acid Degrading Bacteria Harboring Alpha Ketoglutarate Dioxgenase Enzyme <i>Etinosa O. Igbinosa</i>	199 - 204
Choking Among Infants and Young Children Emad M. Abdullat, Hasan A. Ader-Rahman, Rayyan Al Ali and Arwa A. Hudaib	205 - 209
Declustion of Cityic Asid by Agneneillug winey Using Sugarage Malages of Substants	
Production of Citric Acid by <i>Aspergillus niger</i> Using Sugarcane Molasses as Substrate Shami E. A. Bakhiet and Ehood A. I. Al-Mokhtar	211 - 215
Molds Associated with Olive Fruits Infested with Olive Fruit Fly (Bactrocera oleae) and Effects on Oil Quality	217 - 220
Nofal S. Al-Ameiri, Muwaffaq R. Karajeh and Samer Y. Qaraleh	
Comparative Genotoxicity of Herbicide Ingredients Glyphosate and Atrazine on Root Meristem of Buckwheat ( <i>Fagopyrum esculentum</i> Moench) <i>Girjesh.Kumar and Akanksha Srivastava</i>	221 - 226
Cigarette Smoking Risks on Blood Indices and Liver Enzymes of Male and Female Smokers	
Payam O Husen, Rezman A Ahmed, Kowan M Ahmed, Ibrahim D Abdulla, Hemn M Ayub and Sarkawt H Hamad	227 - 230
Decadal Variation of Nutrient Level in Two Major Estuaries in Indian Sundarbans	
Abhijit Mitra, Subrata Trivedi , Sufia Zaman, Prosenjit Pramanick, Shankhadeep Chakraborty,	231 - 236
Nabonita Pal, Pardis Fazli and Kakoli Banerjee	
Ethyl Methane Sulphonate Induced Desynaptic Mutants in Ajwain ( <i>Trachyspermum ammi</i> (L.) Sprague)	237 - 241
Girjesh Kumar and Harshita Dwivedi	11
Freshwater Snails of Tabuk Region, Northern Saudi Arabia	
Abdulhadi A. Aloufi and Mohammed Z. Amr	243 - 246

### Number 4

Cryopreservation and Genetic Stability Assessment of Threatened Medicinal Plant (Ziziphora tenuior L.) Grown Wild in Jordan Hasan Al- Baba, Rida A. Shibli , Muhanad Akash, Tamara S. Al-Qudah, Reham W. Tahtamouni and Hamdan Al- Ruwaiei	247 - 256
Production and Characterization of a Recombinant Camel Full Heavy Chain Antibody against Human IgE Sana' H. Yousef, Abdelrahman M. Rawashdeh, Raida W. Khalil2, Sami K. Abdel-Hafez1,3and Khaled M. Al-Qaoud	257 - 262
EntomoToxicity of Xylopia aethiopica and Aframomum melegueta in Suppressing Oviposition and Adult Emergence of Callasobruchus maculatus (Fabricus) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Infesting Stored Cowpea Seeds Jacobs M. Adesina, Adeolu R. Jose, Yallapa Rajashaker and Lawrence A. Afolabi	263 - 268
A New Record of Two Species of Hydra in Iraq: An Ecological and A Histological Study Luay A. Ali, Yahya A. Shekha, Sherwan T. Ahmad and Falah M. Aziz	269 - 272
A Comparative Study of <i>in vitro</i> Antioxidant Activity and Phytochemical Constituents of Methanol Extract of <i>Aframomum melegueta</i> and <i>Costus afer</i> Leaves	273 - 279
Tinu Okugbo and Kelly Oriakhi	
Effect of Faba Bean (Vicia faba L.) Varieties on Yield Attributes at Sinana and Agarfa Districts of Bale Zone, Southeastern Ethiopia	281 - 286
Ashenafi Mitiku and Mekuria Wolde	
The Phytochemical and Antimicrobial Properties of the Extracts Obtained from Trametes elegans Collected from Osengere in Ibadan, Nigeria	289 - 299
Samuel I. Awala and Victor O. Oyetayo	
The Potential Allelopathic Effects of Varthemia iphionoides and the Identification of Phenolic Allelochemicals	301 - 306
Saeid M. Abu-Romman , Moawiya A. Haddad and Khaldoun J. Al-Hadid	
Identifying Selection Signatures Related to Domestication Process in Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) Landraces of Jordan Using Microsatellite Markers	307 - 313
Nidal A. Odat, Maen K. Hasan, Maher S. Obeidat, Mohamad A. Shatnawi1, Saeid M. Abu-Romman, Issam M. Qrunfleh, and Muhannad I. Massadeh	
Phlomis brachydon Essential Oil Against Bacterial Biofilm	315 - 318
Sameeh Al- Sarayreh , Arwa Rawashdeh, Ibrahim Al-Tarawneh, and Mahmoud Al-Qudah	
A Statistical Design Approach for Xylanase Production by Aspergillus niger Using Soybean Hulls: Optimization and Determining the Synergistic Effects of Medium Components on the Enzyme Production	319 - 323
Aliyu Salihu, Shuaibu M. Bala and Abbas Olagunju	
A Note on the Karyotype of the Amphibian Pelophylax bedriagae from Jordan Enas S. Al Satari, Nisreen A. Al Quraan, Rami Q. Alkhatib and Zuhair S. Amr	325 - 326

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences An International Peer – Reviewed Research Journal Published by the deanship of Research & Graduate Studies, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan				
Name:			الاسم:	
التخصص:				
Address:			العنوان:	
P.O. Box:			صندوق البريد:	
المدينة: الرمز البريدي:				
الدولة:				
رقم الهاتف				
رقم الفاكس:				
E-mail:			البريد الإلكتروني:	
طريقة الدفع:				
المبلغ المرفق:				
التوقيع:				
Cheques should be paid to Deanship of Research and Graduate St	udies – The	Hashemite	University.	
I would like to subscribe to the Journal	One Year Subscription Rates			
For	Individuals	Inside Jordan JD10	Outside Jordan	
□ One year	Students	JD10 JD5	\$70 \$35	
<ul> <li>Two years</li> <li>Three years</li> </ul>	Institutions	JD 3 JD 20	\$33 \$90	
	montations	30 20	<i>\$</i> 70	
Correspondence				
Subscriptions and sales: Prof. Ali Z. Elkarmi The Hashemite University P.O. Box 330127-Zarqa 13115 – Jorda Telephone: 00 962 5 3903333 ext. 515 Fax no. : 0096253903349 E. mail: jjbs@hu.edu.jo				



Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan



المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الدياتية

. مجلة علمية فيمالا فيملا فلعم

تصدر بدعم من صندوق دعم البحث العلمي

ISSN 1995-6673

# المجلة الاردنية للعلوم الحياتية مجلة علمية عالمية محكمة

المجلة الاردنية للعلوم الحياتية : مجلة علمية عالمية محكمة و مفهرسة و مصنفة، تصدر عن الجامعة الهاشمية و بدعم من صندوق البحث العلمي - وزارة التعليم العالي والبحث العلمي .

# هيئة التحرير

<u>رئيس التحرير :</u> الاستاذ الدكتور علي ز هير الكرمي الجامعة الهاشمية ، الزرقاء ، الأردن **مساعد رئيس التحرير :** الدكتورة لبنى حميد تهتموني الجامعة الهاشمية الأستاذ الدكتور جميل نمر اللحام

الإستاد الدكتور جميل نمر اللحام جامعة اليرموك الأستاذ الدكتور حكم فائق الحديدي جامعة العلوم و التكنولوجيا الأردنية الأستاذ الدكتور خالد أحمد الطروانة جامعة مؤتة الأستاذ الدكتور شتيوي صالح عبد الله جامعة الطفيلة التقنية

# فريق الدعم :

المحرر اللغوي الدين معند عقده ميند عقده الدكتور قصي الذبيان م. مهند عقده ترسل البحوث الى العنوان التالي : رئيس تحرير المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية الجامعة الهاشمية الردن فرعي 1557 مين عقده ماتف : 5157 مين معنو مي 5157 فرعي 5157

Email: jjbs@hu.edu.jo, Website: www.jjbs.hu.edu.jo

الأستاذ الدكتور عبد الكريم جبر السلال جامعة العلوم و التكنولوجيا الأرينية الأستاذ الدكتور نبيل احمد البشير جامعة العلوم و التكنولوجيا الأرينية الأستاذ الدكتورة هالة الخيمي-الحوارني

الجامعة الاردنية